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Quality
Service

ReliabilityTop quality products and services from the wide  
product range to serve different customer needs

Extensive, global customer service network  
for all customer needs

Premium quality of glass processed with our technology
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Glaston is an international glass technology company and a pioneer in its industry. The cornerstones of 
Glaston’s business are reliability, quality and service. With its quality products and services, Glaston aims to 
be its customers’ most valued partner. The company has a comprehensive customer service network covering 
more than 20 service locations in different parts of the world. Glaston has production in four countries on three 
continents. The Group employed a total of 1,200 professionals at the end of 2009. 

Sustainable development with comprehen-
sive product and service range
Glaston’s solutions support customer com-
panies’ operations through the entire life 
cycle of products. the company develops 
technological applications that benefit both 
customers and the environment. Glaston’s 
business is divided into three reportable 
segments: Machines, services and software 
solutions. 

the Machines segment includes temper-
ing, bending and laminating machines sold 
under the tamglass and Uniglass brands, 
glass pre-processing machines sold under 
the Bavelloni brand, and tool manufacturing. 
the segment’s most significant customer 
groups are the construction, solar energy 
glass, automotive, as well as furnishing and 
appliance industries. Glaston’s technology 

supports energy-efficient glass process-
ing solutions. the Machines segment’s net 
sales in 2009 totalled EUR 82.2 million. 

the services segment comprises main-
tenance services of glass processing 
machines, sale of tools and spare parts, as 
well as the operation of the glass process-
ing factory in akaa, Finland, as a service 
activity on behalf of a customer. Mainte-
nance services also cover other manufac-
turers’ machines in addition to Glaston’s 
machines and equipment. the most exten-
sive service network in the business and 
support for the entire life cycle of its prod-
ucts are Glaston’s most important com-
petitive assets. the services segment’s net 
sales in 2009 totalled EUR 48.1 million.

the software solutions segment sup-
plies software as well as enterprise 

resource planning and reporting systems 
to the glass industry. the segment’s prod-
uct offering covers software and integrated 
solutions for the glass industry sold under 
the albat+Wirsam brand, and software for 
the needs of window and door glass manu-
facturers sold under the Cantor brand. the 
software solutions segment’s net sales in 
2009 totalled EUR 23.9 million.

Glaston’s head office is located in tam-
pere, Finland. Glaston’s share (Gla1V) is 
listed on the nasDaQ oMX Helsinki Mid 
Cap list.

GLASTON 
ORGANISATION 
AS OF 1 JANUARY 
2010

ARTO METSÄNEN – CEO

GROUP FUNCTIONS
Finance, HR, Communications, Legal, IT

MACHINES
Topi Saarenhovi

SERVICES
Juha Liettyä

SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS
Günter Befort

EMEA & MARKETING
Henrik Reims

SOUTH AMERICA
Moreno Magon

NORTH AMERICA
Jack van Meerbeeck

ASIA
Frank Zhang

Glaston in Brief
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Glass processing machine demand was at an exceptionally low level throughout the year and net sales fell 
sharply. The emphasis of machine sales was on sales of single machines. Demand for more extensive deliver-
ies and solar energy investments was weak and projects were postponed to a later date. The number of service 
contracts grew despite the market situation and the Services segment performed reasonably well. The market 
situation for the Software Solutions segment continued to be stable in Central Europe, but elsewhere markets 
weakened. 

Efficiency measures launched in 2008 con-
tinued in Glaston throughout the year. In 
the final quarter of 2009, the company initi-
ated an extensive adjustment programme, 
and personnel negotiations were completed 
by the end of December. as a result of the 
negotiations, Glaston will adjust its produc-
tion capacity, optimise its product range and 
streamline the structure of its sales organi-
sation. the agreed measures will lead at 
most to a reduction of around 400 employees. 

the architectural glass segment and the 
development of service business continue 

to create a foundation for the Group’s future 
growth. Demand for solar energy projects, 
moreover, is expected to develop positively.

GROUP KEY FIGURES 

orders received EUR 141.9 (230.5) million. • 
order book on 31 December 2009 was • 
EUR 45.5 (62.5) million. 
Group net sales totalled EUR 151.8 (270.4) • 
million. 
the operating result excl. non-recurring • 
items was a loss of EUR 33.6 (6.2 profit) 
million, i.e. -22.2 (+2.3)% of net sales. 

the operating result was a loss of EUR • 
55.3 (6.1 loss) million.
Return on capital employed (RoCE) was • 
-32.1 (-2.3)%.
Earnings per share were EUR -0.68 • 
(-0.12).
net gearing was 91.9 (46.8)%.• 
the Board of Directors proposes to the • 
annual General Meeting that no dividend 
be distributed. 
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construction industry and the recovery of in-
vestments in the solar energy segment will 
support our business operations, as our 
glass processing machines are capable of 
manufacturing high quality energy-saving 
glass. 

our agenda for 2010 includes, in particu-
lar, the enhancement and acceleration of 
our product development as well as the de-
velopment of our distribution, service and 
sales channels. We will strive to ensure that 
we have decision-making capability close 
to the customer, which will serve both our 
product development and the development 
of our customer service.

I would like to thank our customers, 
shareholders and partners for their trust 
and our employees for their contribution to 
developing Glaston in 2009.

2009 was very challenging for Glaston due to the economic recession. We implemented efficiency measures 
during the year and changed our structure in a more customer-oriented direction.

President & CEO’s Review

Challenging market situation
2009 was very challenging for Glaston and 
we had to implement strong measures to 
adjust to the market situation. Price com-
petition in the industry was intense and our 
competitors also suffered from the eco-
nomic situation. 

the recession has, on the other hand, 
taught us to understand which issues are 
important for us as a company and for our 
customers. surviving the difficult economic 
situation will give Glaston new resources 
to pursue matters that are important to us, 
such as product development and the fur-
ther development of personnel.

Our objectives for 2009
our objectives for 2009 were to develop Chi-
nese operations as well as the manage-
ment of sourcing and working capital. China 
is our strongest growing market area. Dur-
ing the year we developed our Chinese ope-
rations and continued utilising our factory in 
product development and sales to the asian 
market. 

During the year, we continued our prod-
uct development cooperation with our cus-
tomers and glass manufacturers. Despite 
the market situation, the Glass Processing 
Days event attracted hundreds of glass in-
dustry decision-makers, experts and archi-

tects to tampere. the main themes of the 
world’s largest glass industry event were 
solar energy and glass architecture.

During 2009 we continued the implemen-
tation of efficiency measures initiated at the 
end of 2008. We restructured our organisa-
tion by combining the Pre-processing and 
Heat treatment business areas into the  
Machines segment and by forming a sepa-
rate services segment for maintenance 
services. our new matrix organisation in-
creases cooperation between business and 
market areas and facilitates the develop-
ment of our customer service. the most im-
portant structural changes have now been 
made and in future we will focus on develop- 
ing customer segments and distribution 
channels, as well as on product development.

Outlook for 2010
2010 will also be a challenging year and no 
significant improvement in the market situ-
ation is expected, at least in the first half 
of the year. the competitive situation in our 
industry will continue to be severe, but our 
wider product range, strong position in China 
and distribution channels will continue to be 
our competitive assets. our Chinese factory 
and global sourcing will promote the im-
provement of our profitability. 

the shift to energy-saving glass in the 

Arto Metsänen  
President & CEo
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Glaston promotes the development of a pleasant, safe and energy-efficient residential and working environment 
by utilising highly developed and innovative glass processing technology. By sharing its expertise and developing 
new, innovative and energy-saving glass solutions, Glaston is committed to building a sustainable future.

Business Strategy

Glaston’s strategy and financial objectives 
were announced in 2008. the key elements 
of the strategy are:

the architectural glass segment, sup-• 
ported by the solar energy market, creates 
a foundation for the company’s future 
growth. Glaston’s objective is to act as an 
integrator of the architectural glass  
industry value chain. 
In the appliance and automotive glass • 
segments, Glaston focuses on improving 
profitability and cash flow. 
the one-stop-Partner concept distin-• 
guishes Glaston from its competitors.
Glaston’s goal is to build a strong market • 
position in China and elsewhere in asia.
Further development of the service busi-• 
ness is a cornerstone of the company’s 
growth and market leadership. 
Glaston will make carefully considered • 
acquisitions to strengthen its offering. 

Architectural glass segment  
as engine of growth
Glaston’s objective is to act as an integrator 
of the architectural glass industry’s value 
chain. In this customer segment Glaston is 
able to utilize its solid expertise and strong 
market position. architectural glass is the 
largest segment of the glass market with a 
share of around 70% of glass consumption 
and its growth expectations are consider-
able. Growth of the architectural glass seg-
ment is supported by office construction 
and housing construction as well as by new 
trends in construction such as large glass 
surfaces, renovation and energy efficiency. 
tightening safety and energy consumption 

regulations increase demand for Glaston’s 
machines. Glaston estimates that, at the 
moment, only around 30% of glass currently 
used in construction is safety glass. 

the growing solar energy market also 
supports the architectural glass segment. 
Glaston expects the solar energy market 
to offer significant growth potential for the 
company over the next few years. Glaston’s 
objective is to achieve a strong market posi-
tion in this customer segment with the com-
pany’s technologically high-level products 
and comprehensive service concept.

the appliance and automotive industry 
glass segments are significantly smaller than 
the architectural glass segment. the auto-
motive industry accounts for around 10% 
of the total glass market and the appliance 
industry for around 20%. Growth expectations 
for these segments are very moderate. In 
the appliance and automotive industry’s cus-
tomer groups, Glaston focuses on improving 
profitability and cash flow.

Competitive advantage from  
comprehensive deliveries
With its comprehensive product and soft-
ware range, extensive service network and 
technological expertise, Glaston is able to 
offer all of its customers comprehensive 
solutions, which distinguishes Glaston from 
other operators in the sector. Glaston’s 
comprehensive offering is directed primarily 
at customers operating in the architectural 
and solar energy glass segments. 

the goal of comprehensive deliveries is to 
ensure that the customer receives the most 
suitable and best possible products and  

services from one place and from one sup-
plier. By offering comprehensive solutions, 
Glaston helps customers enhance their oper-
ations and improve their competitiveness.

the economic recession strongly weak-
ened demand for comprehensive solutions 
in 2009. the market for comprehensive 
solutions still exists, however, and Glaston’s 
position in this customer segment is strong. 
the normalization of the market situation 
and customers’ growing efficiency require-
ments are expected to boost demand for 
comprehensive deliveries. 

Strong market position in China 
China is the fastest growing market area and 
its glass demand accounts for around 40% of 
the worldwide demand in the whole sector.

the Chinese market continued to grow 
in 2009. Reliability, expert customer service, 
high quality and well known brands are Glas-
ton’s competitive assets in China. Glaston 
has purposefully continued measures to 
strengthen its position in China, for exam-
ple, by expanding its localised product 
range and local sourcing. the strategic sig-
nificance of the tianjin factory will grow in 
the future when the factory’s production is 
strongly developed. the production of tem-
pering machines was transferred from Usa 
to Finland and China in 2009. 

Further development of service business a 
cornerstone of growth
Glaston’s key message is crystallised in three 
words: reliability, quality and service. Glaston 
invests in first-class customer service at every 
stage of the customer relationship. Glaston’s 
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BUsInEss stRatEGY

comprehensive service network and strong 
maintenance expertise are among the com-
pany’s most important competitive assets. 

the increasing requirements related to 
continuity, efficiency and quality of produc-
tion boost demand for the service business. 
In 2009 Glaston’s maintenance and service 
business was separated from machine opera-
tions into its own services segment. there 
was greater emphasis on machine moder-
nisations as glass processors focused on 
machine upgrades instead of new invest-
ments. Modernisations were related to tech-
nology upgrades, energy saving and auto-
mation systems.

In the next few years, Glaston will focus 
on profitable growth of its service business, 
on further increasing customer satisfac-
tion, developing new products and concepts 
as well as on maintaining quality and level 
of service of the maintenance operations by 
developing the service concept.

Carefully considered acquisitions to 
strengthen offering
In addition to organic growth, Glaston will 
make, if necessary, carefully considered 
acquisitions to strengthen or supplement 
either its technological expertise, product 
offering or geographical market position. a 
precondition of acquisitions is that they are 
in line with the strategy, increase company 
value, offer clear and substantial synergies 
and support the company’s financial objec-
tives. the management of the company 
being acquired also needs to be able to 
manage business operations as part of an 
international group.
 

Glaston’s financial objectives
In connection with an updated strategy at 
the beginning of 2008, Glaston announced 
the following financial objectives:

growth in net sales of over 8% • 
increasing the operating profit percentage • 
(EBIt%) to at least 10%
return on capital employed (RoCE) of at • 
least 20%.

Due to weakened market conditions and 
uncertainty in the operating environment, 
Glaston announced in october 2008 that it 
expects to be able to achieve the financial 
objectives in 2012 instead of 2010.

GLASTON’S WAY
OF OPERATING

Machines

Regions

Customers

Services

Software Solutions

Support Functions

Cooperation between business and  
market areas facilitates customer  
service development.
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In 2009 Glaston’s operating environment was dominated by a market decline caused by the economic recessi-
on, which led to tightened competition, particularly price competition. Despite this, factors affecting long-term 
demand for Glaston’s glass processing machines remained unchanged.

Operating Environment

Operating environment in 2009
In 2009 the economic recession strongly 
influenced demand for glass and thereby 
for glass processing machines. In a diffi-
cult economic situation, glass processors 
reduced their new machine investments, 
and the financing situation also delayed 
sales of machine upgrades. a decline in 
the volume of new machine investments, 
together with the number of competitors 
remaining unchanged, led to tightened 
competition and intense price competition. 
Investments in the solar energy segment 
were at a standstill in 2009 due to a deterio-
ration in the availability of financing.

Glaston succeeded in maintaining its 

market position despite a significant decline 
in the size of the markets. Machines pro-
duced in asia entered the markets in 2009, 
which was increasingly reflected in the 
tightening of the competitive situation. 

Factors affecting demand
Demand for glass is driven by wider use of 
glass, particularly in public construction and 
architecture. Wider use of glass in both new 
and renovation construction has a positive 
impact on demand for Glaston’s machines. 
Demand for technologically demanding 
glass applications is growing, and architec-
tural glasses are required to be ever larger 
in size, more bendable and of good quality.

Heightened environmental awareness is 
increasing energy-saving targets. Using the 
right type of glass can significantly reduce 
energy consumption, which influences 
demand for energy glass. safety regulations 
related to construction are also boosting the 
use of energy and laminated glass. In addi-
tion to construction, demand for safety glass 
is strong in the automotive industry as well 
as in the  appliance industry.

through general economic growth, use of 
energy glass is also increasing in emerging 
markets as end-customers have the oppor-
tunity to use more highly processed glass 
and more expensive glass applications and 
to exploit their energy-saving potential. Even 
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oPERatInG EnVIRonMEnt

though use of glass in not yet as common 
in emerging markets as in developed mar-
kets, generally the trend is the same every-
where: glass size and coating requirements 
are increasing and the demand for more 
demanding glass applications is growing. 

In glass demand the significance of alter-
native forms of energy is clearly growing 
and this trend is expected to strengthen in 
the future. Wider use of alternative forms of 
energy is being supported by growing envi-
ronmental awareness, the effort to reduce 
dependence on non-renewable energy 
sources, and by cost factors. Demand for 
alternative forms of energy is also being 
increased by various restrictions on emis-
sions. For example, according to the EU 
Energy and Climate Package, the proportion 
of renewable energy in the EU’s energy con-
sumption must be raised to 20% by 2020. 
Demand for glass processing machines 
serving the solar energy segment is also 
expected to offer significant growth poten-
tial for Glaston in the future.

the size of the worldwide raw glass mar-
ket was an estimated 48 million tonnes in 
2009. In the long term, annual demand for 
processed glass is estimated to grow by 
4% on average. Europe, China and north 
america together represent around 70% of 
total market demand. 

Cycles and economic conditions
Cyclical fluctuations of the economy affect 
demand for the glass processing machines, 
services and software offered by Glaston. 
In cycles of economic growth, glass proc-
essors invest more, and demand for glass 
processing machines increases. In an eco-
nomic downturn or recession, the volume 
of investments falls, but correspondingly 
demand for machine upgrades and mainte-
nance services increases. Glaston’s service 
business is not as sensitive to cyclical fluc-
tuations as new machine sales and for this 
reason it partly offsets seasonal and cyclical 
fluctuations in machines sales.

Glaston’s three geographical market 
areas, namely the EMEa area, asia and 
america also contribute to even out cycli-
cal fluctuations, even though the worldwide 
financial crisis and recession were evident 
in all market areas in 2009. Moreover, Glas-

ton has a number of different customer 
groups, which means that the economic 
cycles of their end-customers, such as the 
construction, automotive and appliance 
industries, even each other out to some 
extent. For example, demand for glass of 
end-customers in the construction industry 
is balanced by renovation construction.

 
Competitive situation and  
Glaston’s competitive assets
Brands have great significance in a competi-
tive situation: Glaston’s key brands, tam-
glass, Uniglass, Bavelloni and albat+Wirsam, 
are known in the glass processing industry 
all over the world. the importance of strong 
and reliable brands is particularly empha-
sised during an economic downturn.

the comprehensive service business is 
one of Glaston’s most important competitive 
assets. the strong service business sup-
ports new machine sales and helps commit 
the customer to Glaston’s products. the 
possibility of comprehensive deliveries is 
also a competitive asset for Glaston. Due to 
its size and wide product range, Glaston is 
able to offer its customers whole factory and 
line solutions that many of its competitors 
cannot offer due to their size.

In the Machines segment’s heat treat-
ment technology, Glaston is the clear mar-
ket leader worldwide, and in pre-processing 
technology it is one of the world’s leading 
companies. Glaston has the widest product 
range and service offering in the market. 
through its expertise in both glass process-
ing machine and tool manufacturing, Glas-
ton is able to create a competitive offering 
in terms of production efficiency and end-
product quality. In pre-processing technolo-
gy, Glaston is strong, particularly in grinding 
machines and tools.

In heat treatment technology, the Machi-
nes segment’s most significant competitors 
come from Italy and elsewhere in Europe 
as well as from Usa, China and taiwan. 

In pre-processing technology, there are a 
large number of local companies as well 
as companies focusing only on one product 
group. the most significant competitors 
come from Italy and elsewhere in Central 
Europe and to some extent from China. 

Chinese competitors are entering the 
European and north american markets, 
but for now they are strongest in their 
home market. the Chinese operators have 
brought along strong price competition, 
to which Glaston aims to respond with its 
technological lead, the high quality of its 
products, its comprehensive service offer-
ing and by being geographically close to its 
customers.

In the services segment, the comprehen-
sive service offering, and the service network 
close to the customer are important com-
petitive assets. Glaston’s service offering is 
extensive, and large customers in particular 
often set the one-stop-shop approach, name-
ly the offering of all maintenance services 
from one place, as a condition for the cus-
tomer relationship. the services segment’s 
largest competition consists of customers’ 
own maintenance activity. Chinese competi-
tors focus on machine deliveries and do not 
offer maintenance services. Customers’ 
efforts to outsource functions not belonging 
to their core business offer Glaston a growth 
opportunity in the future, although in 2009 the 
outsourcing trend came to a halt due to the 
economic recession. 

In the software solutions segment, Glas-
ton has only one competitor capable of 
offering software covering the whole indus-
try worldwide. other competitors are either 
local or tied to a certain machine brand. 
the software solutions segment’s competi-
tive assets are independence of equipment 
brands, innovation, and comprehensive 
understanding of its customers’ industry 
processes. 

strong brand, extensive services  
and comprehensive product range are  
Glaston’s competitive assets.
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EMEA
the EMEa area consists of Europe, africa, 
the Middle East, India, Pakistan, Bangladesh 
and CIs countries. Glaston’s market posi-
tion in the area is strong thanks to its well 
known brands and comprehensive sales and 
service network. 

In 2009 Glaston maintained its market 
position in the EMEa area, even though the 
size of the market decreased significantly 
and competition intensified. Due to the dete-
riorated economic and financial situation, 
demand for new and replacement invest-
ments clearly declined compared to the 
previous year and decision-making times 
lengthened. this was particularly apparent 
in the solar energy glass segment, where 
the cessation of national subsidy programmes 
also affected investments. there was a 
marked slow-down in construction and the 
automotive industry also suffered strongly 
from the recession.

the Middle Eastern market experienced 
the strongest demand decline. the develop-
ment of the German market was a positive 
exception in the EMEa area and the Eastern 
European market started to recover more 
quickly than the rest of Europe.

In 2010 the market in the EMEa area is 
expected to grow slightly compared to 2009 
and the recovery of demand in Eastern 
Europe is excepted to continue.

AMERICAS
North America
the north american area consists of Usa, 
Canada and Mexico. In Usa and Canada, 

the most significant factors driving sales in 
public construction are energy efficiency and 
local building regulations. service offering 
has a key position in the area due to require-
ments related to production efficiency.

In Usa and Canada, demand for glass 
processing machines, and particularly 
demand in solar energy glass segment, fell 
in 2009 with the deterioration of the avail-
ability of financing. In Mexico, demand 
declined as the H1n1 epidemic impacted 
economic growth. 

north american demand was directed 
at machine upgrades and customer train-
ing in particular. Glaston maintained its 
overall market position in north america 
even though the sales of software solutions 
weakened due to increasing competition. 

In 2010 the north american market is 
expected to be on the same level as in 2009. 
there will be an even greater emphasis on 
the maintenance and service business.  

South America
south america is divided into three subareas: 
Brazil, where the market is well developed; 
argentina, Chile, Colombia, Peru, Venezuela 
and Ecuador, where the market is less 
developed; and Paraguay, Bolivia, Uruguay, 
other smaller countries and the Caribbean 
area, where the market is undeveloped. 
Glaston’s market position in south america 
is strong thanks to its well known brands 
and agent network.

In 2009 competition in the area intensi-
fied due to the arrival of competitors from 
Europe and asia. Growing purchasing 

power boosted internal demand in the area, 
particularly in Brazil. Peru and Venezuela 
developed favourably during the year, while 
argentina, Chile, Colombia and Ecuador suf-
fered from the recession. In Paraguay and 
Uruguay demand for architectural glass 
developed positively.

new machine investments were more 
significant than replacement investments. 
Demand for architectural glass grew thanks 
to foreign investments. sales of automo-
tive glass and household appliance industry 
glass grew thanks to local tax concessions. 
Demand for low-E glass increased, while 
demand for photovoltaic glass remained flat.

In 2010 the south american market is 
expected to grow as infrastructure invest-
ments connected with the 2014 FIFa World 
Cup and the 2016 olympics are expected to 
commence. 

ASIA
North Asia and China
China is the most significant market in 
north asia. Glaston’s competitive assets 
include the strong brands, high quality tech-
nology and professional customer service. 
Production located in China helps Glaston 
serve its customers in asia and makes lower 
production and transport costs possible.

In 2009 Glaston responded to the econom-
ic recession and intense price competition by 
localising products to the needs of the local 
market and through local sourcing. 

the Chinese market continued to grow 
in 2009. In particular, demand for energy-
efficient glass and solar energy glass in 

Glaston’s market areas developed unevenly in 2009. Markets in Middle East and north America weakened, 
whereas markets in South America and China developed favourably, in particular at the end of the year.

Market Areas
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MaRKEt aREas

particular grew during the year. Glaston 
increased its market share in China despite 
the competition. 

the other market areas in north asia 
developed unevenly in 2009. In south Korea, 
Glaston’s order book grew, while demand 
declined in Japan and taiwan.

In 2010 the Chinese market is expected to 
continue to grow, particularly in respect of 
glass directed to the construction industry. 
Manufacturing of solar energy glass is fore-
cast to grow as a result of China’s internal 
solar energy projects. 

APAC
the aPaC area consists of sEa (the most 
important countries being thailand, Malaysia, 
Vietnam, the Philippines and Indonesia) and 
oceania (australia and new Zealand). Glas-
ton’s competitive assets include local service, 
good brands and the price competitiveness of 
machines manufactured in tianjin.

In 2009 the glass processing market in 
the aPaC area contracted as construction 
slowed down and the weak availability of 
financing postponed customers’ invest-
ment decisions. Glaston’s market position 

remained unchanged. the increased signifi-
cance of efficiency in the production process 
increased demand for Glaston’s products. 

In sEa countries, demand for insulated 
and laminated glass grew as greater atten-
tion was paid to the energy efficiency of 
buildings. In the oceania area, the australian 
market remained active during the first half 
of the year, due to the government’s invest-
ment support package, but slowed later in 
the year. new Zealand returned to a normal 
market situation at the end of the year after a 
particularly difficult start of the year. 

In 2010 the market in the aPaC area is 
expected to improve due to  a significant 
number of investment decisions having been 
postponed until 2010. 

Production in tianjin, China helps  
Glaston serve its customers in asia.

The glass of the Mori Tower, i.e. the World financial Centre 
(on the left of centre), in Shanghai, China, was made on 
machines supplied by Glaston.
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The 828 metre Burj Khalifa Tower in  
Dubai was officially opened in January 
2010 as the world’s tallest building.  
Glaston’s customers White Aluminium 
and Al Abbar participated in supplying 
glass to the tower.
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In 2009 the Machines segment focused on improving efficiency and implementing cost-saving programmes. 
The structure of the business area was changed by combining Glaston’s Pre-processing and heat Treatment 
business areas into the Machines segment. At the same time, maintenance and service business was sepa-
rated from machine operations into its own Services segment.

Machines

Products and product development
the Machines segment manufactures glass 
pre-processing machines, stone processing 
machines and safety glass machines. the 
product range covers machines from glass 
cutting and drilling to edge processing and 
grinding further to flat tempering, bending, 
bending tempering and laminating. In addi-
tion, the Machines segment develops and 
manufactures glass and stone processing 
tools. Glass pre-processing machines are 
sold under the Bavelloni brand and glass 
tempering, bending and laminating machines 
under the tamglass and Uniglass brands. 
the tool brands are Bavelloni, DiaPol and 
aaa.

In 2009 the most significant product 
groups were glass grinding machines in 
pre-processing technology and flat temper-
ing machines in heat treatment technology.
Demand for automotive and solar energy 
glass machines fell proportionately the most 
during the year due to a sharp fall in activity 
in the automotive and solar energy segments. 

as part of the efficiency programme, the 
Machines segment rationalised its product 
offering. all technology and product groups 
remained in the product range, but the 
number of product variants was reduced. no 
changes in brands took place during 2009.

During the year, Glaston launched sever-
al new heat treatment technology machines 
at the Vitrum Fair, such as the tamglass 

ProE MaGnUM+ 3396 and 33120 machines, 
which are the largest flat tempering 
machines on the market. In addition, a high 
capacity bending and tempering machine, 
the tamglass syncroBend, was launched as 
well as the tamglass Compact, which is a 
flat tempering machine intended for small-
er glass sizes. the new products were well 
received on the market and the first ProE 
MaGnUM+ 3396 machine was delivered to 
a customer.

In pre-processing technology, an exten-
sion to the cutting product range was 
launched for cutting laminated and coated 
glass, comprising a low-E film removal 
feature. the CnC product series was 
expanded with nRG 330 machine and in 
this connection a new, patented Power Jet 
technology was presented. Glaston also 
launched new tools for processing solar 
energy glass.

Product development in 2009 focused 
on technology transfers, adapting current 
products to photovoltaic solar energy glass 

(PV) and CsP solar mirror manufacturing 
as well as on reducing product costs. In 
heat treatment technology, the focus was 
also on the high quality of end-products 
and energy saving.

Production
the production of glass processing machines 
is centralised into four locations: Italy, Brazil, 
China and Finland. Due to its localised prod-
uct range, Glaston is able to respond to mar-
ket needs and increase its production in low 
cost countries. tool manufacturing is central-
ised into Italy, China and Brazil.

Production capacity was adjusted in 
2009 to correspond to the uncertain market 
situation and the number of production 
personnel was cut, especially in Italy and 
Finland. sourcing was enhanced and its 
focus shifted during the year by transfer-
ring sourcing to low-cost countries, par-
ticularly China.

the factory located in Cinnaminson, Usa 
was closed and production transferred to 

2009 2008 CHANGE-%

NET SALES [EUR MILLION] 82.2 168.5 -51.2

OPERATING RESULT EXCL. NON-RECURRING ITEMS [EUR MILLION] -22.9 5.1 -

as PERCEntaGE oF nEt salEs -27.9 3.0 -

ORDER BOOK (EUR MILLION] 39.8 47.3 -15.9

PERSONNEL AT YEAR-END 674 841 -19.9
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Finland and China. In addition, Uniglass 
Engineering ltd.’s operations were merged 
with Glaston Finland. In Italy plans were 
initiated to transfer glass cutting machine 
production to China. In addition, the con-
solidation of production facilities in Italy was 
started. the production and development of 
the tamglass CHF product range and the 
CHF Pro was transferred from Usa to China 
and Finland.

Customers and market position
the Machines segment has a worldwide 
customer base serving, as end-customer 
segments, the architectural and construc-
tion industry, the automotive industry, the 
appliance industry, as well as manufactur-
ers of solar energy solutions. architectural 
and construction glass customers account 
for the largest proportion. Glaston’s com-
petitive assets include strong technological 
expertise, quality, an advanced product 
offering, a comprehensive sales and service 
network, as well as the reliability and pro-
ductivity of its machines.

In heat treatment technology, Glaston 
is the clear market leader, and in pre-
processing technology one of the world’s 
leading companies. In pre-processing 
technology Glaston, through its expertise 
in both machine and tool product develop-
ment and manufacturing, is able to provide 
a competitive offering in terms of produc-
tion efficiency and end-product quality.

the Machines segment maintained its 
market position in 2009. Price competition, 
particularly from asian competitors, inten-
sified during the year due to the challeng-
ing market situation, which affected market 
prices, weakening the profitability of the indus-
try. nearly all of the companies in the industry 
experienced profitability problems and initiated 
efficiency programmes during the year. 

on the other hand, customers’ focus on 
quality increased during the year, as did the 

trend towards ever larger glass sizes, which 
presented new opportunities for Glaston. In 
addition, energy saving and safety require-
ments advanced in such a way that they will 
support demand for machines able to proc-
ess tempered and coated glass in the long 
term. Regulations related to low-E glass 
will also require the upgrading of glass 
processing machines in the future.

the Machines segment’s most signifi-
cant market area geographically in 2009 
was the EMEa area. Demand for machines 
weakened significantly in all market areas, 
except for south america, where demand 
remained high throughout the year. In 
Central Europe, demand in the German 
market stood out positively from the rest of 
the EMEa area. towards the end of 2009, 
a gradual recovery was also evident in the 
asian and australian markets. Particu-
larly in the Chinese market, recovery of the 
architectural glass segment accelerated 
due to local stimulus programmes initi-
ated during the year. the architectural glass 
segment thus suffered less from the reces-
sion during the year than Glaston’s other 
end-customer segments. the activity of the 
automotive glass segment weakened in all 
market areas.

Demand for solar energy glass solutions 
weakened as customers postponed decision 
making on projects due to economic 
uncertainty and instability of financial 
markets. Customers have not cancelled 
projects, however, but the projects are 
expected to be initiated as economic con-
ditions improve. Demand for comprehen-
sive deliveries was very low during 2009, 
with demand focusing on single machines 
instead of system deliveries.

Glass Performance Days
Every second year, Glaston organises a Glass 
Performance Days (GDP) event in tampere, 
Finland, which attracts all of the diverse 

interest groups of the glass processing chain. 
the tampere event is the largest in the glass 
processing industry and the GDP held in June 
2009 was the 11th of its kind.

the GDP is a unique event with the objec-
tive of gathering and disseminating the latest 
information among industry participants and 
to promote the development of new areas of 
application and technological features. the 
GDP is a significant event for the develop-
ment of the entire glass processing industry. 
Moreover, the event helps Glaston follow at 
close range the latest technological trends 
in the industry as well as customers’ and 
partners’ expectations, and it also helps to 
create customer contacts. one of the GPD’s 
absolute assets is its broad reach. the event 
allows the industry’s activities to be compre-
hensively viewed from many perspectives.

In 2010 a Glass Performance Days event 
will also be held in south america for the 
first time. Glass Performance Days south 
america will take place in sao Paulo, Brazil 
in May 2010. In addition, Glass Performance 
Days China will be held in Beijing, China in 
June 2010.

2009 and outlook for 2010
the merger of the Pre-processing and Heat 
treatment business areas into the Machines 
segment took place in the summer of 2009. 
the merger of the business areas has creat-
ed one cohesive organisation with wide inte-
gration of operations. Removing overlapping 
functions has achieved cost savings and 
operational efficiencies as well as synergy 
benefits, particularly in the management of 
the segment. as part of the organisational 
restructuring, Glaston’s tool business was 
also divided so that product development 
and manufacturing of tools remained in the 
Machines segment, while sales and market-
ing were transferred to the services segment. 

In 2009 efficiency improvement played 
a key role in developing the operations of 



17
Glaston CoRPoRatIon 

annUal REPoRt 2009

sEGMEnts

the Machines segment. an efficiency pro-
gramme initiated in 2008 continued and, in 
addition, new cost-saving programmes were 
launched, leading to significant personnel 
reductions in Finland and Italy. In addition, 
the product portfolio was rationalised and 
machine production locations rearranged 
by transferring the focus of production 
and sourcing more towards China. the 
measures were more extensive on the pre-
processing technology side of the business.

In 2009 the net sales of the Machines seg-
ment accounted for 54% of Glaston’s net-
sales. net sales declined to EUR 82.2 (168.5) 
million. the operating result excluding non-
recurring items amounted to EUR -22.9 (5.1) 
million. 

overall, Glaston’s markets are not 
expected to recover in 2010, except for indi-
vidual market areas. In 2010 the priorities 
for developing the Machines segment’s 
business operations are improving profit-
ability and implementing rationalisation 
measures initiated in 2009 in terms of per-
sonnel, production and the product port-
folio. Product development will continue 
in 2010 in accordance with the previously 
defined strategy and objectives. Quality

Keeping the Cutting Edge of  
Quality and Service

Paul King
Managing Director
Cooling Brothers
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Regardless of where a company is located, it can continue 
to develop its edge by staying ahead. Cooling Brothers in 
Perth, Australia, has been continuously reinventing itself 
ever since it was founded in 1992. Today, the company 
attributes its success to a high level of quality and custo-
mer service. In 2009, the company celebrated the opening 
of its new factory, equipped with Asia-Pacific’s most exten-
sive range of Glaston products, including both Bavelloni 
and Tamglass machinery and Albat+Wirsam software.

The Australian government supports construction pro-
jects built with high-energy efficiency. The use of Low-E 
glass, which requires high quality in glass processing, 
helps to meet these criteria. Cooling Brothers purchased 
the Tamglass ProE furnace to specifically produce this 
high-performance Low-E glass.

Drivers for the growth in the Australian market come 
from an increasing demand for new glass types as well 
as more toughened laminates and double-glazing. This is 
due to a heightened awareness of caring for the envi-
ronment. “We are fully committed to alternative glass 
solutions – green solutions,” says Paul King, Managing 
Director of the company.

OPERATInG RESuLT (ExCL. nOn-RECuRRInG ITEMS) 
AnD OPERATInG RESuLT AS % Of nET SALES

168.5
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-22.9



18
Glaston CoRPoRatIon
annUal REPoRt 2009

In 2009 Glaston’s maintenance and service business was separated from machine operations into its own  
Services segment. The Services segment focused on bringing the service organisation closer to the customer 
and on further improving customer satisfaction.

Services

Services and service network
the services segment includes maintenance 
and service of glass processing machines, 
sale of spare parts and tools, and the opera-
tion of the glass processing factory in akaa, 
Finland, as a service activity on behalf of a 
customer. 

the services segment offers its customers 
a comprehensive range of different service 
and maintenance products. Maintenance 
services are also offered based on continu-
ous service agreements. the Glaston Care 
service agreement covers preventative 
maintenance and servicing of the custom-
er’s glass processing machines, while the 
Glaston Care Plus agreement also includes 
a stock of machine spare parts. other serv-
ices include machine modernisations and 
accessories, spare parts and tools, remote 
monitoring and diagnostics, as well as con-
sulting and training. 

In 2009 there was greater emphasis on 
machine modernisations as glass proces-

sors focused on machine upgrades instead 
of new investments. the modernisations 
related to energy saving, automation sys-
tems and technology upgrades. towards the 
end of the year, there was also increased 
demand for upgrade products related to 
boosting performance and improving the 
quality of architectural glass.

services launched during the year 
included modernisation packages for 
Uniglass and Bavelloni machines as well 
as maintenance of competitors’ machines. 
In addition, Glaston launched consulting 
and training service packages related to 

the optimum use of machines, such as the 
oEE consulting package. With the aid of 
an aCC upgrade launched in Usa, cooling 
of glass can be accelerated in tempering, 
achieving both energy saving and quality 
improvement. 

Glaston’s comprehensive service net-
work and strong maintenance expertise 
are among the company’s most important 
competitive assets. the network consists 
of more than 20 service locations. In 2009 
the significance of geographical areas and 
operating close to customers was high-
lighted. orivesi upgrade production in 

Strong maintenance expertise  
and a comprehensive service  
network are among Glaston’s  
most important competitive  
assets.

sEGMEnts

2009 2008 CHANGE-%

NET SALES [EUR MILLION] 48.1 76.0 -36.7

OPERATING RESULT EXCL. NON-RECURRING ITEMS [EUR MILLION] -1.9 4.9 -

as PERCEntaGE oF nEt salEs -4.0 6.5 -

ORDER BOOK (EUR MILLION] 1.6 11.6 -86.2

PERSONNEL AT YEAR-END 228 414 -44.9
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Finland was transferred to tampere and 
Uniglass integration was completed. Bavel-
loni service activity was initiated in the Mid-
dle Eastern office and a delivery centre was 
established in Cinnaminson, Usa.

Customers and market position
the increasing continuity, efficiency and 
quality requirements related to production 
influence demand for maintenance and 
services. Machines are modernised and 
upgraded with new features to correspond 
to the competitive situation and changes in 
the operating environment. 

In 2009 the economic recession impacted 
negatively on customer demand, particularly 
in the solar energy, architectural and auto-
motive glass segments. lower utilisation 
rates of glass processing machines reduced 
the need for spare parts and demand fell 
significantly. the outsourcing trend initiated 
in previous years came to a halt. the volume 
of service agreements and work of the serv-
ices segment increased, however. Machine 
upgrades were at the previous year’s level, 
but demand for training services increased 
notably. 

Despite price pressures, customers 
valued Glaston’s ability to offer all main-
tenance services from the same place. a 
customer satisfaction survey carried out in 
2009 gave the service business the highest 
customer satisfaction figures in its history.

In the EMEa area, demand for main-
tenance services and upgrades slowed 
down with the exception of Germany and 
the UK, and the Middle East was quieter 
than expected. Demand in the aPaC area 
declined, except for australia and new Zea-

profitability, continuing customer-oriented 
organisational change, developing new 
products and concepts particularly relating 
to end-product quality, process monitoring 
and clean technology, further developing 
the efficiency of spare part and tool sales, 
maintaining the quality and service level of 
maintenance by developing the maintenance 
concept, and developing  the maintenance 
cooperation network.

land. In Usa, demand was good especially 
for upgrade products. 

2009 and outlook for 2010
In 2009 the net sales of the services segment 
accounted for 32% of Glaston’s net sales. 
net sales declined to EUR 48.1 (76.0] million. 
the operating result excluding non-recurring 
items amounted to EUR -1.9 (4.9) million. 

the objectives for 2010 are improving 

sEGMEnts

Reliability
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In Africa, in the Kenyan market, Impala Glass Industries Ltd. 
is a well-known manufacturer of laminated windscreen 
glass and toughed sideline glass. Automotive products 
represent approximately 60% and architectural safety 
glass approximately 40% of the company’s portfolio. 
During the past 20 years, Impala Glass has purchased 
numerous Bavelloni and Tamglass machines. It has also 
been a long-term customer of Glaston Services. 

The company has chosen several upgrades and a 
Glaston service agreement during the years to extend 
the useful life and reliability of its production machinery. 
“We have upgraded our machines to help us offer greater 
value to our customers,” says Mr. hebatullah, Managing 
Director of Impala Glass.

Today, all of the company’s machines are included as 
part of the long-term Glaston Care service agreement, 
which includes a visit from a service technician every six 
months. During these visits, issues relating to the pro-
duction process are discussed. “Generally, we’re doing 
well with our own maintenance. Still, whenever we’ve had 
any problems, help is just a phone call away. And spare 
parts are available immediately. Service partnership is 
a continuous learning process for us,” says Mr. Murtaza 
hebatullah.

76.0

48.1

4.9

-1.9

Murtaza hebatullah
Managing Director
Impala Glass 
Industries Ltd.

OPERATInG RESuLT (ExCL. nOn-RECuRRInG ITEMS) 
AnD OPERATInG RESuLT AS % Of nET SALES
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In 2009, the Software Solutions segment experienced a strong decline in new licence income. The segment 
adjusted its operations to the decreased demand through sensible cost management and adapting the size 
of its organization.

Software Solutions

Products and product development
the software solutions segment offers 
software solutions for the glass and win-
dow industry. software solutions enables 
Glaston to supply not only glass processing 
techniques but also production logistics to 
its customers. 

the software products offered by soft-
ware solutions help customers to manage 
their production and commercial processes 
as well as link their business partners. 
For production management, the segment 
offers software for production optimisation 
systems, machinery control, and control 
of material and production processes. For 
the management of commercial processes, 
the product range comprises software for 
business-to-business management, quota-
tions and orders, production and capacity 
planning, cost calculation, material man-
agement, and invoicing. In the individual 
work areas, the processes are supported 
by monitoring systems, up to the complete 
networking ofmachinery to control the 
material and work flow.

the main difference between the software 
offered by Glaston and that of other supp-
liers is that Glaston can control the entire 
work flow of glass production online in real 
time, whereas its competitors rely on batch-
processing methods. 

In 2009, the CaD and line control systems 
both gained in importance in the product 
portfolio. the software solutions segment 
developed product variants tailored for asian 
markets. the new generation of software 
systems developed for the window indus-
try allows better work flow integration. 
Products aimed at controlling integrated 
line solutions launched in 2008, such as 
Panorama and aWFactory, were installed as 

pilots at selected customers during 2009. 

Customers and market position
typical customers of software solutions are 
glass processors and window manufactur-
ers who produce several product variants 
and have to supply their products just in 
time. the compatibility of the business and 
production processes in the glass and win-
dow industry allows the managing of the 
entire delivery chain company-wide. Glaston 
is the only supplier of software solutions, 
whose products can be used in several 
glass industry sectors. 

the strongest market sector by volume 
for the segment is EMEa, followed by north 

using software supplied by Glaston, 
glass processing can be controlled 

from start to finish in real time.

sEGMEnts

2009 2008 CHANGE-%

NET SALES [EUR MILLION] 23.9 28.2 -15.2

OPERATING RESULT EXCL. NON-RECURRING ITEMS [EUR MILLION] 0.4 3.7 -89.2

as PERCEntaGE oF nEt salEs 1.7 13.3 -

ORDER BOOK (EUR MILLION] 4.1 3.5 17.1

PERSONNEL AT YEAR-END 234 261 -10.3
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Service

and south america, asia and aPaC. In gen-
eral, customers in Central Europe demand 
higher integration and higher production 
automation, whereas customers in Eastern 
Europe, asia and aPaC more standard and 
less complex systems. 

In 2009, software solutions was able 
to improve its relative market position in 
Europe due to strong demand from medi-
um-sized companies. although demand 
from global players decreased in general, 
medium-sized companies invested inten-
sively in the renewal of their production 
processes towards higher automation, more 
flexibility, and shorter delivery times.

although the global market was stagnat-
ing or weakening, software solutions did 
not lose market share. the segment’s ability 
to supply highly integrated software solu-
tions which allow for an increase in the level 
of automation in glass production was an 
important factor driving demand in 2009.

the software solutions segment was 
able to adapt its operations to the slowing 
markets by strengthening the structures 
and processes in product management and 
implementation as well as by making close-
ness to customer its top priority. 

Year 2009 and outlook for 2010
In 2009, the software solutions segment 
accounted for 16% of Glaston’s net sales. 
the net sales of the segment decreased 
to EUR 23.9 million (EUR 28.2 million). 

not equipped with the machinery for high 
automation. on the other hand, the trend 
towards intensifying partnerships between 
technology and high-end machinery pro-
viders will enable the segment to offer the 
highest state-of-the-art automated solu-
tions for high-end customers. 

sEGMEnts

operating result excluding non-recurring 
items amounted to EUR 0.4 million (EUR 
3.7 million).

In 2010, the software solutions seg-
ment will focus on developing easy-to-
operate systems and versions for markets 
such as Eastern Europe, asia, aPaC, and 
africa in order to reach customers who are 

Service – Key to Long  
Customer Relationship
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At the new, recently completed premises of GSK 
Glas+Spiegel-Schulz, the first toughened glass sheets are 
being produced in their new uniglass furnace. for GSK, a 
company with a long tradition, this is another step towards 
a successful future: “We want to be a problem solver with 
glass-technical concepts, offering intelligent and innova-
tive glass products in addition to the standard high-tech 
insulated glasses”, states Axel J. Schulz, who runs the 
family business in its fourth generation.

for more than 30 years, GSK have been organizing their 
business and production organization processes using 
Albat+Wirsam software. The launch of high-tech toughe-
ning furnace in 2009 required a thorough re-organization 
of the production flow, which has been realized with 
customer-tailored Albat+Wirsam technical software. 

“In Albat+Wirsam we have not only chosen the most 
innovative of software partners; important for us is A+W’s 
committed service concept which guarantees fast and 
competent support around the clock. This is a major 
pillar of the long-standing, reliable partnership with our 
software supplier”, says Axel J. Schulz.

28.2

23.9

3.7

0.4

Axel J. Schulz 
Managing Director
GSK Glas+Spiegel-
Schulz

OPERATInG RESuLT (ExCL. nOn-RECuRRInG ITEMS) 
AnD OPERATInG RESuLT AS % Of nET SALES
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Product development has important strategic significance for Glaston, because it ensures that the company has 
a competitive product portfolio. Glaston’s product development is strongly customer-oriented and the company 
cooperates closely in this field with its customers. In 2009 product development expenditure totalled EuR 13.6 
(14.4) million, corresponding to around 8.9 (5.3)% of Group net sales.

Product Development

Glaston’s glass processing machine product 
development is driven by the ever-increasing 
size of glass surfaces and the simultane-
ous demand for ever higher quality glass. as 
efficiency requirements continually tighten, 
Glaston has focused in its product develop-
ment on increasing the performance and 
cost-efficiency of machines. an additional 
product development priority has been 
enhancing the energy efficiency of the proc-
ess and improving the optical quality.

Product development  
enhanced and centralised
During 2009 Glaston’s product development 

operating practices were strongly enhanced. 
the company focused on rationalising the 
product portfolio and cutting production 
costs. the sector’s difficult market situa-
tion and intense price competition were also 
reflected in product development. Product 
development of the Pre-processing and Heat 
treatment business areas was centralised 
under the Machines segment, which result-
ed in the standardisation and improved effi-
ciency of operating practices. In addition, 
the Uniglass product portfolio was inte-
grated into Machines segment product 
development, and its planning centralised 
completely in tampere. Cooperation within 

the organisation was also improved, for 
example between the services segment and 
Machines segment’s product development.

the closure of Glaston’s Us factory also 
affected the organisation of product develop-
ment. Development and production of the 
CHF product range was transferred from 
Usa to China and Finland. In future, CHF 
development work directed at making solar 
energy glass will take place, as a rule, in 
China and in terms of CHF Pro, in Finland.

During the year, Glaston continued product 
development cooperation with customers 
and glass manufacturers with the aim of 
ensuring the suitability of machine charac-

Improving the energy efficiency and performance 
of machines as well as developing the physical 
and optical properties of glass are important 
priorities of Glaston’s product development.
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PRoDUCt DEVEloPMEnt

teristics for customer and market needs. 
Product development cooperation also con-
tinued with research institutes as well as 
with technical universities and colleges.

New product innovations and  
customised deliveries
Due to the challenging market situation and 
intensified competition, product development 
in 2009 was increasingly focused on develop-
ing the characteristics of existing machines. 
Development work addressed all elements 
of glass processing machines. the objective 
was to facilitate the adding of new features to 
machines already delivered. Product develop-
ment was also focused on localising existing 
products to meet the requirements of the 
Chinese market. Products were also custom-
ised to meet the tight quality requirements of 
the solar energy glass sector in terms of both 
PV and CsP applications.

In 2009 Glaston launched three signifi-
cant new machines in the tamglass prod-
uct range: tamglass Magnum+, tamglass 
syncrobend and tamglass Compact. the 
tamglass Magnum+ is Europe’s largest flat 
tempering machine while the tamglass 

Compact, on the other hand, is a basic flat 
tempering machine intended for smaller 
glass sizes. the tamglass syncrobend is 
a mould-free device intended for bent and 
tempered glass production. In addition, 
Glaston launched an extension to its cutting 
product range for the cutting of laminated 
and coated glass. Glaston’s CnC product 
range was also supplemented with a new 
type of auxiliary machine.

the product development priority in the 
software solutions segment was the further 
development of products and the refining of 
product variations for the asian market. the 
goal was to achieve solutions that will serve 
customers even better.
 
Continuous product  
development also in the future
the priorities for technological development 

in the future will continue to be improving 
the energy-efficiency and performance of 
machines as well as developing the physical 
and optical properties of glass. In the solar 
energy glass market, the key objectives in 
terms of glass processing machines relate 
primarily to their solar energy technology 
recovery ratio. there are still no standards 
defining the technology in the sector, so 
Glaston can play a significant role in this 
development. 

Glaston’s product development expertise 
will be extended further within the organisa-
tion in the future. In 2010 a product develop-
ment team will be set up in China, which will 
serve the company’s operations better in the 
local market.

the solar energy market has been growing 
fast in recent years. Currently solar energy 
covers less than 1 per cent of the world’s 
energy needs. according to estimates, 
solar energy could cover around 70% of 
the world’s energy needs by 2100. In 2009 
growth of the solar energy segment slowed, 
however, as the availability of funding dete-
riorated. the largest markets for solar elec-
tricity panels were Germany and spain, and 
the main markets for CsP (Concentrated 
solar Power) products were Usa and spain. 
the solar energy industry has invested 
heavily, encouraged by the growth of the 
market in recent years, but in 2009 demand 
did not grow as expected. In addition to the 
recession, delays in land-use permits also 
contributed to the slowing of the market.

Despite the recession, Glaston continued 
developing solutions for the solar energy 
market in line with its strategy. Glaston 
offers providers of solar power applications 
machines, technology and related services 
worldwide. the priority areas are solar elec-
tricity panels (photovoltaic) and other solar 
energy glass applications for CsP, in which 
precisely bent glass panels are used to 
collect the heat to turn steam turbines for 
electricity production. the third priority area 
is solar thermal applications (st), which are 
used most commonly for water heating. 

In 2009 Glaston’s deliveries to the solar 
energy segment to a large extent reflected 
the trends in the sector. Glaston delivered 
several flat tempering machines as well 
as pre-processing equipment to China for 

production of glasses used in PV panels. 
the company also concluded an agreement 
with a German customer for the delivery of 
a new-generation continuously operating 
CHF Pro flat tempering furnace in 2010. 

the recession and the deterioration in 
the availability of funding reduced demand 
in the solar energy segment. the market 
is expected, however, to return to growth, 
and Glaston is ready to respond to the 
challenges presented by the sector. solar 
energy glass processing requires increas-
ingly advanced technology and Glaston will 
continue to develop its glass processing 
solutions. In the future transferring to the 
use of renewable forms of energy is a big 
and important challenge and Glaston wants 
to participate in solving this challenge.

Solar

Glaston responds to the needs of  
different market areas by utilizing  
its global product development.
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the Code of Conduct defines Glaston’s gen-
eral operating practices and how employees’ 
are expected to act in their daily work with 
both colleagues and customers, suppliers 
and other stakeholder groups.

Glaston requires that all employees 
adhere to high ethical principles. the com-
pany complies with national and international 
laws, provisions and generally excepted 
operating practices in all of its activities. 

Glaston respects and complies with inter-
nationally accepted principles on human 
rights, which are based, for example, on 
the Un Universal Declaration on Human 
Rights, the International labour organisa-
tion Declaration on Fundamental Princi-
ples and Rights at Work, and the Un Global 
Compact corporate responsibility initiative. 
Glaston does not use child or forced labour, 
nor does it cooperate with subcontractors or 
suppliers that use such labour.

In Glaston, responsible corporate activ-
ity and sustainable development are imple-
mented in practice via the company’s man-
agement. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
the most significant environmental issues for 
Glaston relate to our products and above all 
to their efficiency, sustainability and safety.

as a starting point, Glaston’s own opera-
tions do not have major impacts on the 
environment. the objective is to achieve the 
best possible operating practices taking into 
consideration the local conditions. the tam-
pere production plant’s certified Iso 14001 
environmental management system forms a 
solid foundation for the management of Glas-
ton’s environmental issues. 

Glaston develops its processes continu-
ally in order to take the principles of sus-

tainable development better into account. 
In product development, paying due atten-
tion to energy efficiency occupies a key role 
and the goal is to make glass processing 
machines as energy-efficient as possible. 
the glass processing machines manufac-
tured by Glaston have long lifetimes, and 
the entire life cycle of a machine is taken 
into account in its design. Glass process-
ing machines are designed and built to 
withstand constant use at high production 
capacities. Regular maintenance extends 
the machines’ useful life as well as product 
safety. the modernisation of a machine with 
new technical features will extend the use-
ful life of the machine and will, for exam-
ple, reduce energy consumption in glass 
processing. 

Glaston pays special attention to the recy-
clability of machine materials, particularly 
with respect to components susceptible to 
wear and tear and thus often changed.

Environmental problems and discussion 
of climate change have increased demand 
for products that have a positive impact on 
the environment. Besides other types of 
glass, the machines manufactured by Glas-
ton are also used to produce energy glass, 
which reduces buildings’ energy consump-
tion, as well as glass used in applications 
that produce solar energy. 

the heating and cooling of buildings 
accounts for around half of the world’s ener-
gy consumption. Changing one old window 
pane to energy glass reduces the carbon 
dioxide load resulting from heating and cool-
ing by around 90 kilos each year. the one-off 
carbon dioxide load arising from the manu-
facture of the same window pane, however, 
is only around 25 kilos. tightening legisla-
tion in many countries is promoting the use 

of energy glass both in new and renovation 
construction.

solar energy production is expected to 
grow significantly in the coming years. a 
significant area of expertise for Glaston is 
the offering of machines, technology and 
services to glass manufacturers that pro-
duce special glass for solar energy projects. 
the glass used in solar cells is subject to 
high quality requirements, for example with 
respect to curved surfaces. With Glaston’s 
technology, high quality glass can be produced 
precisely for this purpose. 

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Development work on Glaston’s human 
resources functions continued during 2009 by 
building and standardising human resources 
processes, among others. the goal is for 
Glaston to operate worldwide according to 
consistent principles and operating practices 
by 2011. During 2009 important steps in this 
direction were achieved and the company 
made progress towards its target. at the end 
of 2009, Glaston had 1,160 employees.

 
Focus on people management 
Glaston’s human resources strategy was 
updated in 2009 and the focus areas were 
the development of pay and remuneration 
practices, performance management and 
talent management.

the management practices agreed in 
Glaston are applied throughout the organi-
sation worldwide. according to Glaston’s 
principles, management of personnel is 
expert and open. During 2009 personnel 
development discussion practices, i.e. Per-
formance Dialogue, were extended to cover 
all employees and the degree of implemen-
tation was over 80%. Based on good experi-

Glaston’s corporate social responsibility is built on the three supporting columns of sustainable development, 
namely financial, social and environmental responsibility. Glaston’s operations are guided by a Code of Conduct, 
which the company’s Board of Directors has approved. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
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ences, the PD discussions will be introduced 
throughout the entire organisation in 2010. 

Expert personnel the objective 
In 2009 the expertise of sales and service 
personnel in particular was enhanced. a 
sales skills training programme that began 
in 2008 was continued in all geographical 
sales areas. this training programme is of 
two years’ duration and it will finish during 
the first half of 2010. technical product and 
process training on Glaston’s most impor-
tant products was arranged for service 
personnel. In addition, sales training was 
arranged for maintenance service person-
nel. the use of virtual methods in training 
programmes was successfully increased.   

Glaston’s internal training courses have 
been centralised worldwide into the Glass 
Performance academy. In 2009 the com-
pany established a new GPa management 
group, which supervises the targeting of 
development measures in line with strategy 
throughout the whole organisation.

Every year Glaston conducts a global per-
sonnel survey. Based on the results of the 
survey, company management implements 
development measures in collaboration 
with personnel. such measures have been 
directed particularly at creating consistent 
practices.

the 2009 survey showed that those employ-
ees who had participated in a PD discussion 
were on average more committed to both their 
work and the company and were also more 
satisfied with management. the widely intro-
duced PD  discussion practice, the global 
leadership (Value Up) training programme 
initiated in 2008 and more active internal 
communications have clearly yielded results.

A year of adjustment measures
Glaston’s personnel numbers and organisa-
tional structure were adjusted to business 
conditions both through temporary lay-offs 
and redundancies. the company has man-
aged the difficult situation quickly and fairly 
and, if necessary, training related to re-entry 

into employment has been arranged for 
those made redundant. lay-offs have been 
arranged in close cooperation with person-
nel to ensure that customer work has not 
been adversely affected. In 2010 the main 
goal of human resources management is 
supporting the company’s management to 
ensure the smooth operation of the new 
organisation and enhance the commitment of 
employees. 
 
FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Glaston’s objective is to be the world’s lead-
ing company in the glass processing sector 
and thereby to create added value for both its 
internal and external stakeholders. Good profit-
ability and management of business risks will 
ensure conditions for creating added value.

Glaston is striving to achieve its objectives 
through an extensive product range and high 
customer satisfaction. In terms of net sales, 
the company is a leading player in its field. 
at the same time, the product range offered 
by Glaston to its customers is the widest in 
the glass processing sector. 

Glaston has set the following financial  
objectives:

growth in net sales of over 8%.• 
raising the operating profit percentage • 
(EBIt%) to at least 10%.
return on capital employed (RoCE) at least • 
20%.
 

Due to weakened market conditions and 
uncertainty in the operating environment, 
Glaston announced in october 2008 that it 
believes to be able to achieve the financial 
objectives in 2012 instead of 2010. 

the scope of its business operations and 
particularly good profitability will ensure 
conditions for Glaston’s operations over the 
long term and create a foundation for the 
competitive development of the business. 

In practice, financial responsibility in 
Glaston means responsible and appropriate 
financial management. the Group’s opera-
tional and financial risks are recognised 
and managed so that business targets are 
achieved and continuity of the operations is 
safeguarded. For risk management, Glaston 
applies a risk management policy, approved 
by the Board of Directors, which speci-
fies the risk management processes and 
responsibilities.

Glaston employs a  
total of 154 people in 
China.
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BoaRD oF DIRECtoRs

AndREAS TALLbERg
B. 1963, M.SC.(ECON.)
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD SINCE 2007

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: no shares
 
MAIN OCCUPATION: oy G.W. sohlberg ab,  
President & CEo since 2007

PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
EQt, senior Partner, 1997–2006; Macandrews & 
Forbes International, President, 1992–1995; amer 
Group, Director, Business Development,1987–1991

POSITIONS OF TRUST:
Detection technology oy, Chairman of the Board 
2007–; staffPoint oy, Chairman of the Board 2008–;
svenska Handelsbanken aB (publ), Finnish branch, 
Member of the Board 2007–; Myllykoski oy, Member 
of the Board 2007–; Perlos Plc, Deputy Chairman of 
the Board 2007–; salcomp Plc, Member of the Board 
1999–; nissala oy, Chairman of the Board 1999–; oy 
Frank Media ab, Member of the Board 2009– 

ChRiSTER SumELiuS
B. 1946, M.SC.(ECON)
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN, MEMBER OF THE  
BOARD SINCE 1995

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: 2,624,200 
shares, including shares owned by related parties
 
MAIN OCCUPATION: Chairman of the Board, oy 
Investsum ab since 1984 

PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE: 
se-Center oy, Managing Director, 1987–2007; 
Graphex GmbH, Director, 1979–1988; Pyramid ad-
vertising Co. ltd. (lagos), Chairman, 1983–1985;
Pyramid Paper Products ltd. (lagos), Managing 
Director, 1982–1984; Pyramid Inks Manufactur-
ing Co. ltd. (lagos), Director, 1981–1985; Finska 
Papperbruksföreningen, Finnpap, (singapore), area 
Representative, 1980–1981

POSITIONS OF TRUST:
oy Investsum ab, Chairman of the Board, 1984–;
tecnomen lifetree Corporation, Member of the 
Board, 2001–; Finnish association of Professional 
Board Members, Member, 2003–; Chemdyes sdn. 
Bhd. Penang (Malaysia), Member of the Board 2006–; 
Xemet oy, Member of the Board, 2008–; nicholai 
sourcing ltd., Member of the Board, 2008–; 
I-Hygiene solutions (Malaysia), Member of the 
Board, 2009– 

JAn Lång
B. 1957, M.SC.(ECON.)
INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF THE BOARD  
SINCE 2008

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: no shares
 
MAIN OCCUPATION: ahlstrom Corporation,  
President & CEo since 2008

PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
Uponor Corporation, President & CEo, 2003–2008;
Huhtamäki Group, several management positions, 
1982–2003
 
POSITIONS OF TRUST: –
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BoaRD oF DIRECtoRs

KLAuS CAwén
B. 1957, MASTER OF LAWS, LL.M.
INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF THE BOARD  
SINCE 2004

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: 6,000 shares

MAIN OCCUPATION:  KonE Corporation, M&a  
and strategic alliances, Russia, legal affairs,  
Member of the Executive Board since 1991

PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE: 
KonE Corporation, 1983–; KonE Corporation, 
Member of the Executive Board, 1991–

POSITIONS OF TRUST:
oy Karl Fazer ab, Member of the Board, 2002–;
toshiba Elevator and Building systems Corporation 
(Japan), Member of the Board, 2002–; sponda Plc, 
Member of the Board, 2008–

CLAuS von bonSdoRff
B. 1967, M.SC.(ENG.), M.SC.(ECON.)
INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF THE BOARD  
SINCE 2006

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: 122,600 shares
 
MAIN OCCUPATION: Head of strategy, Business 
Development and Marketing, nokia siemens  
networks, Customer and Market operations,  
Director since 2007

PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE: 
nokia Plc expert and management positions 
1994–2007; nokia siemens networks, 2007–

POSITIONS OF TRUST: –

CARL-JohAn RoSEnbRöiJER
B. 1964, DR.SC.(ECON.)
MEMBER OF THE BOARD SINCE 1996

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: 12,600 shares
 
MAIN OCCUPATION: senior teacher, arcada  
University of applied sciences since 2003

PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE: 
swedish school of Economics and Business  
administration, teacher and Researcher, 1990–
2001; University of oulu, teacher, 2001–2003;  
Head Consulting oy, senior Consultant, 2001–2003

POSITIONS OF TRUST:
Ekonomiska samfundet i Finland, Member of the 
Board, 2009–
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EXECUtIVE ManaGEMEnt GRoUP

MEMBERS Kimmo LAuTAnEn
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
B. 1959, M.sC.(ECon.)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY 
sInCE 2007

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009:  
9,690 shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
Chief Financial officer, oy Hartwall 
ab 2003-2007; Chief Financial officer, 
Ciba speciality Chemicals, Japan, 
France 1996–2003; Chief Financial 
officer, Ciba-Geigy, Finland, south 
Korea 1988–1996; Financial manage-
ment positions, Kemira oyj 1986–1988 
 

ARTo mETSänEn
PRESIDENT & CEO
B. 1956, M.sC.(EnG.)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY sInCE 
1 sEPtEMBER 2009

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009: 
no shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
CPs Colour Group oy, President & CEo, 
2005–2009; Consolis oy, President & 
CEo 2005; sandvik tamrock oy, Presi-
dent 2003–2005; sandvik tamrock, sVP 
Usa and Mexico, 2002–2003;
sandvik tamrock oy, sVP south Europe 
and Middle East, 1998–2002

POSITIONS OF TRUST:
tammermatic oy, Member of the Board 
2009–; Rapal oy, Member of the Board 
2006–; Ursviken Group oy, Member of 
the Board 2007–

ToPi SAAREnhovi
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, 
MACHINES SEGMENT
B. 1967, M.sC.(EnG.)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY 
sInCE 2007

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009:
8,225 shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
Managing Director, amomatic oy, 
2004–2007; Vice President, amomatic 
oy, 2003–2004; Plant Manager, Wärt-
silä oyj, turku, 2002–2003; Production 
Management Positions, Wärtsilä oyj, 
turku, 1996–2001
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EXECUtIVE ManaGEMEnt GRoUP

Timo niEminEn
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT,
SERVICE SOLUTIONS SEGMENT
B.1968,  M.sC.(EnG.), M.sC.(ECon.)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY 
2008–2009

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009:
no shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
accenture, Head of tampere Unit, 
2007–2008; senior Consultant,  
accenture, 2001–2008; Consultant, 
accenture, 1995–2001

günTER bEfoRT
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT,
SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS SEGMENT
B. 1954, B.sC.(EnG)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY 
sInCE 2007

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009:
no shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
over 35 years in the glass indus-
try, of which the last 20 years at 
albat+Wirsam 
 

mAnnE TiEnSuu
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, 
HUMAN RESOURCES
B. 1970, M.sC.(PsYC.)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY 
sInCE 2009

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009:
no shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
nokia Plc, International Human 
Resources Management positions, 
1999–2009 
 

hEnRiK REimS
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, 
MARKETING AND EMEA SALES 
B.1968, M.sC.(EnG.)
EMPloYED BY tHE CoMPanY 
sInCE 2008

SHARE OWNERSHIP AT 31.12.2009:
no shares
 
PRIMARY WORK EXPERIENCE:
Global account Manager, IBM Finland, 
2006–2007; senior Manager, IBM 
Finland, 2002–2006; Consultant, 
MECRastoR PricewaterhouseCoop-
ers oy, 1999–2002; Project Manager, 
aBB Finland, 1997–1999 
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Architectural glass » Glass used in building 
projects, e.g. façade glass, balcony glass 
and insulation glass. 
 
Bending » Glass process in which the glass 
is bent in a desired way.

Bending or flat-tempering » see temper-
ing. according to the desired end-product, 
glass is either bent or kept flat in the tem-
pering process.

Convection technology » Heat transfer 
technology by which heat transfer to glass 
is accelerated (particularly with coated 
glass).

CSP solar mirror » CsP (Concentrating 
solar Power) solar collector.

CSP technology » CsP (Concentrating solar 
Power) -energy recovery based on concen-
trating solar collector technology, utilising 
heat transfer material. 

Emissivity » a measure of the capacity of 
glass to reflect thermal radiation. Glass 
possessing a low emissivity reflects thermal 
radiation more effectively than high emis-
sivity glass.

Energy-saving glass » soft-surfaced: the 
glass is coated using a vacuum coating 
method with several thin metal layers (e.g. 
silver), which have a good thermal radia-
tion reflectance. Used to improve thermal 
insulation in insulating glass. Hard-surfaced: 
the glass is coated in manufacturing process 
with a metal layer, which has a relatively 
good thermal radiation reflectance. Can be 
used as single glasses, but generally used as 
part of an insulating glass system.

Flat-tempering machine » Glass process-
ing machine, which heats raw glass to a 
high temperature and cools it quickly. In the 
machine, a powerful compression stress 
arises in the surface layer of the glass with 
a tensile stress developing inside, which 

makes the glass stronger. Flat-tempering 
machines produce safety glass.

Float or raw glass » Flat glass, made in 
a float process from sand, soda, dolomite, 
limestone and recycled glass. During manu-
facture, the molten glass flows from the fur-
nace onto a bath of molten tin, from where 
the glass is cooled into sheets. Float glass 
is used as the raw material in most glass 
processing.

Glass processing machine » a machine 
in which raw glass is processed into a 
final product for the selected purpose. 
Glass processing machines are glass 
pre-processing machines, safety glass 
machines and post-processing machines. 
 
GPD » Glass Performance Days, the world’s 
leading glass industry conference, organ-
ised by Glaston.

Insulating glass » Element made of two 
or more glass sheets, in which the space 
formed by the glass sheets and the frames 
are air-tight sealed with elastic compound. 
the element effectively insulates a build-
ing, keeping heat inside and preventing the 
transmission of cold, outside air into the 
interior.     
 
Lamination » Glass process in which sever-
al sheets of glass are bonded together with 
special plastic film with the aid of tempera-
ture and pressure.

Low-E glass » Coated glass included in insu-
lating glass elements. the properties of the 
coated glass are modified with a silver-oxide 
coating such that thermal radiation is largely 
reflected back into the original heat source 
without changing the colour, light transmis-
sion or other mechanical properties of the 
glass compared with clear raw glass.

Parabolic mirror » Mirror used in solar 
energy production, whose cross-section is 
in the form of a parabola which collects all 

rays of light parallel to its axis so that they 
meet exactly at the same point, the focal 
point of the mirror.  
 
Pre-processing machine » Machine on 
which glass is cut, ground, drilled, washed 
or silk-screen printed.

PV glass » (Photovoltaic) solar panel – can 
be based either on light cell technology or 
on the use of special thin metal coatings.

Safety glass » Glass made by tempering or 
laminating. tempered glass is many times 
stronger than ordinary glass and when it 
breaks it disintegrates into harmless gran-
ules. laminated glass stays in its frame 
when it breaks. 

Safety glass machine » a machine on 
which raw glass is processed, after pre-
processing, into safety glass, i.e. tempered 
or laminated glass. 

Solar energy glass machine » Glass 
processing machine on which raw glass is 
processed into glass that is used in solar 
energy applications producing electricity or 
heat.  

Tempering » Glass process in which float 
glass is heated to high temperature and 
then cooled quickly. During the process, a 
powerful compression stress arises in the 
surface layer of the glass with a tensile 
stress developing inside, which makes the 
glass up to five times stronger than raw 
glass.

Terminology
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Annual General Meeting  
the annual General Meeting of Glaston 
Corporation will be held in Helsinki on 
tuesday, 13 april 2010 at 4 p.m. at the hotel 
Hilton Helsinki Kalastajatorppa.

shareholders entered in the company’s 
shareholder register held by Euroclear Fin-
land oy on March 30, 2010 are entitled to 
attend the annual General Meeting.

shareholders who wish to attend the 
annual General Meeting must register their 
intention to attend at the latest by 4 p.m. on 
8 april 2010. such registration can be made 
either:

by e-mail to tania.spare@glaston.net• 
by telephone to +358 10 500 6438• 
by fax to +358 10 500 6515 or• 
by regular mail to the address Glaston • 
Corporation, Mikonkatu 9, FI-00100 
Helsinki.

the registration must arrive before the 
registration period ends. Possible proxy 
documents should be delivered in originals 
to Glaston Corporation before the last date 
for registration.

a holder of nominee registered shares is 
advised to request without delay necessary 
instructions regarding the registration in 
the shareholder’s register of the company, 
the issuing of proxy documents and regis-
tration for the General Meeting from his/her 
custodian bank. the account management 
organization of the custodian bank will reg-
ister a holder of nominee registered shares, 
who wants to participate in the General 
Meeting, to be temporarily entered into the 
shareholders’ register of the company at 
the latest on 8 april 2010 by 10 a.m.

Dividend 
Glaston’s Board of Directors proposes to the 
annual General Meeting that no dividend
be distributed for financial year 2009. 

Glaston Corporation’s financial reporting 
schedule during 2010

Glaston’s financial statements for 1 Janu-• 
ary – 31 December 2009 are published on 
10 February 2009
the annual Report is published in Week 11• 
Interim report 1 January – 31 March 2010 • 
on tuesday, 4 May 2010
Interim report 1 January – 30 June 2010 • 
on tuesday, 24 august 2010
Interim report 1 January – 30 september • 
2010 on Wednesday, 27 october 2010

Glaston publishes financial reports and 
bulletins in Finnish and English, and they 
are also available in the company’s website 
www.glaston.net.

Briefings for analysts and the press 
will be arranged on the date of publica-
tion of each interim report at a time to be 
announced separately. 

Glaston observes a three-week quiet 
period before the publication of financial 
results. During this period, the company’s 
representatives do not meet with inves-
tors or analysts and do not comment on the 
company’s financial position.

Ordering of bulletins and publications
Glaston’s annual reports and interim 
reports can be ordered by telephone from 
+358 10 500 500 or through the company’s 
website www.glaston.net > Media > Publi-
cations > order Publications.

You can order Glaston Corporation’s 
stock exchange releases directly to your 
e-mail address. as soon as the releases are 
published, they are sent automatically to 
those who have registered for the distribu-
tion service on the company’s website  
www.glaston.net > Media > Releases > 
order releases.

Changes of address
Glaston shareholders are requested to 
notify changes of address to the bank which 
maintains their book-entry account. share-
holders registered with Euroclear Finland 
oy are requested to send a written notifica-
tion of change of address to:

Euroclear Finland oy 
P.o. BoX 1110
FI-00101 Helsinki

the change notification should mention the 
shareholder’s name, book-entry account 
number or date of birth as well as the new 
and former address. a change of address 
can also be made directly on an electronic 
form at the address www.euroclear.fi > 
Euroclear Finland.

Further information about Glaston
agneta selroos
IR and Communications Manager
tel. +358 10 500 6105
e-mail: agneta.selroos@glaston.net

Information for Shareholders



32
Glaston CoRPoRatIon
annUal REPoRt 2009

loCatIons anD aDDREssEs

gLASTon CoRPoRATion
Vehmaistenkatu 5
P.o. Box 25
FI-33731 tampere 
FInlanD
tel. +358 10 500 500
Fax +358 10 500 6016
firstname.lastname@glaston.net
www.glaston.net

helsinki office
Mikonkatu 9 
FI-00100 Helsinki
FInlanD 
tel. +358 10 500 500
Fax +358 10 500 6515

mAChinES SEgmEnT
glaston finland oy
Vehmaistenkatu 5 
P.o. Box 25
FI-33731 tampere
FInlanD
tel. +358 10 500 500
Fax +358 10 500 6190

glaston italy Spa 
Via Milano, 93
22070 Bregnano (Co)
ItalY
tel. +39 031 72 83 11
Fax +39 031 72 86 358

SofTwARE SoLuTionS
SEgmEnT
Albat+wirsam Software Ag 
Konrad-adenauer-straße 15 
D-35440 linden 
GERManY 
tel. +49 6403 970 0 
Fax +49 6403 64390 

SERviCES SEgmEnT
glaston finland oy
Vehmaistenkatu 5 
P.o. Box 25
FI-33731 tampere
FInlanD
tel. +358 10 500 500
Fax +358 10 500 6553







Board of directors’ reVieW
aNd fiNaNciaL stateMeNts
GLastoN corporatioN2009





3
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON

BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

coNteNts Board of directors’ review 4
corporate Governance Statement 2009 (* 14
consolidated Statement of financial position 20
consolidated income Statement 21
consolidated Statement of comprehensive income 22
consolidated Statement of changes in equity 23
consolidated Statement of cash flows 24
Supplemental information for Statement of cash flows 25
per Share data 26
financial ratios 27
definition of Key ratios 28
Notes to the consolidated financial Statements 29
1 Summary of Significant Accounting policies 29
2 critical Accounting estimates and Judgements and 

Assessment of Going concern
36

3 Management of financial risks 38
4 Shares and Shareholders 42
5 Segment information 46
6 Business combinations 50
7 construction contracts 51
8 Other Operating income 51
9 Materials and Other Operating expenses 51
10 employee Benefits and Number of personnel 52
11 financial income and expenses 53
12 income Taxes 55
13 depreciation, Amortisation and impairment of Assets 58
14 intangible Assets 61
15 property, plant and equipment 62
16 Associates and Joint Ventures 63
17 Available-for-sale financial Assets 66
18 inventories 66
19 receivables 67
20 Total comprehensive income included in equity 68
21 pensions and Other defined post-employment employee 

Benefits
68

22 interest-bearing Liabilities 71
23 provisions 72
24 interest-free Liabilities 73
25 financial Assets and Liabilities 74
26 derivative instruments 75
27 contingencies 76
28 Shares and Holdings 77
29 Share-based incentive plans 78
30 related parties 81

parent company income Statement, fAS 84
parent company Balance Sheet, fAS 85
parent company cash flow Statement, fAS 86
Notes to the parent company financial Statements, fAS 87
proposal for the distribution of profits 95
Auditor's report (translation) 96

(* Not included in the official Board of directors’ review and  
  financial Statements



4
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON
BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

Board of directors’ reVieW 
1 JaNuary–31 deceMBer 2009

Markets
in 2009 the economic recession strongly 
influenced demand for glass processing 
machines and the market situation was 
extremely difficult throughout the year. 
Glaston’s market in different countries 
developed unevenly during the year. As 
the european, Middle eastern and North 
American weakened further, positive de-
velopment was perceptible in the South 
American and chinese markets. 

NeW seGMeNts
Glaston changed its organisation in 2009 
and its reportable segments are Machines, 
Services and Software Solutions 

The pre-processing and Heat Treat-
ment segments were combined to form 
the Machines segment. At the same time, 
maintenance and service business was 
separated from machine operations into 
its own Services segment.

The Machines segment comprises tem-
pering, bending and laminating machines 
sold under the Tamglass and Uniglass 
brands, glass pre-processing machines 
sold under the Bavelloni brand, and tool 
manufacturing. The Services segment con-
sists of glass processing machine mainte-
nance and service activity, sales of spare 
parts and tools, and the operation of the 
glass processing factory in Akaa, finland, 
as a service activity on behalf of a customer. 
The Software Solutions segment includes 
enterprise resource planning systems 
for the glass industry and sold under the 
Albat+Wirsam brand.

MachiNes 
despite a weakening of demand, the  
Machines segment maintained its market 
position in 2009. Owing to the challenging 
market situation, price competition inten-
sified during the year, particularly with 
respect to Asian competitors.

demand for glass processing machines 
weakened significantly in all market areas, 
except for South America, where demand 
remained high throughout the year. in cen-
tral europe, demand in the German market 
stood out positively from the rest of the 
eMeA area. At the end of 2009, a gradual 
recovery of the market was also evident in 
the Asian and Australian markets. particu-
larly in the chinese market, recovery of the 
architectural glass segment was accelerated 
by local stimulus measures initiated during 
the year.

demand for solar energy glass solu-
tions weakened as customers postponed 
decision-making on projects due to eco-
nomic uncertainty and financial market 
instability. demand for comprehensive 
(One-Stop-partner) deliveries was very low 
and the emphasis on machine sales was 

on single machines.
in 2009 efficiency improvement played 

a key role in developing the operations of 
the Machines segment. An efficiency pro-
gramme initiated in 2008 continued and, 
additionally, new cost-cutting programmes 
were launched, which included significant 
personnel reductions in finland and italy. 
Moreover, the product portfolio was ration-
alised and machine production location 
arrangements were made by transferring 
the focus of production and sourcing more 
towards china. The measures were more 
extensive on the pre-processing technology.

Orders received in the Machines seg-
ment totalled eUr 88.5 (144.4) million in 
2009. January-december net sales totalled 
eUr 82.2 (168.5) million.

serVices
in 2009 the Services segment’s strongest 
market areas were Germany, Brazil, Australia 
and New Zealand. in the eMeA area demand 
for maintenance services and upgrades 
slowed down except for Germany and the UK. 
The Middle east was quieter than expected. 
demand in the ApAc area declined, except 
for Australia and New Zealand. in the 
United States demand was subdued.

The economic recession negatively im-
pacted customer demand, particularly in 
the solar energy, architectural and automo-
tive glass segments. Lower utilisation rates 
of glass processing machines reduced the 
need for spare parts. The outsourcing trend 
initiated in previous years came to a halt.

Although market demand weakened, the 
volume of the Services segment’s service 
contracts and maintenance work grew 
and demand for training services clearly 
increased. demand for spare parts fell 
significantly, however. There was greater 
emphasis on machine modernisations 
as glass processors focused on machine 
upgrades instead of new investments. The 
modernisations related to energy-saving, 
automation systems and technology up-
grades. At the end of the year, there was also 
increased demand for modernisation related 
to enhancing performance and improving 
the quality of architectural glass.

in 2009 the significance of geographical 
areas and operating close to the customer 
was highlighted. Orivesi upgrade produc-
tion in finland was transferred to Tampere 
and the integration of Uniglass machine 
maintenance into the rest of the service or-
ganisation was completed. A service point 
for Bavelloni machines was established 
in the Middle east and a new distribution 
centre set up in cinnaminson, USA. 

Orders received in the Services seg-
ment totalled eUr 42.8 (72.3) million in 
2009. January-december net sales totalled 
eUr 48.1 (76.0) million.
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softWare soLutioNs
in 2009 Software Solutions improved its 
market position in europe due to strong  
demand from medium-sized companies. 
Although demand from international 
operators generally declined, medium-
sized companies invested strongly in re-
newing their production processes towards 
a higher degree of automation, greater  
flexibility and shorter delivery times.

The Software Solutions segment did not 
lose market share, even though the mar-
kets were at a standstill or weakened outside 
europe. A factor driving demand in 2009 
was the segment’s ability to deliver highly 
integrated software solutions that facilitate 
increased automation of glass processing.

The Software Solutions segment suc-
ceeded in adjusting operations to correspond 
with shrinking markets by strengthening 
product management and implementation 
structures and processes as well as by pri-
oritising customer orientation.

in 2009 a more prominent role was given 
to cAd and line control systems in the 
product range. The Software Solutions 

segment developed customised product 
applications for the Asian market. New-
generation software systems developed 
for the window industry facilitated better 
integration of work flow. The panorama 
and AWfactory products launched in 2008 
and intended to manage integrated line 
control systems were delivered to selected 
customers as pilot projects during 2009.

Orders received in the Software Solu-
tions segment totalled eUr 10.6 (13.9) mil-
lion in 2009. January-december net sales 
totalled eUr 23.9 (28.2) million.

orders receiVed aNd order Book
Glaston’s orders received during the finan-
cial year totalled eUr 141.9 (230.5) million. 
Of orders received, the Machines segment 
accounted for 62.4%, Services 30.2% and 
Software Solutions 7.4%.  

Glaston’s order book on 31 december 
2009 was eUr 45.5 (62.5) million. Of the or-
der book, the Machines segment accounted 
for eUr 39.8 (47.3) million, Services eUr 1.6 
(11.6) million and Software Solutions eUr 4.1 
(3.5) million.

Net saLes aNd operatiNG profit
Glaston’s January-december net sales to-
talled eUr 151.8 (270.4) million. Of the net 
sales, the Machines segment accounted for 

eUr 82.2 (168.5) million, Services eUr 48.1 
(76.0) million and Software Solutions 
eUr 23.9 (28.2) million. 

The operating result, excluding non-re-
curring items, was a loss of eUr 33.6 (6.2 
profit) million, i.e. -22.2 (+2.3)% of net sales.

The operating result was a loss of eUr 
55.3 (6.1 loss) million. Non-recurring items 
in 2009 totalled eUr -21.6 (-12.3) million, of 
which eUr -17.3 (-12.3) million were rec-
ognised in the final quarter. Non-recurring 
items in 2009 consist mainly of impairment 
losses on goodwill and intangible assets 
(eUr 10.9 million), costs recognised for the 

merger of business areas (eUr 3.3 million) 
and recognition of personnel expenses aris-
ing from the efficiency programmes initiated 
at the end of the year (eUr 7.6 million). in 
addition, non-recurring items include the 
release of provisions made in 2008 totalling 
eUr 1.1 million.

The Machines segment’s operating 
result in January-december was a loss 
of eUr 38.8 (4.4 loss) million. The 2009 
operating result, excluding non-recurring 

order Book, eur MiLLioN 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

MAcHiNeS 39.8 47.3

SerViceS 1.6 11.6

SOfTWAre SOLUTiONS 4.1 3.5

totaL 45.5 62.5

Net saLes, eur MiLLioN 2009 2008

MAcHiNeS 82.2 168.5

SerViceS 48.1 76.0

SOfTWAre SOLUTiONS 23.9 28.2

pAreNT cOMpANY, eLiM. -2.4 -2.2

totaL 151.8 270.4

Net saLes, eur MiLLioN 2009 2008 2007

GLASTON GrOUp 151.8 270.4 269.8
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items, was a loss of eUr 22.9 (5.1 profit) 
million. 

The strong decline in sales weakened 
the profitability of the Machines segment, 
and the substantial cost-cutting and ad-
justment measures were insufficient to bal-
ance sharply falling net sales. in addition, 
intense price competition affected market 
prices, weakening the profitability of both 
the Machines segment and the entire sec-
tor.

Operating result of the Services segment 

in January-december was a loss of eUr 4.7 
(2.7 profit) million. The segment’s operating 
result for the full year, excluding non-recur-
ring items, was a loss of eUr 1.9 (4.9 profit) 
million. The Services result was heavily 
burdened by Tamglass Glass processing’s 
operating loss of eUr 4.6 (6.3 loss) million. 

The Software Solutions segment’s operat-
ing result in January-december was a loss 
of eUr 1.3 (3.2 profit). The segment’s operat-
ing profit for the full year, excluding non-re-
curring items, was eUr 0.4 (3.7) million.

fiNaNciNG aNd cash fLoW
The Group’s financial position remained 
reasonable. The Group’s financial position 
was affected mainly by changes in work-
ing capital and cash flow from operating 
activities as well as by a convertible bond 
(eUr 23.8 million) issued in June. cash 
flow from operating activities was eUr  
-1.2 million, of which the change in net 
working capital was eUr +28.6 million. 
cash flow from operating activities, ex-
cluding the change in net working capital, 
was negative (eUr -29.8 million) in the 
review period. cash flow from investing ac-
tivities was eUr -7.5 (-13.4) million. cash 

flow from financing activities in January-
december was eUr +12.3 (+37.8) million, 
including dividends paid in the review pe-
riod of eUr 3.9 (7.8) million. 

The equity ratio on 31 december 2009 
was 33.1 (45.8)%. 

The Group’s liquid funds on 31 december 
2009 totalled eUr 15.6 (11.5) million. inter-
est-bearing net debt totalled eUr 63.7 (57.9) 
million and net gearing was 91.9 (46.8)%. in 
the liquidity management Glaston mainly 
utilises a committed revolving credit facility. 
The revolving credit facility was renewed 
in November 2009. At the end of 2009, the 

operatiNG resuLt, excLudiNG NoN-recurriNG iteMs, 
eur MiLLioN 1-12/2009 1-12/2008

MAcHiNeS -22.9 5.1

SerViceS -1.9 4.9

SOfTWAre SOLUTiONS 0.4 3.7

pAreNT cOMpANY, eLiM. -9.3 -7.6

totaL -33.6 6.2

NON-recUrriNG iTeMS -21.6 -12.3

operatiNG resuLt after NoN-recurriNG iteMs -55.3 -6.1

2009 2008 2007

OperATiNG reSULT, eUr MiLLiON -55.3 -6.1 12.2

OperATiNG reSULT, % Of NeT SALeS -36.4 -2.3 4.5

prOfiT / LOSS fOr THe YeAr ATTriBUTABLe TO 
OWNerS Of THe pAreNT, eUr MiLLiON -53.6 -9.1 10.8

prOfiT / LOSS fOr THe YeAr ATTriBUTABLe TO 
OWNerS Of THe pAreNT, % Of NeT SALeS -35.3 -3.4 4.0

2009 2008 2007

eArNiNGS per SHAre, cONTiNUiNG OperATiONS, eUr -0.68 -0.12 0.09

eArNiNGS per SHAre, diScONTiNUed OperATiONS, eUr - - 0.05

eArNiNGS per SHAre, BASic ANd diLUTed, TOTAL, eUr -0.68 -0.12 0.14

2009 2008 2007

reTUrN ON cApiTAL eMpLOYed (rOce), % -32.1 -2.3 11.3

reTUrN ON eqUiTY, % -55.5 -7.0 7.7

The result for the financial year was a loss of eUr 53.6 (9.2 loss) million. return on capi-
tal employed (rOce) was -32.1 (-2.3)%. earnings per share were eUr -0.68 (-0.12).

Glaston has no significant revenue or expense items recognised directly in equity.

The definitions of key figures are presented in the consolidated financial statements.
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2009 2008 2007

eqUiTY rATiO, % 33.1 45.8 55.5

GeAriNG, % 114.3 56.1 15.2

NeT GeAriNG, % 91.9 46.8 7.1

iNTereST-BeAriNG NeT deBT, eUr MiLLiON 63.7 57.9 9.9

2009 2008 2007

GrOSS cApiTAL expeNdiTUre, eUr MiLLiON 8.5 18.4 34.1

GrOSS cApiTAL expeNdiTUre, % Of NeT SALeS 5.6 6.8 12.6

depreciATiON ANd AMOrTiSATiON, eUr MiLLiON 8.4 8.7 7.1

iMpAirMeNT LOSSeS, eUr MiLLiON 12.5 2.6 -

contingent liabilities are presented in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

size of the new revolving credit facility was 
eUr 74 million, of which eUr 42 million 
was in use. The revolving credit facility 
includes covenants and other commit-
ments which are linked to consolidated 
key figures. if the covenants are not 
fulfilled, negotiations with the lenders 
will be initiated. These negotiations may 

lead to notice of termination of financial 
agreements. The terms of agreement also 
include restrictions on the payment of div-
idends. Based on the restrictions dividend 
distribution is conditional on Glaston’s net 
gearing such that net gearing before and 
after a possible dividend payment does 
not exceed 80%.

capitaL expeNditure, depreciatioN  
aNd aMortisatioN
Glaston’s gross capital expenditure totalled 
eUr 8.5 (18.4) million. The most significant 
capital expenditure during 2009 was related 
to the erp project as well as to a joint ven-
ture founded in connection with the sale of 

the glass processing operations.
during 2009 depreciation and amortisa-

tion of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets totalled eUr 8.4 (8.7) 
million. in addition, impairment losses 
totalled eUr 12.5 (2.6) million, of which 
goodwill accounted for eUr 7.8 million. 

efficieNcy proGraMMe
To improve profitability and adjust opera-
tions to the market situation, efficiency 
measures were initiated throughout the 
Group in September 2008, and these 
measures were continued during 2009.

in addition to the efficiency measures 
under way, Glaston announced in April that 
it would change its structure to improve 
profitability. The pre-processing and Heat 
Treatment business areas were combined 
to form the Machines segment. The Ma-
chines segment’s new global organisation 
was appointed and active by June 2009. The 
operational restructuring proceeded in the 
autumn, focusing on completing integration 
and further improving profitability, develop-
ing the global production structure, enhanc-
ing sourcing activity and streamlining the 
product portfolio. 

Operational efficiency was enhanced by 
adjusting production, and the production 
unit located in Mexico was closed in March. 
The factory located in cinnaminson, USA 
was closed in december 2009 and produc-
tion of tempering machines manufactured 
in the USA was transferred to finland and 
china. 

in autumn 2009, Glaston initiated a 
programme to develop spare parts and 
tool operations as well as logistics, and in-

ventories in Mexico and Greensboro, USA, 
were transferred to cinnaminson, USA. in 
the Services segment, cost-cutting and 
operational adjustment measures continued. 
A unit manufacturing upgrade products in 
Orivesi, finland, was closed.

The Group had substantial temporary 
lay-off programmes under way in finland 
and italy during the year. Working time was 
shortened in Germany and the USA. 

in October 2009 Glaston announced 
an extensive adjustment programme to 
reorganise its operations. The employee 
negotiations related to the programme 
were completed in december and included, 
among other things, production capacity 
adjustment measures, product range op-
timisation, and simplification of the sales 
organisation structure. The need to cut 
jobs amounts at most around 400. The 
programme’s annual additional savings 
are around eUr 12 million and they will 
be implemented mainly in the first half of 
2010. The non-recurring costs arising from 
the planned measures amount to eUr 7.6 
million and they have been recognised in 
the final quarter of 2009. Most of these non-
recurring costs will impact cash flow in 2010.

The cost savings planned in the 
efficiency measures total around eUr 30 
million. related non-recurring costs to-
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talled eUr 11.4 million for 2009, of which 
eUr 7.6 million were related to the efficiency 
programme initiated in autumn and the 
remainder to the efficiency programme 
launched in spring, which was realised at 
only eUr 3.8 million instead of the previ-
ously estimated amount.

persoNNeL
Glaston initiated negotiations to adjust hu-
man resources significantly to the weak-
ened market situation since late 2008. 
Substantial lay-offs in finland and italy 
were initiated in late 2008 and in early 
2009 and continued during the year. it was 
decided in March to temporarily lay off 
all Glaston finland Oy personnel, exclud-
ing maintenance staff, a total around 200 
people, for 10 - 18 weeks, and the lay-offs 
continued in autumn 2009. in italy 25% of 

personnel, i.e. 100 employees, have been 
regularly laid off since december 2008. A 
shortening of working time was agreed in 
Germany and the USA.

in October 2009, Glaston initiated an 
extensive adjustment programme covering 
the entire Glaston workforce worldwide. 
The most substantial adjustment meas-
ures were directed at italy, where it was 
agreed to cut around 140 jobs, and in 
finland, where 50 employees were made 
redundant in december 2009 following 
negotiations. 

On 31 december 2009, Glaston corpora-
tion had a total of 1,160 (1,541) employees. 
Of the Group’s employees, 20% worked in 
finland and 53% elsewhere in the eMeA 
area, 15% in Asia and 13% in the Americas. 
The average number of employees was 
1,344 (1,519).

Group structuraL chaNGes 
As part of an efficiency programme initi-
ated in 2008, operations of Uniglass engi-
neering Oy were transferred to Glaston’s 
factory in Tampere, finland. Operations at 
the Uniglass factory in Ylöjärvi, finland, 
ended on 31 March 2009. 

Glaston’s subsidiary Tamglass Glass 
processing Ltd. sold its insulation and ar-
chitectural glass processing operations to 
iNTerpANe Glass Oy in March. iNTerpANe 
Glass Oy is a Glaston joint venture company. 
As of 1 April 2009, Glaston’s glass process-
ing operations consist only of solar reflector 
production at Akaa, finland, as a service 
activity on behalf of a customer. 

The pre-processing and Heat Treat-
ment business areas were merged in April 
to form the Machines segment. To boost 
sales of tools and ensure synergy benefits 
in spare parts sales and deliveries, tool 
sales were transferred during the third 
quarter from the Machines segment to 
the Services segment, with manufacturing 
and development of tools remaining in the 
Machines segment.

Glaston’s two companies in Mexico were 
merged in the second quarter, Glaston UK 
Ltd. and Albat+Wirsam Software Ltd. in the 
UK at the beginning of the third quarter, 
and Albat+Wirsam Software AG and cantor 
Software GmbH in Germany at the beginning 
of September. in italy, Glaston italy S.p.A. and 
diapol S.r.l. were merged in december.
 
chaNGes iN coMpaNy MaNaGeMeNt
Henrik reims was appointed Senior Vice 

president, Sales and Marketing as of 1 April 
2009, Topi Saarenhovi Senior Vice president 
of the Machines segment as of 22 April 
2009 and Manne Tiensuu Senior Vice presi-
dent, Human resources as of 15 May 2009. 
Arto Metsänen, M.Sc.(eng.), was appointed 
on 5 August 2009 as the company’s new 
president & ceO, and he started work in his 
position on 1 September 2009.

shares aNd share prices
Glaston corporation’s paid and registered 
share capital on 31 december 2009 was 
eUr 12.7 million and the number of issued 
shares totalled 79,350,000. The company 
has one series of share. At the end of the 
financial year, the company held 838,582 of 
the company’s own shares (treasury shares), 
corresponding to 1% of the total number of 
issued shares and votes. The counter book 
value of treasury shares is eUr 134,173.

during 2009, 28,789 of the company’s 
own shares, transferred in 2008 to key indi-
viduals on the basis of the share-based in-
centive scheme, were returned to Glaston 
corporation, as the terms for the perform-
ance period of the incentive scheme were 
not fulfilled. 

every share that the company does not 
hold itself entitles its owner to one vote 
at the Annual General Meeting. The share 
has no nominal value. each share has a 
counter book value of eUr 0.16.

during 2009, a total of 7,032,751 of the 
company’s shares were traded, represent-
ing around 9% of the average number of 
shares. The lowest price paid for a share was 

2009 2008 2007

WAGeS, SALArieS ANd BONUSeS, eUr MiLLiON 55.7 59.7 49.7

perSONNeL AT eNd Of YeAr 1,160 1,541 1,435

perSONNeL (AVerAGe) 1,344 1,519 1,288
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per share data 2009 2008 2007

eqUiTY ATTriBUTABLe TO OWNerS Of THe 
pAreNT per SHAre, eUr 0.88 1.58 1.78

diVideNd per SHAre, eUr *) 0.00 0.05 0.10

diVideNd pAYOUT rATiO, % *) - -43.0 73.2

diVideNd YieLd, % *) - 5.5 3.6

price / eArNiNGS per SHAre (p/e) rATiO -1.6 -7.8 20.3

price / eqUiTY ATTriBUTABLe TO OWNerS Of 
THe pAreNT per SHAre 1.23 0.58 1.55

SHAre price AT eNd Of YeAr, eUr 1.08 0.91 2.77

MArKeT cApiTALiSATiON, eNd Of THe YeAr, 
eUr MiLLiON 84.8 71.5 217.3

SHAre TUrNOVer (1,000 SHAreS) 7,033 3,965 7,993

SHAre TUrNOVer, % Of AVerAGe 
NUMBer Of  SHAreS 9.0 5.1 10.2

NUMBer Of SHAreS AT eNd Of THe YeAr 79,350,000 79,350,000 79,350,000

NUMBer Of SHAreS AT eNd Of YeAr, iNcLUdiNG 
effecT Of cONVerTiBLe BONd 97,619,231 - -

AVerAGe NUMBer Of SHAreS, excLUdiNG 
TreASUrY SHAreS 78,522,224 78,507,338 78,682,449

AVerAGe NUMBer Of SHAreS, iNcLUdiNG 
diLUTiON effecT Of cONVerTiBLe BONd ANd 
excLUdiNG TreASUrY SHAreS 89,143,077 - -

sharehoLders
Glaston corporation’s largest sharehold-
ers at 31 december 2009, the ownership 
distribution at 31 december 2009, and the 
share ownership by number of shares are 
presented in Note 4 to consolidated finan-
cial statements. information on the Glaston 
corporation shares owned by Members of 
the Board of directors and the president & 
ceO is presented in Note 30 to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Glaston corporation is unaware of any 
agreements or arrangements relating to 
share ownership and the exercise of votes.
 
share-Based iNceNtiVe scheMes
On 9 May 2007, Glaston’s Board of directors 
decided on a share-based incentive scheme 
for the Glaston Group’s key individuals. The 
scheme had three one-year performance 
periods, namely the calendar years 2007, 
2008 and 2009. The scheme will be settled 
in 2008, 2009 and 2010 in shares and cash. 
The proportion to be paid in cash is intend-
ed to cover taxes and tax-related costs aris-
ing to key personnel from the bonus. Shares 

cannot be disposed of within two years of 
the bonus being awarded. 

The bonus from the scheme for the 2009 
performance period was based on growth of 
the Group’s operating profit and a reduction 
of net working capital. if the targets set for 
the performance criteria of the incentive 
scheme for the years 2007-2009 are achieved 
in full, a maximum of 652,500 shares, namely 
217,000 shares per year, will be given as 
bonus from the scheme, and cash paid will 
be at most the amount needed for the taxes 
and tax-related costs arising to key individuals 
from the bonus at the time the bonus is paid.

Owing to Glaston’s weak profit develop-
ment, the Board of directors of Glaston 
corporation has decided that no bonus 
from the share-based incentive scheme 
will be paid for 2009.

in addition to the above-mentioned 
scheme, the president & ceO of Glaston 
corporation has a separate share-based 
payment incentive scheme, according to 
which 50,000 Glaston corporation shares 
will be transferred to him one year after the 
beginning of his employment relationship.

*) Board of directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting

The definitions of key figures are presented in the consolidated financial statements. The 
impact of the convertible bond on the number of the company’s shares is presented in 
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

eUr 0.92 and the highest price eUr 1.44. 
in January–december, the volume-weight-
ed average price of shares traded was 
eUr 1.18. The closing price on 31 december 
2009 was eUr 1.08.

On 31 december 2009, the market capitali-
sation of the company’s shares, treasury 
shares excluded, was eUr 84.8 (71.5) mil-
lion. The equity per share attributable to 
the owners of parent was eUr 0.88 (1.58).
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decisioNs of the aNNuaL GeNeraL MeetiNG
The Annual General Meeting of Glaston cor-
poration was held in Helsinki on 17 March 
2009. The Annual General Meeting approved 
the financial statements and consolidated fi-
nancial statements for 2008 and released the 
president & ceO and the Board of directors 
from liability for the financial period 1 Janu-
ary-31 december 2008.

The Annual General Meeting approved 
the Board of directors’ proposal of a divi-
dend of eUr 0.05 per share. 

The Annual General Meeting confirmed 
that the following will continue on the Board 
of directors for a year-long term of office: 
claus von Bonsdorff, Klaus cawén, Jan 
Lång, carl-Johan rösenbröijer, christer 
Sumelius and Andreas Tallberg. The Annual 
General Meeting decided to maintain the 
chairman of the Board’s annual remunera-
tion at eUr 40,000 and the deputy chair-
man’s annual remuneration at eUr 30,000. 
it was also decided to maintain the remu-
neration of the other Members of the Board 
at eUr 20,000 per year. The Board of direc-
tors elected Andreas Tallberg to continue 
as the chairman of the Board and christer 
Sumelius to continue as the deputy chair-
man of the Board. 

The Annual General Meeting re-elected 
as auditor the authorised public account-
ing firm KpMG Oy Ab, with the responsible 
auditor being Sixten Nyman, ApA. Annual 
General Meeting approved amendments to 
the Articles 2, 11 and 12 of the Articles of 
Association. 

authorisatioNs GiVeN By the aNNuaL 
GeNeraL MeetiNG 
The 2009 Annual General Meeting of Glas-
ton corporation authorised the Board of 
directors to decide on the acquisition of the 
company’s own shares up to a maximum of 
7,000,000 shares. The authorisation is valid 
for 18 months from the decision of the An-
nual General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting also author-
ised the Board of directors to decide on the 
issue of new shares and/or the conveyance 
of the own shares held by the company such 
that, in exemption to the pre-emptive sub-
scription right of shareholders, a maximum 
of 7,800,000 new shares can be issued and a 
maximum of 7,800,000 own shares held by 
the company can be conveyed, but such that 
the total number of shares to be issued and/
or conveyed does not exceed 7,800,000. The 
latter authorisations were not, however, valid 
at the end of the reporting period of 2009.
 
decisioNs of the extraordiNary  
MeetiNG of sharehoLders
An extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders 
of Glaston corporation, held on 8 June 
2009, authorised the Board of directors to 

decide of the issuing of shares and the is-
suing of special rights granting entitlement 
to shares, referred to in chapter 10 Section 
1 of the companies Act.

The number of shares to be issued 
under the authorisation may not exceed 
a total of 25,000,000 shares. if all shares 
that may be issued under the authorisation 
were issued, the number of shares issued 
would correspond to approximately 24% of 
all the shares in the company.

The Board of directors shall decide on the 
conditions of the issuing of shares and of spe-
cial rights granting entitlement to shares. The 
authorisation concerns both the issuing of 
new shares as well as th e conveyance of 
treasury shares. The issuing of shares and 
of special rights granting entitlement to 
shares may be carried out in exception to 
shareholders’ pre-emptive rights.

The authorisation is effective until the 
next Annual General Meeting, however 
at the latest until 30 June 2010, and it 
canceled the authorisation to decide on 
the issuing of shares given by the Annual 
General Meeting on 17 March 2009.

coNVertiBLe BoNd
On 16 June 2009, the Board of directors 
decided, based on the authorisation granted 
by the extraordinary Meeting of Share-
holders, to issue a convertible bond up to 
a maximum principal of eUr 30,000,000, 
divided into promissory notes of nominal 
value eUr 50,000. The bonds were issued in 
exception to the shareholders’ pre-emptive 
subscription rights to investors selected by 
the Board of directors. The bond was sub-
scribed to a total of eUr 23,750,000 and the 
Board of directors approved the subscrip-
tions on 17 June 2009. The bond strengthens 
the company’s financial position, optimises 
the capital structure and facilitates invest-
ments. The terms and conditions of the 
convertible bond were presented in a stock 
exchange release dated 16 June 2009. On 
28 September 2009 a total of 475 subscribed 
promissory notes were accepted for public 
trading on the official list of Nasdaq OMx 
Helsinki Ltd.

research aNd product deVeLopMeNt
research and product development expendi-
ture in 2009 totalled eUr 13.6 (14.4) million, 
representing 8.9 (5.3)% of net sales.

due to the difficult market situation and 
intensified competition, product development 
focused during the year on developing features 
of machines already on the market to allow 
the addition of new functionalities to machines 
delivered earlier. Moreover, the localisation 
of products to correspond with the require-
ments of the chinese market continued.

during the year, Glaston launched a 
number of new heat treatment technol-
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2009 2008 2007

reSeArcH ANd deVeLOpMeNT expeNdiTUre, 
eUr MiLLiON 13.6 14.4 6.3

cApiTALiSed deVeLOpMeNT expeNdiTUre iN THe 
fiNANciAL YeAr, eUr MiLLiON 3.1 4.2 9.0

reSeArcH ANd deVeLOpMeNT expeNdiTUre, 
% Of NeT SALeS 8.9 5.3 2.3

ogy machines, such as the Tamglass proe 
MAGNUM+ 3396 and 33120 machines, 
the Tamglass Syncrobend and the Tam-
glass compact machines. The Tamglass 
proe MAGNUM+ is the market’s largest 
flat tempering machine and the Tamglass 
compact is a basic flat tempering machine 
for smaller glass sizes. The Tamglass 
Syncrobend is a high-capacity machine in-
tended for the tempering of double-curved 
glass. The machine can handle rapid 
changes of glass type and variable series 
sizes, offering good capability for flexible 
manufacturing of many types of glass. in 
addition to these, the cutting product range 
was supplemented by a machine for cut-
ting laminated and coated glass. The cNc 
product range was also expanded with a 
new type of machine. 

The product development priority in the 
Software Solutions segment was the fur-
ther development of products and, among 
other things, the refining of product varia-
tions for the Asian market. 

during 2009 Glaston’s product develop-
ment operating practices were enhanced. 
product development of the former pre-
processing and Heat Treatment business 
areas was centralised into the Machines 
segment. in addition, the Uniglass product 
portfolio was also incorporated into the 
product development of the Machines seg-
ment. As a consequence of the closure of 
the factory in the USA, production and de-
velopment of the cHf product range was 
transferred to china and finland.

eNViroNMeNt
Glaston aims to be as environmentally 
friendly as possible in its operations. Glas-
ton is continually developing its processes 
in order to take the principles of sustain-
able development better into account. As a 
rule, Glaston’s own production operations 
do not load the environment significantly. 
in product development, paying due atten-
tion to energy efficiency occupies a key role 
and the goal is to make glass processing 
machines as energy-efficient as possible. 

The glass processing machines manu-
factured by Glaston have long lifetimes, and 
the entire life cycle of a machine is taken 
into account in its design. Glass processing 
machines are developed and manufactured 
to withstand constant use at high produc-
tion capacities. The modernisation of a 

machine with new technical features will 
extend the useful life of the machine and 
will, for example, reduce energy consump-
tion in glass processing.

Glaston pays special attention to the re-
cyclability of machine materials, particular-
ly with respect to components susceptible 
to wear and tear and thus often changed.

environmental problems and discussion 
of climate change have increased demand 
for products that have a positive impact 
on the environment. Besides other types 
of glass, the machines manufactured by 
Glaston are also used to produce energy 
glass, which reduces buildings’ energy 
consumption, as well as glass used in ap-
plications that produce solar energy.

risks aNd risk MaNaGeMeNt
A strategic risk for Glaston is above all the 
possible arrival of a competing machine 
technology on the market, which would re-
quire Glaston to make considerable product 
development investments. Moreover, loss 
of the Group’s market shares, particularly 
in the most strongly emerging markets 
(Asia, the Middle east) is a strategic risk. 
implementing the Group’s strategy may 
require acquisitions, the possible failure of 
which would affect financial performance 
and Glaston’s risk profile.

The development of comprehensive risk 
management is a Group-level responsibil-
ity in accordance with risk management 
policy. The business areas and units are 
responsible for recognising, managing and 
reporting risks associated with their own 
operations. The Group Treasury handles 
centrally the management of the Group’s 
financial risks in accordance with a treasury 
policy approved by and within the restric-
tions issued by the Board of directors. 

Glaston’s most significant operational 
risks include management of large cus-
tomer projects, the availability and price 
development of components, management 
of the subcontractor network, and the 
availability and permanence of personnel. 
Glaston is developing its information sys-
tems and despite careful planning, tem-
porary disruptions to operations might be 
associated with the introduction stages. 

financial risks connected with opera-
tions include foreign exchange, interest 
rate, financing, counterparty, credit and 
liquidity risks, of which the latter two have 
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grown particularly in the last year. The na-
ture of international business means that 
Glaston has risks arising from fluctuations 
in foreign exchange rates. changes in in-
terest rates represent an interest rate risk. 
credit and counterparty risk arises from 
risk associated with the payment period 
granted to customers. The liquidity risk is 
the risk that Glaston’s negotiated credit 
facilities would be insufficient to cover the 
financial needs of the business. financial 
risks and their management are explained 
in more detail in the consolidated financial 
statements.   

in protecting against possible hazard 
risk, worldwide insurance programmes cov-
ering all companies are used, in addition to 
preventive risk management measures. The 
coverage of these programmes is regularly 
reviewed as part of overall risk management.

iNforMatioN iN accordaNc With the 
ordiNaNce 153/2007 of the MiNistry of 
fiNaNce of fiNLaNd 
According to the Articles of Association of 
Glaston corporation, a shareholder whose 
proportion of all the company’s shares 
or votes conferred by the shares - either 
alone or together with other sharehold-
ers as defined hereinafter - reaches or 
exceeds 33 1/3% or 50%, is obligated on 
the demand of the other shareholders to 
redeem their shares. This redemption ob-
ligation does not affect a shareholder who 
can show that the shareholding or voting 
rights limit entailing the redemption obli-
gation was reached or exceeded before the 
relevant provision of the Articles of Asso-
ciation was entered in the Trade register. 

Glaston corporation is not a party to ar-
rangements by which financial rights con-
nected with shares or the management of 
securities are separated from each other. 

According to the Articles of Association 
of Glaston corporation, a General Meet-
ing of Shareholders elects the Board of 
directors. The term of office of Members 
of the Board of directors expires at the end 
of the next Annual General Meeting that 
follows their election. The Board of direc-
tors appoints and dismisses the president 
& chief executive Officer (ceO). The Board 
of directors has no special agreements 
with the company relating to compensa-
tion when the Board of directors resigns 

or is dismissed or its function otherwise 
terminates as a result of a public tender 
offer. The president & ceO has a special 
agreement relating to compensation in the 
event that more than 50% of the company’s 
shares is transferred to a new owner in 
connection with a merger or acquisition. 
The terms and conditions of the president 
& ceO’s employment contract are present-
ed in more detail in Note 30 to the consoli-
dated financial statements. The Articles of 
Association of Glaston corporation contain 
no special provisions on the amendment of 
the Articles of Association.

Glaston corporation has a clause in 
the terms of a loan, according to which 
the lenders have the option to demand 
repayment of the loan if control in Glaston 
changes.

reLated party LoaNs
Glaston has granted a related party loan to 
a joint venture, the conditions of which are 
presented in Note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

corporate GoVerNaNce stateMeNt
Glaston’s corporate Governance Statement 
is issued separately in this Annual report. 

separate fiNaNciaL stateMeNts of the 
pareNt coMpaNy
The separate financial statements of 
Glaston corporation have been prepared 
according to the finnish Accounting Act, 
the Accounting Ordinance and other laws 
and regulations relating to financial state-
ments. The consolidated financial state-
ments of Glaston Group have been pre-
pared in accordance with the international 
financial reporting Standards (ifrS). 

Glaston corporation’s net sales in the 
financial period were eUr 4.2 (0.6) mil-
lion and the operating loss was eUr 5.5 
(7.2 loss) million. Net financial items were 
eUr -0.6 (2.2) million and extraordinary 
items eUr 0.0 (5.1) million. The result for 
the financial period was a loss of eUr 4.6 
(0.2 profit) million.

The parent company had an average 29 
(28) employees in the financial period and 
24 (26) employees at the end of the year. 

The parent company has no branches. 
The company has not granted other related 
party loans than loans to group companies.
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pareNt coMpaNy iNforMatioN, eur MiLLioN 2009 2008 2007

NeT SALeS 4.2 0.6 0.6

OperATiNG LOSS -5.5 -7.2 -4.0

reSULT BefOre TAxeS ANd ApprOpriATiONS -6.1 0.0 8.2

iNcOMe TAx 1.4 0.3 0.4

reSULT fOr THe fiNANciAL periOd -4.6 0.2 8.5

BALANce SHeeT TOTAL 175.0 153.2 134.7

SHAreHOLderS’ eqUiTY 85.6 94.1 101.4

SALArieS ANd BONUSeS pAid 3.6 3.0 4.9

perSONNeL (AVerAGe) 29 28 13

eVeNts after the reVieW period
Juha Liettyä B.Sc.(eng.) was appointed as 
Senior Vice president of Glaston’s Services 
segment as of 2 January 2010. Liettyä has 
been employed by the company since 1986.

uNcertaiNties iN the Near future
Glaston’s uncertainties and risks in the 
near future are to a large extent linked to 
the development of the world economy. A 
significant proportion of the uncertainties are 
beyond the management’s control.

due to the economic recession Glaston’s 
markets have decreased. The subdued mar-
ket has also led to overcapacity. in addition, 
difficulties related to customers’ financing 
arrangements may limit investment 
opportunities, in which case orders may be 
postponed and those already confirmed 
may be cancelled. customers’ financial 
situation also impacts on the collection of 
receivables and on credit losses.

raw material prices have levelled off 
and subcontracting capacity problems 
have nearly disappeared. Subcontractors’ 
adjustment measures to the prevailing 
market situation may influence Glaston’s 
operations.

Glaston recognised an impairment loss 
on goodwill of eUr 7.8 million in the 2009 
result. if the international financial crisis 
is extended and the recovery of the sec-
tor delayed, it is possible that Glaston’s 
recoverable amounts will, despite the sav-
ings arising from efficiency measures, be 
insufficient to cover the carrying amounts 
of assets, particularly goodwill. if this hap-
pens, it will be necessary to recognise an 

impairment loss, which when implemented 
will weaken the result and equity. 

outLook
A limited and modest recovery in Glaston’s 
markets is expected during 2010. A market 
recovery was already perceptible at the 
end of 2009 in Asia, particularly in china. 
in South America demand remained on a 
high level in 2009 and this positive develop-
ment is expected to continue. demand for 
solar energy projects is also expected to 
develop positively.

The priorities for operational develop-
ment are improving profitability and imple-
menting the adjustment measures initiated 
in 2009. The cornerstones of our operations 
remain the architectural glass segment and 
the solar energy market. We will purpose-
fully continue strengthening our position in 
china and elsewhere in Asia. 

due to the efficiency measures performed, 
Glaston starts 2010 on a better foundation. 
it is expected that 2010 net sales will be at 
least at the 2009 level and that the operating 
result will improve significantly. 

Board of directors’ proposaL for the 
distriButioN of profits
The distributable funds of Glaston corpora-
tion, the parent of Glaston Group, are eUr 
47,632,812, of which eUr 4,577,977 repre-
sents the loss for the financial year.

The Board of directors proposes to the 
Annual General Meeting that no dividend be 
distributed from the result for the year and 
from retained earnings. eUr 47,632,812 will 
be left in distributable funds.
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Glaston corporation complies with its Articles of Association, the finnish 
companies Act and the rules of NASdAq OMx Helsinki Stock exchange. 
in addition, Glaston complies with the finnish corporate Governance 
code for listed companies, which came into force on 1 January 2009,  
with the exception that the company has no committees established by  
the Board of directors. The finnish corporate Governance code is 
publicly available at the internet address www.cgfinland.fi.

corporate GoVerNaNce 
stateMeNt 2009

duties aNd respoNsiBiLities of  
GoVerNiNG Bodies
The Annual General Meeting, Board of 
directors and the president & ceO, whose 
duties are determined mainly in accord-
ance with the finnish companies Act, are 
responsible for the management of Glas-
ton Group.

GeNeraL MeetiNG of sharehoLders
The General Meeting of Shareholders is 
the company’s ultimate decision-making 
body. it decides the duties for which it is 
responsible in accordance with the com-
panies Act and the Articles of Association. 
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) decides 
on, among other things, the adoption of the 
financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements contained therein, the 
distribution of profits and the discharge of 
the Members of Board of directors and the 
president & ceO from liability. in addition, 
the AGM elects the Members of the Board 
of directors and the auditors, and decides 
on the remuneration paid to Members of 
Board of directors and the auditors. The 
AGM, furthermore, may decide on, for 
example, amendments to the Articles of As-
sociation, share issues and the acquisition 
of the company’s own shares.

Glaston corporation’s General Meeting 
of Shareholders meets at least once per 
year. The Annual General Meeting must be 
held at the latest by the end of May. in ac-
cordance with the Articles of Association, 
a notice to attend a General Meeting of 
Shareholders must be announced no ear-
lier than two months before the last day of 
registration and no later than 21 days be-
fore the meeting in one finnish-language 
and one Swedish-language daily newspa-
per specified by the Board of directors. in 
addition, Glaston publishes the notice to 
the General Meeting of Shareholders as a 
stock exchange release and on its website. 

The president & ceO, the chairman 
of the Board and a sufficient number of 
Members of the Board must attend a Gen-
eral Meeting of Shareholders. in addition, 
the auditor must be present at the Annual 
General Meeting.

extraordiNary GeNeraL MeetiNG  
of sharehoLders
An extraordinary General Meeting of 

Shareholders is convened when the Board 
of directors considers there is good cause 
to do so, or if the auditor or shareholders 
who control one tenth of all the shares so 
demand in writing for the consideration of 
a certain issue.

sharehoLders’ riGhts
in accordance with the finnish companies 
Act, a shareholder shall have the right to 
have a matter falling within the competence 
of the General Meeting dealt with by the 
General Meeting, if the shareholder so de-
mands in writing from the Board of direc-
tors well in advance of the meeting, so that 
the matter can be mentioned in the notice. 
At a General Meeting, shareholders have 
the right to make proposals and ask ques-
tions on the issues being handled. 

Shareholders have the right to partici-
pate in a General Meeting if they are reg-
istered as shareholders in the company’s 
shareholder register eight days before a 
General Meeting. Owners of nominee-reg-
istered shares can be temporarily regis-
tered in the company’s shareholder register 
for participation in a General Meeting. 
Shareholders may attend a General Meet-
ing personally or through an authorised 
representative. Shareholders may also have 
an assistant at a meeting.

Board of directors
The Board of directors is responsible for 
the appropriate arrangement of the com-
pany’s administration and operations. The 
Board of directors consists of minimum 
of five and a maximum of nine members 
elected by a General Meeting of Share-
holders. The term of office of Members of 
the Board of directors expires at the end 
of the next Annual General Meeting that 
follows their election. According to the 
Articles of Association, a person who has 
reached 67 years of age cannot be elected 
a Member of the Board of directors.

The Board of directors elects from 
among its members a chairman and a 
deputy chairman to serve for one year at 
a time. The Board of directors has a quo-
rum if more than half of its members are 
present at a meeting. 

The Board of directors’ tasks and respon-
sibilities are determined primarily by the 
company’s Articles of Association, the finn-

(Not included in the official Board 
of directors’ review and financial 
Statements )
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ish companies Act and other legislation and 
regulations. it is the responsibility of the 
Board of directors to further the interests of 
the company and all of its shareholders.

The main duties and operating princi-
ples of the Board of directors are defined 
in the board charter approved by the 
Board. it is the Board’s duty to prepare the 
matters to be handled by a General Meet-
ing and to ensure that the decisions made 
by a General Meeting are appropriately 
implemented. it is also the Board’s task to 
ensure that the appropriate arrangement 
of the control of the company accounts 
and finances. in addition, the Board directs 
and supervises the company’s executive 
management, appoints and dismisses the 
ceO, decides on the ceO’s employment 
and other benefits, and approves the salary 
and other benefits of the executive Man-
agement Group. The Board approves the 
executive Management Group’s charter.

The Board of directors also decides on 
far-reaching and fundamentally important 
issues affecting the Group. Such matters 
are the Group’s strategy, approving the 
Group’s budget and action plans and moni-
toring their implementation, acquisitions 
and the Group’s operating structure, signifi-
cant capital expenditures, internal control 
systems and risk management, key organi-
sational issues and incentive schemes. 

The Board of directors is also respon-
sible to monitor the reporting process of 
financial statements, the financial reporting 
process and the efficiency of the company’s 
internal control, internal audit, if applicable, 
and risk management systems, to review 
the description of the main features of the 
internal control and risk management sys-
tems pertaining to the financial reporting 
process, to monitor the statutory audit of 
the financial statements and consolidated 
financial statements, to evaluate the inde-
pendence of the statutory auditor or audit 
firm, particularly the provision of related 
services to the company to be audited and 
to prepare the proposal for resolution on 
the election of the auditor.

 The Board of directors regularly as-
sesses its operations and working practic-
es. The assessment may be performed by 
the Board itself or by an external assessor. 

Meetings of the Board of directors are 
held as a rule in the company’s office in 
Helsinki. The Board of directors also vis-
its each year the Group’s other operating 
locations and holds meetings there. The 
Board of directors may also, if necessary, 
hold telephone conferences. The Board of 
directors normally meets 7–10 times per 
year. The company’s president & ceO and 
chief financial Officer generally attend 
the meetings of the Board. if necessary, 
such as in connection with the handling 

of strategy or the annual plan, other 
members of the executive Management 
Group may also attend meetings of the 
Board. The auditor attends two meetings 
per year. 

iNdepeNdeNce of MeMBers of the Board
According to an independence assess-
ment performed by the company’s Board 
of directors, all of the Board’s six mem-
bers are, in principle, independent of the 
company. excluding Andreas Tallberg, the 
Members of the Board are independent 
of the company’s significant sharehold-
ers. Andreas Tallberg is chairman of the 
Board of GWS Trade Oy (GWS Trade Oy’s 
ownership of Glaston corporation shares 
was 16.95% on 31 december 2009) and 
Managing director of Oy G.W. Sohlberg 
Ab (Oy G.W. Sohlberg Ab’s ownership was 
16.16% on 31 december 2009). Based on a 
broader assessment, however, the Board 
considers that carl-Johan rosenbröijer 
and christer Sumelius are not independent 
of the company, because they have served 
as Members of the Board for more than 
12 consecutive years. The Members of the 
Board, the president & ceO and the Mem-
bers of executive Management Group have 
no conflicts of interest between the duties 
they have in the company and their private 
interests.

coMMittees of the Board of directors
The company has no committees estab-
lished by the Board of directors and there-
fore the Board is responsible for the duties 
of the Audit committee in accordance with 
the finnish corporate Governance code 
for listed companies. The company’s Board 
of directors has considered that it wishes 
to participate as a whole in the prepara-
tion of issues specified for the Board and 
that the effectiveness of the company’s 
corporate Governance is such that it does 
not currently require the establishment of 
separate committees.

presideNt & ceo
president & ceO handles the operational 
management of the company in accord-
ance with instructions issued by the Board. 
He is responsible to the Board of directors 
for fulfilling the targets, plans and goals 
it sets. The president & ceO is responsi-
ble for ensuring that the accounts of the 
company are in compliance with the law 
and that its financial affairs have been 
arranged in a reliable manner. The presi-
dent & ceO is supported in the Group by 
the executive Management Group. 

executiVe MaNaGeMeNt Group
The executive Management Group com-
prises the president & ceO, the Senior 
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Vice presidents of the Machines, Software 
Solutions and Services segments, the 
Senior Vice president, Sales of the eMeA 
area, the Senior Vice president, Human 
resources and the chief financial Officer. 
The members of the executive Manage-
ment Group report to the president & 
ceO and assist him in implementing the 
company’s strategy, operational planning 
and management, and in reporting the 
development of business operations. The 
executive Management Group meets under 
the direction of the president & ceO. 

The chairman of the company’s Board 
of directors appoints, on the proposal of 
the president & ceO, the members of the 
executive Management Group and confirms 
their remuneration and other contractual 
terms. The company’s president & ceO 
acts as the chairman of the executive Man-
agement Group. The executive Manage-
ment Group handles the Group’s and seg-
ments’ strategy issues, capital expenditure, 
product policy, Group structure and control 
systems, and supervises the company’s 
operations. information on the members 
of the executive Management Group is 
presented on the company’s website at the 
address www.glaston.net.

iNsider adMiNistratioN
in addition to statutory insider regulations, 
Glaston complies with the insider guide-
lines for listed companies of NASdAq OMx 
Helsinki Ltd as well as the regulations and 
guidelines of the finnish financial Super-
visory Authority.

Glaston’s permanent insiders include 
the statutory insiders, namely the Board of 
directors, the president & ceO and the re-
sponsible auditor. in addition to these, other 
members of the executive Management 
Group are also permanent insiders with a 
duty to disclose their ownership in Glaston. 

Glaston’s company-specific non-public 
insider register also includes other man-
agement and employees according to their 
job descriptions. At the preparation stage 
of significant projects, the company also 
keeps a project-specific insider register. 
insiders are given a written statement of 
their inclusion in an insider register as well 
as guidelines on insider obligations. 

The company’s insider registers are 
maintained by the Group’s communications 
department, which is responsible for updat-
ing the information. Shareholding informa-
tion on the company’s permanent insiders 
as well as their related parties’ sharehold-
ings are available in the Sire system of 
euroclear finland Ltd. The information is 
also on Glaston’s website. 

auditiNG
The company has one auditor, which shall 

be an auditing firm authorised by the finn-
ish central chamber of commerce. Annual 
General Meeting elects the auditor to audit 
the accounts for the financial year, and the 
auditor’s duties cease at the close of the 
subsequent Annual General Meeting. The 
auditor’s duty is to audit the consolidated 
and parent company financial statements 
and accounting as well as the parent com-
pany’s governance, and to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements 
and the Board of directors’ review give 
true and fair view of the Group’s operations 
and result as well as its financial posi-
tion. The company’s auditor presents the 
audit report required by law to the com-
pany’s shareholders in connection with the 
annual financial statements and reports 
regularly to the Board of directors. The au-
ditor, in addition to fulfilling general com-
petency requirements, must also comply 
with certain legal independence require-
ments guaranteeing the execution of an 
independent and reliable audit. 

MaiN features of the iNterNaL coNtroL 
aNd risk MaNaGeMeNt pertaiNiNG to the 
fiNaNciaL reportiNG process
internal control is an essential part of the 
company’s administration and manage-
ment. its aim is to ensure that the Group’s 
operations are efficient, productive and 
reliable and that legislation and other 
regulations are complied with. The Group 
has specified for the main areas of its op-
erations Group-wide principles that form 
the basis for internal control.

The Group’s internal control systems 
serve to provide reasonable assurance that 
the financial reports published by the Group 
give reasonably correct information about 
the Group’s financial position. The Board 
of directors and the president & ceO are 
responsible for arranging internal control. A 
report covering the Group’s financial situa-
tion is supplied monthly to each Member of 
the Board of directors. The Group’s internal 
control is decentralised to different Group 
functions, which supervise within their 
areas of responsibility compliance with the 
policies approved by the Board of directors. 
The Group’s financial management and ope-
rational control are supported and coordi-
nated by the Group’s financial management 
and controller network. 

The Group’s financial reporting process 
complies with the Group’s operating guide-
lines and standards relating to financial 
reporting. The interpretation and applica-
tion of financial reporting standards has 
been concentrated in the Group’s financial 
Management organisation, which maintains 
operating guidelines and standards relat-
ing to financial reporting and is responsi-
ble for internal communication relating to 
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them. The Group’s financial Management 
organisation also supervises compliance 
with these guidelines and standards. 
The company has no separate internal 
auditing organisation. The Group’s finan-
cial Management organisation regularly 
monitors the reporting of segments and 
addresses deviations perceived in reporting 
and, if necessary, performs either its own 
separate internal auditing or commissions 
the internal auditing to external experts. 
control of reporting and budgeting proc-
esses is based on the Group’s reporting 
principles, which are determined and cen-
trally administered by the Group’s financial 
Management organisation. The principles 
are applied consistently throughout the 
Group and a consistent Group reporting 
system is in place.

risk MaNaGeMeNt
risk management is an essential part of 
Glaston’s management and control sys-
tem. The purpose of risk management is 
to ensure the identification, management 
and monitoring of risks relating to busi-
ness targets and operations. risk manage-
ment principles have been specified in a 
risk management policy approved by the 
company’s Board of directors, and operat-
ing practices have been specified in a risk 
management process description and in 
risk management guidelines.

The principle guiding Glaston’s risk 
management is the continuous, systematic 
and appropriate development and imple-
mentation of the risk management process, 
with the objective being the comprehensive 
recognition and appropriate management of 
risks. Glaston’s risk management focuses 
on the management of risks relating to 
business opportunities and of risks that 
threatens the achievement of Group objec-
tives in a changing operating environment. 
from the perspective of risk management, 
the company has divided risks into four dif-
ferent groups: strategic risks, operational 
risks, financial risks and hazard risks. risks 
relating to property, business interruption 
as well as liability arising from the Group’s 
operations have been covered by appropri-
ate insurances. Management of financial 
risks is the responsibility of the Group’s 
Treasury in the Group’s parent company.

Glaston’s risk management policy in-
cludes the Group’s risk management guide-
lines. risk management policy also speci-
fies the risk management processes and 
responsibilities. Glaston’s risk management 
consists of the following stages: risk iden-
tification, risk assessment, risk treatment, 
risk reporting and communication, control 
of risk management activities and process-
es, business continuity planning and crisis 
management. As part of the risk manage-

ment process, the most significant risks 
and their possible impacts are reported to 
the management and the Board of directors 
regularly, based on which management and 
the Board can make decisions on the level 
of risk that the company’s business areas 
are possibly ready to accept in each situa-
tion or at a certain time.

it is the duty of Glaston’s Board of direc-
tors to supervise the implementation of risk 
management and to assess the adequacy 
and appropriateness of the risk manage-
ment process and of risk management activ-
ities. in practice, risk management consists 
of appropriately specified tasks, operating 
practices and tools, which have been adapt-
ed to Glaston’s segments and Group-level 
management systems. risk management is 
the responsibility of the senior manager of 
each segment and Group-level function. risk 
identification is in practice the responsibility 
of every Glaston employee.

The Group Legal function is responsi-
ble for guidelines, support, control and 
monitoring of risk management measures. 
in addition, the function consolidates seg-
ment and Group level risks. The Group Legal 
function reports on risk management issues 
regularly to the president & ceO and the 
executive Management Group and assesses 
in collaboration with them any changes in 
the probabilities of the impacts of identified 
risks and in the level of their management. 
The Group Legal function also reports the 
result of  risk management processes annu-
ally to the Board of directors. 

Segment and Group-level risk manage-
ment is included in the annually repeated 
Group-wide risk management process. 
The process can also be initiated during 
the year if substantial strategic changes 
requiring the initiation of the risk manage-
ment process take place in a certain area 
of operations. 

The management group of each segment 
identifies and assesses segment risks and 
specifies the segment’s risk management 
measures by which an acceptable level of 
risk can be achieved. 

With the aid of the risk management 
process, risks are systematically recognised 
and assessed in each business segment 
and at Group level. in addition, at each level 
measures are specified which, when imple-
mented, will achieve an acceptable level of 
risk. risks are consolidated from segment 
level to Group level. Action plans are pre-
pared at each level of operations to ensure 
risks remain at an acceptable level. 

The Group’s risks are covered in more 
detail in the Board of directors’ review on 
page 11. The management and organisation 
of the Group’s financial risks are presented 
in more detail in Note 3 to the consolidated 
financial statements on page 38.
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klaus cawén b. 1957 - independent Member of the Board since 2004

education Master of Laws, LL.M.

Main occupation KONe corporation, M&A and Strategic Alliances, russia, Legal 
Affairs, Member of the executive Board since 1991

primary work experience Member of the executive Board, KONe corporation since 1991; 
employed by KONe corporation since 1983

carl-Johan rosenbröijer b. 1964 - Member of the Board since 1996

education dr.Sc.(econ.)

Main occupation Senior Teacher, Arcada University of Applied Sciences since 2003

primary work experience Teacher, University of Oulu, 2001–2003; Senior consultant, Head 
consulting Oy, 2001–2003; Teacher and researcher Svenska handel-
shögskolan, 1990–2001

claus von Bonsdorff b. 1967 - independent Member of the Board since 2006

education M.Sc.(eng.), M.Sc.(econ.)

Main occupation Head of Strategy, Business development and Marketing, Nokia Siemens 
Networks, customer and Market Operations, director since 2007 

primary work experience Nokia Siemens Networks since 2007; expert and management 
positions in Nokia plc, 1994–2007

Jan Lång b. 1957 - independent Member of the Board since 2008

education M.Sc.(econ.)

Main occupation Ahlstrom corporation, president & ceO, since 2008

primary work experience president & ceO, Uponor Group, 2003–2008; Several management 
positions, Huhtamäki Group, 1982–2003

Mikael Mäkinen served as a Member of the Board up to the Annual General Meeting held 
on 17 March 2009.

in 2009 Glaston’s Board of directors held 18 meetings, of which 8 were via telephone 
conference. The attendance of Members of the Board Government at meetings was 92.7%.

corporate GoVerNaNce iN 2009

ANNUAL GeNerAL MeeTiNG 
Glaston’s Annual General Meeting, held 
on 17 March 2009, confirmed the financial 
statements and discharged the president 
& ceO and the Members of the Board of 
directors from liability for financial year 
2008. All documents relating to the Annual 
General Meeting are available on the com-
pany’s website www.glaston.net.

exTrAOrdiNArY GeNerAL MeeTiNG Of  
SHAreHOLderS 2009
An extraordinary General Meeting of Share-
holders of Glaston corporation, held on 
8 June 2009, authorised the Board of direc-
tors to decide on the issuing of shares and 
the issuing of special rights granting enti-
tlement to shares, referred to in chapter 10 
Section 1 of the companies Act.

cOMpOSiTiON Of THe BOArd Of direcTOrS 
The 2009 Annual General Meeting elected 
the following to the company’s Board of 
directors: 

andreas tallberg b. 1963 - chairman of the Board since 2007

education M.Sc.(econ.)

Main occupation Oy G.W. Sohlberg Ab, president & ceO since 2007

primary work experience Senior partner, eqT, 1997–2006; president, MacAndrews & forbes 
international, 1992–1995; director, Business development, Amer 
Group, 1987–1991

christer sumelius b. 1946 - deputy chairman of the Board since 1995

education M.Sc.(econ.)

Main occupation chairman of the Board, Oy investsum Ab since 1984

primary work experience Managing director, Se-center Oy, 1987-2007; director, Graphex 
GmbH, 1979–1988; chairman, pyramid Advertising co. Ltd. (Lagos), 
1983–1985; Managing director, pyramid paper products Ltd. (Lagos), 
1982–1984; director, pyramid inks Manufacturing co. Ltd. (Lagos), 
1981–1985; Area representative, finska papperbruksföreningen, 
finnpap (Singapore), 1980–1981
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reMUNerATiON Of MeMBerS Of THe BOArd
in 2009 the chairman of the Board was 
paid remuneration of eUr 40,000, the dep-
uty chairman eUr 30,000 and the other 
Members of the Board eUr 20,000. in ad-
dition, the chairman of the Board was paid 
a meeting fee of eUr 800 and the other 
Members of the Board eUr 500 for those 
meetings of the Board that they attended. 
The travel expenses of Members of the 
Board are compensated in accordance with 
the company’s travel rules. None of the 
Members of the Board receives from the 
company remuneration unconnected with 
their work on the Board of directors. The 
Members of Glaston’s Board of directors 
are covered by voluntary pension insurance 
accrued from their Board of directors remu-
neration. The value of the pension insurance 
corresponds with the finnish TyeL pension 
scheme. remuneration paid to the Board of 
directors is outlined in more detail in Note 
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

preSideNT & ceO
Glaston’s president & ceO from 1 January 
to 5 August 2009 was Mika Seitovirta. Arto 
Metsänen (b. 1956) became Glaston’s presi-
dent & ceO on 1 September 2009. chief 
financial Officer Kimmo Lautanen handled 
the duties of the president & ceO from 
6 August to 31 August 2009.

reMUNerATiON Of THe preSideNT & ceO
The remuneration of the president & ceO 
consists of fixed monthly salary, an annual 
bonus and a share bonus scheme intended 
as a long-term incentive. The annual bonus 
is determined on the basis of Glaston’s 
financial performance. The indicators used 
are the Group’s result and personal targets. 
The maximum amount of the president & 

ceO’s annual bonus is 50% of the annual 
salary. Mika Seitovirta’s cash salary plus 
fringe benefits was eUr 800,870, which 
includes severance pay. in addition, he was 
paid a performance bonus of eUr 33,171.

The cash salary plus fringe benefits 
paid to Arto Metsänen in 2009 totalled 
eUr 112,000. The president & ceO’s period 
of notice is three months. in addition, the 
president & ceO is paid compensation 
corresponding to 12 months’ salary if he is 
dismissed by the company. if more than 50% 
of the company’s shares are transferred to 
a new owner in connection with a merger 
or acquisition, the president & ceO has the 
right to terminate his employment contract 
with 1 month’s notice, in which case he is 
paid one-off severance pay of eUr 200,000. 
The president & ceO also has a separate 
share bonus arrangement, according to 
which 50,000 Glaston corporation shares 
will be transferred to him one year after the 
beginning of his employment relationship.   

AUdiTiNG
At the 2009 Annual General Meeting, the 
accounting firm KpMG Oy Ab was elected 
as the company’s auditor. 

The responsible auditor was Sixten Ny-
man, ApA. Auditing units representing the 
KpMG Group have mainly served as the 
auditors of the company’s subsidiaries in 
each country. in 2009 the Group’s auditing 
costs totalled eUr 635 thousand, of which 
KpMG received eUr 558 thousand. KpMG’s 
auditing expenses for the audit for the 
financial year 2009 totalled eUr 373 thou-
sand. in addition, auditing units belonging 
to the KpMG Group have provided other 
advice to companies belonging to the Glas-
ton Group to a value of eUr 48 thousand. 
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coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

coNsoLidated stateMeNt of fiNaNciaL positioN
EUR thousand

at 31 december
Note 2009 2008

assets

Non-current assets
Goodwill 13, 14 58,403 66,183
intangible assets 14 19,671 22,546
property, plant and equipment 15 24,673 35,004
Holdings in associates and joint ventures 16 396 892
Available-for-sale financial assets 17 335 321
Loan receivables 19 5,935 -
deferred tax assets 12 8,467 7,916
total non-current assets 117,880 132,862

current assets
inventories 18 37,398 53,918
Assets for current tax 12 3,602 4,369
Trade and other receivables 19 52,228 83,258
cash and cash equivalents
cash 15,556 11,524
total current assets 108,784 153,068

total assets 226,664 285,930

equity and liabilities

equity
Share capital 12,696 12,696
Share premium account 25,270 25,270
Other reserves 1 -
reserve for invested unrestricted equity 209 177
Treasury shares 4 -3,518 -3,487
fair value reserve 46 33
retained earnings and exchange differences 87,914 98,166
Net result attributable to owners of the parent -53,590 -9,134
attributable to owners of the parent 69,027 123,721
Non-controlling interest 323 50
total equity 69,351 123,771

Non-current liabilities
convertible bond 22 20,144 -
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 22 4,726 16,440
Non-current interest-free liabilities 24 262 599
Non-current provisions 23 3,899 3,388
deferred tax liabilities 12 6,613 8,439
defined benefit pension and other defined long-term employee benefit liabilities 21 3,173 3,991
total non-current liabilities 38,817 32,857

current liabilities
current interest-bearing liabilities 22 54,409 52,995
current provisions 23 9,798 10,572
Trade payables and other current interest-free liabilities 24 53,249 63,802
Liabilities for current tax 12 1,040 1,933
total current liabilities 118,496 129,302
total liabilities 157,313 162,159

total equity and liabilities 226,664 285,930
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coNsoLidated iNcoMe stateMeNt
EUR thousand

1 January - 31 december
Note 2009 2008

Net sales 5 151,769 270,419
Other operating income 8 1,125 444
changes in inventories of finished goods and work in process -18,796 4,351
Own work capitalised - 1,136
Materials 9 -44,566 -86,157
personnel expenses 10 -70,843 -76,888
Other operating expenses 9 -51,596 -108,234
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 16 -1,536 28
depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges 13 -20,851 -11,205
operating profit / loss -55,293 -6,107
income from assets held for sale 11,17 - 83
financial income 11 2,230 2,157
financial expenses 11 -4,578 -4,218
Net financial expenses -2,348 -1,978

profit / loss before income taxes -57,641 -8,085

income tax expense 12 4,002 -1,091

profit / loss for the year -53,639 -9,176

Attributable to non-controlling interest -49 -42
attributable to owners of the parent -53,590 -9,134
Total -53,639 -9,176

earnings per share, eur, basic -0.68 -0.12
earnings per share, eur, diluted -0.68 -0.12

Net result attributable to owners of the parent, eUr thousand -53,590 -9,134
Average number of shares (1,000 shares) 78,522 78,507
earnings per share (eps), eur, basic and diluted -0.68 -0.12
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coNsoLidated stateMeNt of coMpreheNsiVe iNcoMe
EUR thousand

1 January - 31 december
2009 2008

profit / loss for the period -53,639 -9,176

other comprehensive income
Total exchange differences on translating foreign operations -743 681
fair value changes of cash flow hedges reclassified in profit or loss - -28
fair value changes of available-for-sale assets 18 17
Other reclassifications - 11
income tax on other comprehensive income -5 3
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -730 683

total comprehensive income for the year -54,369 -8,493

attributable to:
Owners of the parent -54,320 -8,506
Non-controlling interest -49 13
total comprehensive income for the year -54,369 -8,493



23
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON

BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

coNsoLidated stateMeNt of chaNGes iN equity
EUR thousand

distriButaBLe equity of the pareNt (fas)    
 EUR thousand

share 
capital

share 
premium 

account

reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity

hedging 
reserve

fair value 
reserve

treasury 
shares

retained 
earnings

cumulative 
exchange 

difference

attributable  
to owners of 

the parent 

Non-
controlling 

interest total equity

equity 1 January, 2008 12,696 25,270 269 21 - -3,933 106,779 -1,228 139,873 37 139,910
Total comprehensive income  
for the year - - - -21 33 - -9,209 691 -8,506 13 -8,493
changes in non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - 0 0
disposal of treasury shares - - -124 - - 447 - - 323 - 323
Tax effect of net income recognised 
directly in equity - - 32 - - - - - 32 - 32
reversal of unpaid dividends - - - - - - 11 - 11 - 11
Share-based incentive plan - - - - - - -196 - -196 - -196
Share-based incentive plan, tax effect - - - - - - 27 - 27 - 27
dividends paid - - - - - - -7,844 - -7,844 - -7,844
equity 31 december, 2008 12,696 25,270 177 - 33 -3,487 89,569 -537 123,721 50 123,771

share 
capital

share 
premium 

account
other 

reserves

reserve for 
invested 

unrestricted 
equity

hedging 
reserve

fair value 
reserve

treasury 
shares

retained 
earnings

cumulative 
exchange 

difference

attributable to 
owners of the 

parent 

Non-
controlling 

interest total equity

equity 1 January, 2009 12,696 25,270 - 177 - 33 -3,487 89,569 -537 123,721 50 123,771
Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - - 13 - -53,590 -743 -54,320 -49 -54,369
changes in non-controlling 
interest - - - - - - - 50 - 50 323 372
Other changes in treasury 
shares - - - 32 - - -32 - - - - -
reversal of unpaid 
dividends - - - - - - - 15 - 15 - 15
Share-based incentive plan - - - - - - - 69 - 69 - 69
Share-based incentive 
plan, tax effect - - - - - - - -18 - -18 - -18
Other changes - - 1 - - - - -1 - - - -
equity part of convertible 
bond - - - - - - - 3,437 - 3,437 - 3,437
dividends paid - - - - - - - -3,927 - -3,927 - -3,927
equity 31 december, 2009 12,696 25,270 1 209 - 46 -3,518 35,604 -1,280 69,027 323 69,351

2009 2008

reserve for invested unrestricted equity (* 209 177
retained earnings 55,520 59,279
Treasury shares -3,518 -3,487
Net profit / loss for the period -4,578 153
total 47,633 56,123

dividend per share, eUr 0.00 0.05

(*  reserve for invested unrestricted equity can not be distributed as dividends.
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coNsoLidated stateMeNt of cash fLoWs
EUR thousand

1 January - 31 december
2009 2008

cash flows from operating activities
Net result attributable to owners of the parent -53,590 -9,134
Adjustments to net result attributable to owners of the parent (1 5,064 16,352
depreciation, amortisation and impairment 20,851 11,205
interest received 703 966
interest paid -2,341 -2,469
dividends received 5 9
Other financing items -1,957 -375
income taxes paid 1,466 -9,398
cash flows from operating activities before change in net working capital -29,799 7,156

change in net working capital
change in inventories 10,689 -9,801
change in current receivables 29,375 5,095
change in interest-free current liabilities -11,464 -25,731
change in net working capital, total 28,600 -30,437
cash flows from operating activities -1,200 -23,282

cash flows from investing activities
Business combinations less of acquired cash and cash equivalents -530 666
Acquisition of other investments - -4
capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -6,450 -14,492
investments in joint ventures -2,000 -
Other 98 -
proceeds from sale of assets held for sale - 170
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1,390 217
proceeds from sale of other available-for-sale investments - 17
proceeds from sale of available-for-sale shares - 12
cash flows from investing activities -7,491 -13,416
cash flow before financing -8,691 -36,697

cash flows from financing activities
draw-down of non-current loans 23,750 17,532
repayments of non-current loans -11,857 -
change in non-current loan receivables (decrease +, increase -) - 279
draw-down of current loans 142,418 395,142
repayments of current loans -139,259 -367,286
dividends paid -3,923 -7,836
Other financing 1,220 14
cash flows from financing activities 12,349 37,845

effect of exchange rate fluctuations 375 -1,034

Net increase (- decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,033 114
cash and cash equivalents at end of period 15,556 11,524
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 11,524 11,410
Net increase (- decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,033 114

(1  Non-cash flow items included in net result attributable to owners of the parent  (e.g. gains / losses on the sale of non-current assets).

  The above figures cannot be directly derived from the statements of financial position.
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suppLeMeNtaL iNforMatioN for stateMeNt of cash fLoWs
EUR thousand

1 January - 31 december
2009 2008

Business combinations

purchase consideration on business combinations - 199

Unpaid part of the purchase consideration recorded in liabilities - 192
purchase consideration of acquisitions made in previous years -530 673

cash flow on acquisitions net of cash acquired -530 666

acquired net assets

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and shares - 160
Goodwill - 39
total net assets of business combinations - 199

Unpaid part of the purchase consideration recorded in liabilities - 192
purchase consideration of acquisitions made in previous years -530 673
cash flow on acquisitions net of cash acquired -530 666
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per share data    

2009 2008 2007
restated

earnings per share, continuing Operations, eUr -0.68 -0.12 0.09
earnings per share, discontinued Operations, eUr - - 0.05
earnings per share, eUr, basic and diluted -0.68 -0.12 0.14

dividend per share, eUr (1 0.00 0.05 0.10
dividend payout ratio, % (1 - -43.0% 73.2%
dividend yield (1 - 5.5% 3.6%

equity attributable to owners of the parent per share, eUr 0.88 1.58 1.78

price per earnings per share (p/e) ratio -1.6 -7.8 20.3
price per equity attributable to the owners of the parent per share 1.23 0.58 1.55

dividends paid, eUr million (1 0.0 3.9 7.8

Number of shares at the end of the year 79,350,000 79,350,000 79,350,000
Number of shares at the end of the year, treasury shares excluded 78,511,418 78,540,207 78,436,500
Weighted average number of shares, treasury shares excluded 78,522,224 78,507,338 78,682,449
Weighted average number of shares, excluding treasury shares, dilution effect of the 
convertible bond taken into account 89,143,077 - -

share price and turnover

Share price, year high, eUr 1.44 3.33 4.53
Share price, year low, eUr 0.92 0.87 2.70
Share price, volume-weighted year average, eUr 1.18 2.07 3.84
Share price, end of year, eUr 1.08 0.91 2.77

Number of shares traded (1,000) 7,033 3,965 7,993
   % of average number of shares 9.0% 5.1% 10.2%
Market capitalisation, end of year, eUr million 84.8 71.5 217.3

(1 The 2009 dividend is the Board of directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
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fiNaNciaL ratios
EUR thousand

2009 2008 2007
restated

income statement and profitability

Net sales 151,769 270,419 269,801
Operating profit / loss  -55,293 -6,107 12,203
   % of net sales -36.4% -2.3% 4.5%
Operating profit / loss, non-recurring items excluded -33,647 6,191 16,766
   % of net sales -22.2% 2.3% 6.2%
financial income and expenses (net) -2,348 -1,978 -15
   % of net sales 1.5% 0.7% 0.0%
result before income taxes and non-controlling interests -57,641 -8,085 12,188
   % of net sales -38.0% -3.0% 4.5%
income taxes 4,002 -1,091 -5,202
profit from discontinued Operations - - 3,784
Net profit / loss attributable to owners of the parent -53,590 -9,134 10,756
   % of net sales -35.3% -3.4% 4.0%

return on capital employed (rOce), % -32.1% -2.3% 11.3%
return on equity, % -55,5% -7,0% 7,7%
research and development expenses 13,556 14,430 6,265
   % of net sales 8.9% 5.3% 2.3%
Gross capital expenditure 8,452 18,432 34,083
   % of net sales 5.6% 6.8% 12.6%
Orderbook, eUr million 45.5 62.5 87.0

statement of financial position and solvency

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 44,344 57,550 52,080
Goodwill 58,403 66,183 67,641
Non-current assets total 117,880 132,862 125,042
equity attributable to owners of the parent 69,027 123,721 139,873
equity (includes non-controlling interest) 69,351 123,771 139,910
Liabilities 157,313 162,159 135,999
Total assets 226,664 285,930 275,909
capital employed 148,629 193,206 161,226
Net interest-bearing debt 63,723 57,911 9,906
equity ratio, % 33.1% 45.8% 55.5%
Gearing, % 114.3% 56.1% 15.2%
Net gearing, % 91.9% 46.8% 7.1%

personnel

personnel, average 1,344 1,519 1,288
personnel, at the end of the period 1,160 1,541 1,435
  in finland 227 440 425

(* continuing Operations

 (*
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Earnings per share (EPS) 
Net result attributable to owners of the parent  
Adjusted average number of shares

Diluted earnings per share
Net result attributable to owners of the parent adjusted  
with the result effect of the convertible bond
Adjusted average number of shares, dilution effect of the  
convertible bond taken into account

Dividend per share
dividends paid  
Adjusted number of issued shares at end of the period

Dividend payout ratio
dividend per share x 100
earnings per share

Dividend yield
dividend per share x 100
Share price at end of the period

Equity attributable to owners of the parent per share
equity attributable to owners of the parent at end of the period
Adjusted number of shares at end of the period
 

Average trading price
Shares traded (eUr)
Shares traded (volume)

Price per earnings per share (P/E)
Share price at end of the period
earnings per share (epS)

Price per equity attributable to owners of the parent per share
Share price at end of the period
equity attributable to owners of the parent per share

Share turnover
The proportion of number of shares traded during the period to
weighted average number of shares 

Market capitalisation
Number of shares at end of the period x share price at the end of 
the period

Number of shares at period end
Number of issued shares - treasury shares

defiNitioNs of key ratios

PEr ShArE DAtA

EBItDA
profit / loss before depreciation, amortisation and impairment, 
share of joint ventures’ and associates’ results included

Operating profit (EBIt)
profit / loss after depreciation, amortisation and impairment,  
share of joint ventures’ and associates’ results included

Cash and cash equivalents
cash + other financial assets

Net interest-bearing debt
interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents

Financial expenses
interest expenses of financial liabilities + fees of financing arran-
gements + foreign currency differences of financial liabilities

Equity ratio, %
equity (equity attributable to owners of the parent +  
non-controlling interest) x 100
Total assets - advance payments received

Gearing, %
interest-bearing liabilities x 100
equity (equity attributable to owners of the parent +  
non-controlling interest) 

Net gearing, %
Net interest-bearing debt x 100
equity (equity attributable to owners of the parent +  
non-controlling interest) 

return on capital employed, % (rOCE)
profit / loss before taxes  + financial expenses  x 100
equity + interest-bearing liabilities
(average of 1 January and end of the reporting period)

return on equity, % (rOE)
profit / loss for the reporting period x 100
equity (equity attributable to owners of the parent + 
non-controlling interest)
(average of 1 January and end of the reporting period)

FINANCIAl rAtIOS
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Basic iNforMatioN
Glaston corporation is a public limited liability company organ-
ised under the laws of the republic of finland and domiciled in 
Hämeenkyrö, finland. Glaston’s shares are publicly traded in the 
NASdAq OMx Helsinki Ltd. Mid cap in Helsinki, finland. Glaston 
corporation is the parent of Glaston Group and its registered office 
is at Vehmaistenkatu 5, 33730 Tampere, finland. The name of the 
parent company changed from Kyro corporation to Glaston corpo-
ration on 1 June, 2007.

Glaston Group is an international glass technology company. 
Glaston is a global market leader of glass processing machines 
and its customers’ One-Stop-partner, comprehensive supplier. its 
product range and service network are the most extensive in the in-
dustry. Glaston’s well-known brands are Bavelloni in pre-process-
ing machines and tools, Tamglass and Uniglass in safety glass 
machines as well as Albat+Wirsam in glass industry software. The 
operations of the Glaston Group are organised in three reportable 
segments, which are Machines, Services and Software Solutions. 
Supporting activities include head office operations.

The Board of directors of Glaston corporation has in its meet-
ing on 10 february, 2010, approved these financial statements to be 
published. According to the finnish companies’ Act, the sharehold-
ers have a possibility to approve or reject or make a decision on 
altering the financial statements in a General Meeting to be held 
after the publication of the financial statements.

Basis of preseNtatioN
The consolidated financial statements of Glaston Group are 
prepared in accordance with international financial reporting 
Standards (ifrS), including international Accounting Standards 
(iAS) and interpretations issued by the international financial re-
porting interpretations committee (Sic and ifric). international 
financial reporting Standards are standards and their interpre-
tations adopted in accordance with the procedure laid down in 
regulation (ec) No 1606/2002 of the european parliament and of 
the council. The Notes to the financial Statements are also in ac-
cordance with the finnish Accounting Act and Ordinance and the 
finnish companies’ Act. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of Glaston corporation and its subsidiaries. The func-
tional and reporting currency of the parent is euro, which is also the 
reporting currency of the consolidated financial statements. func-
tional currencies of subsidiaries are determined by the primary 
economic environment in which they operate. 

The financial year of Glaston Group as well as of the parent and 
subsidiaries is the calendar year ending 31 december. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the histori-
cal cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

The figures in Glaston’s consolidated financial statements are 
mainly presented in eUr thousands. due to rounding differences 
the figures presented in tables do not necessarily add up to the 
totals of the tables.

NeW accouNtiNG staNdards
Glaston has applied the following new or revised or amended 

standards and interpretations from 1 January, 2009:
iAS 23 (revised) Borrowing costs• 
ifrS 8 Operating Segments• 
Amendments to iAS 32 financial instruments: presentation and • 
iAS 1 presentation of financial Statements – puttable financial 
instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
Amendment to iAS 39 financial instruments: recognition and • 
Measurement – eligible Hedged items
Amendments to ifrS 7 financial instruments: disclosures – • 
improving disclosures about financial instruments
Amendments to ifric 9 and iAS 39: embedded derivatives• 
in addition, Glaston applies the annual improvements to ifrSs 

issued in May 2008.
Applying ifrS 8 did not have any material effect on the finan-

cial information of Glaston.
Applying revised iAS 23 Borrowing costs changed Glaston’s 

accounting principles from 1 January, 2009. from that date on the 
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised to 
the acquisition cost of the asset. The capitalisation applies mainly 
to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Other new or amended standards or interpretations applicable 
from 1 January, 2009 are not material for Glaston Group.

Glaston will apply the following new or revised or amended 
standards and interpretations from 1 January, 2010: ‘

ifrS 3 (revised) Business combinations• 
Amendments to iAS 27 consolidated and Separate financial • 
Statements.
ifrS 2 Share-based payments – Group cash-settled Share-• 
based payment Transactions
in addition, Glaston will apply the annual improvements to 

ifrSs issued in April 2009.
in accordance with the revised ifrS 3 standard all acquisition-

related costs arising from the business combinations made after 
1 January 2010 will be recognised in profit or loss and not capi-
talised as a part of the purchase consideration, as previously has 
been done. in addition, all consideration transferred in the business 
combination will be measured at the acquisition date fair value, and 
liabilities classified as contingent consideration will subsequently 
be measured at fair value with any resulting gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss. for each business combination it will be possible 
to choose, whether the non-controlling interest will be measured 
at fair value or as the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s net assets. This choice will have an effect on the 
goodwill arising from the business combination.

in accordance with the revised iAS 27 standard, the effects of the 
transactions made with non-controlling interests will be recognised 
in equity, if there is no change in control. These transactions will 
not result in goodwill or gains or losses. if the control is lost, the 
possible remaining ownership share will be measured at fair value 
and the resulting gain or loss will be recognised in profit or loss. 
Also, in accordance with the revised standard, total comprehensive 
income will be attributed also to non-controlling interest even if this 
will result in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

The change of iAS 36 impairment of Assets included in the an-
nual improvements of ifrSs will change the allocation of goodwill 

Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

Note 1
suMMary of siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLicies 



30
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON
BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

in Glaston. currently goodwill is allocated to reportable segments 
aggregated from operating segments. According to the change in 
the standard, the unit to which the goodwill can be allocated can-
not be larger than an operating segment before it is aggregated to 
be a part of a reportable segment. 

Other new or amended standards or interpretations applicable 
from 1 January, 2010 are not material for Glaston Group.

Glaston will apply the following new or revised or amended 
standards and interpretations from 1 January, 2011:

iAS 24 (revised) related party disclosures• 
Amendments to iAS 32 financial instruments: presentation – • 
classification of rights issues
Amendment to ifric 14 iAS 19 prepayments of a Minimum • 
funding requirement
ifric 19 extinguishing financial Liabilities with equity instru-• 
ments
ifric 19 extinguishing financial Liabilities with equity instru-

ments can have an effect on Glaston’s result, if Glaston’s convert-
ible bond is converted to equity instruments.

Other new or amended standards or interpretations applicable 
from 1 January, 2011 are not material for Glaston Group.

Glaston will apply the following new or revised or amended 
standards and interpretations from 1 January, 2013:

ifrS 9 financial instruments• 

coNsoLidatioN priNcipLes
The consolidated financial statements include the parent and its 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are companies in which the parent has, 
based on its holding, more than half of the voting rights directly or 
via its subsidiaries or over which it otherwise has control. divested 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
until the control is lost, and companies acquired during the report-
ing period are included from the date when the control has been 
transferred to Glaston. Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted 
for under the purchase method.

Joint ventures, in which the Group exercises control together 
with other parties, are accounted for using the equity method in 
the consolidated financial statements. Also associates, where the 
Group has a significant influence (holding normally 20 - 50 percent), 
are accounted for using the equity method. The Group’s share of 
the joint ventures’ and associates’ net results for the financial year 
is recognised as a separate item in profit or loss. The Group’s inter-
est in a joint venture or an associate is carried in the statement of 
financial position at an amount that reflects its share of the net as-
sets of the joint venture or associate together with goodwill on ac-
quisition, if such goodwill exists. When the Group’s share of losses 
exceeds the carrying amount of the joint venture or an associate, 
the carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further 
losses ceases unless the Group is committed to satisfy obligations 
of the joint venture or associate by guarantees or otherwise.

Other shares, i.e. shares in companies in which Glaston owns 
less than 20 percent of voting rights, are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets and presented at cost or fair value in the 
statement of financial position, and dividends received from them 
are recognised in profit or loss.

All inter-company transactions are eliminated as part of the 

consolidation process. Non-controlling interests are presented 
separately in arriving at the net profit or loss attributable to owners 
of the parent. They are also shown separately within equity. if the 
Group has a contractual obligation to redeem the share of the non-
controlling interest with cash or cash equivalents, non-controlling 
interest is classified as a financial liability. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and 
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the similar way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment.

foreiGN suBsidiaries
in the consolidated financial statements, the income statements, 

statements of comprehensive income and statements of cash flows 
of foreign subsidiaries have been translated into euros using the 
average exchange rates of the reporting period and the statements 
of financial positions have been translated using the closing ex-
change rates at the end of the reporting period. 

The exchange difference arising from translating the income 
statements, statements of comprehensive income and statements 
of financial position using the different exchange rates is recog-
nised as other comprehensive income and included in equity as 
cumulative exchange difference. exchange differences arising from 
the translation of the net investments in foreign subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in non-euro-area are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income and included in equity as cumulative 
exchange difference. 

On the disposal of all or part of a foreign subsidiary, a joint ven-
ture or an associate, the cumulative amount or proportionate share 
of the exchange difference is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss as a reclassification item in the same period in which the gain 
or loss on disposal is recognised.

traNsactioNs iN foreiGN curreNcy 
in their own day-to-day accounting the Group companies trans-
late transactions in foreign currencies into their own reporting 
or functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, the 
unsettled balances of foreign currency transactions are meas-
ured at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. foreign exchange gains and losses arising from trade 
receivables are entered as adjustments of net sales and foreign 
exchange gains and losses related to trade payables are recorded 
as adjustments of purchases. foreign exchange gains and losses 
arising from financial items are recorded as financial income and 
expenses.
 
fiNaNciaL assets aNd LiaBiLities
financial assets and liabilities of Glaston have been classified as 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

A financial asset is derecognised from the statement of financial 
position when Glaston’s contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to 
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an external party and the transfer fulfills the asset derecognition 
criteria of iAS 39.

 A financial liability or a part of a financial liability is removed 
from the statement of financial position when the liability is extin-
guished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is dis-
charged or cancelled or expired. 

deriVATiVe fiNANciAL iNSTrUMeNTS AT fAir VALUe THrOUGH  
prOfiT Or LOSS ANd HedGe AccOUNTiNG
derivatives, which do not meet hedge accounting criteria, are 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
and changes in the fair values of these derivative instruments are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

derivatives are recorded in the statement of financial position 
at their fair values. fair values of publicly traded derivatives are 
calculated based on quoted market rates at the end of the reporting 
period. All Glaston’s derivatives are publicly traded. fair values of 
forward foreign exchange contracts are determined using forward 
exchange market rates at the end of the reporting period. At the 
end of the reporting periods of 2009 and 2008, Glaston had no other 
derivatives than forward foreign exchange contracts.

Most of the Group’s derivative transactions, while providing 
economic hedges, do not qualify for hedge accounting under iAS 
39, and therefore changes in the fair values of these derivative 
instruments are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Group 
companies mainly hedge their sales in foreign currency as well as 
those orders received, for which there are firm commitments. The 
hedging instruments used are forward contracts mainly made with 
Group Treasury or directly with banks. These hedges are recog-
nised in profit or loss as adjustment of net sales.

if the hedge accounting criteria are fulfilled, derivatives are 
reported as cash flow hedges in accordance with iAS 39 hedge 
accounting principles. in that case the changes in fair value of the 
derivatives are recognised in other comprehensive income net of 
tax, and included in hedging reserve in equity. ineffective part of the 
hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The cumulative 
gain or loss of the derivative recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity in profit or loss as a reclassifica-
tion item in the same period in which the hedged item affects profit 
or loss. Hedge accounting was not applied during the reporting 
period 2009 nor at the end of 2008.

changes in the fair value of foreign currency derivatives desig-
nated as hedges of net investment in foreign entities, and which are 
effective hedges, are recognised in other comprehensive income 
net of tax, and included in the equity in cumulative exchange dif-
ference. ineffective part of the hedge is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. Glaston had no net investment hedges in foreign enti-
ties in 2009 or 2008.

derivative instruments are included in current assets or liabili-
ties in the statement of financial position. Trade date accounting is 
used in recognising purchases and sales of derivative instruments.
 
OTHer ASSeTS ANd LiABiLiTieS AT fAir VALUe THrOUGH prOfiT Or LOSS
Other assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in-
clude mainly Glaston’s current investments, which are classified as 
held for trading, i.e. which have been acquired or incurred princi-

pally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. Other assets 
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are included in cur-
rent assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position.

fair values of other financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are estimated to approximate their carrying 
amounts because of their short maturities. Trade date accounting 
is used in recognising purchases and sales of other assets and li-
abilities at fair value through profit or loss.

LOANS ANd receiVABLeS
Loans and receivables are assets which are not included in deriva-
tive assets. Loans and receivables arise when money, goods or 
services are delivered to a debtor. They are not quoted in an active 
market and payments related to them are either fixed or determi-
nable. Loans and receivables granted by the Group are measured at 
amortised cost. 

Loans and receivables include loan receivables, trade receivables, 
other receivables and cash. They are included in current or non-
current financial assets in accordance with their maturity. Loan and 
trade receivables falling due after 12 months are discounted, and the 
increase in the receivable which reflects the passage of time is rec-
ognised as interest income in financial income and expenses. 

Trade receivables are carried at the original invoice amount less 
the share of the discounted interest and an estimate made for doubt-
ful receivables. estimate made for doubtful receivables is based on a 
periodic review of all outstanding amounts. for example payment de-
faults or late payments are considered as indications of impairment 
of the receivable. impairment losses of trade receivables are record-
ed in a separate allowance account within trade receivables, and the 
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss as other operating 
expenses. if the impairment loss is final, the trade receivable is dere-
cognised from the allowance account. if a payment is later received 
from the impaired receivable, the received amount is recognised in 
profit or loss as a deduction of other operating expenses. 
 
AVAiLABLe-fOr-SALe fiNANciAL ASSeTS
Available-for-sale financial assets are assets not classified as deriva-
tive assets, assets at fair value through profit or loss or loans and 
receivables.

Glaston has classified other shares than shares in joint ventures 
or associates as available-for-sale financial assets. Available-for-
sale assets include also other non-current investments.

Glaston records changes in fair value of available-for-sale assets 
as other comprehensive income net of tax, and they are included in 
fair value reserve in equity until the assets are disposed, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity in profit or 
loss as a reclassification item. 

Listed investments are measured at the market price at the end 
of the reporting period. investments, for which fair values cannot be 
measured reliably, such as unlisted equities, are reported at cost or 
at cost less impairment. if the available-for-sale asset is impaired, 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Trade date accounting is used in recognising purchases and sales 
of available-for-sale financial assets. 

Available-for-sale assets are included in non-current assets in the 
statement of financial position.
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cASH ANd cASH eqUiVALeNTS
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and other financial assets. 
Other financial assets are highly liquid investments with remaining 
maturities at the date of acquisition of three months or less. Bank 
overdrafts are included in current interest-bearing liabilities.

fiNANciAL LiABiLiTieS MeASUred AT AMOrTiSed cOST
On initial recognition financial liabilities are measured at their fair 
values that are based on the consideration received. Subsequently, 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Transaction costs are included in the acquisition cost.

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include convert-
ible bond pension loans, loans from financial institutions, finance 
lease liabilities, commercial papers, trade payables and advances 
received. They are included in current or non-current liabilities in ac-
cordance with their maturity.

interest expenses are accrued for and mainly recognised in profit 
or loss for each period. Applying revised iAS Borrowing costs 
changed, however, Glaston’s accounting principles from 1 January, 
2009. from that date on, the borrowing costs that are directly attribut-
able to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
will be capitalised to the acquisition cost of the asset. The capitali-
sation applies mainly to property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets.

Glaston issued in June 2009 a convertible bond. The convertible 
bond is classified and recognised partly as equity and partly as a 
financial liability in accordance with iAS 32 financial instruments: 
presentation. The fair value of the convertible bond is presented in 
Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements. even though the 
convertible bond is listed, there weren’t any transactions with the 
bond in 2009, so the fair value of the bond has been measured using 
the pricing model used when the bond was issued.

reVeNue recoGNitioN
Net sales include the total invoicing value of products sold and 
services provided less discounted interest and sales tax, cash 
discounts and rebates. foreign exchange differences arising from 
trade receivables are recognised as sales adjustments.

revenue is recognised after the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the goods have been transferred to the buyer. Normally, revenue 
recognition takes place at the date of the delivery in accordance 
with the delivery terms. revenue from services rendered and repa-
ration work made is recognised in profit or loss when the service 
has been rendered or the work has been finished. 

revenue from tailor-made glass processing machine deliver-
ies is recognised based on a milestone method, according to which 
revenue from a glass processing machine is recognised when the 
machine delivery leaves the manufacturing plant and the revenue 
from the installation is recognised when the machine has been 
installed and is taken into use by the customer. The stage of com-
pletion is determined project-specifically as the ratio between the 
costs incurred and attributable to the work performed by the end 
of the reporting period and the total estimated costs of the project. 
costs which are attributable to a project, for which revenue is not 
yet recognised, are included in inventories as unfinished construc-
tion contracts.

peNsioNs aNd other LoNG-terM eMpLoyee BeNefits
The Group has various pension plans in accordance with the local 
conditions and practices in the countries where it operates. The 
pension plans are classified as defined contribution plans or defined 
benefit plans. The schemes are generally funded through payments 
to insurance companies as determined by actuarial calculations. 

 The contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to 
profit or loss in the period to which the contributions relate.

in addition to defined benefit pensions, Glaston has other long-
term employee benefits, such as termination benefits. These ben-
efits are accounted for as post-employment benefits, and they are 
presented separately from defined benefit pensions. 

The obligations for defined benefit plans have been calculated 
separately for each plan. defined benefit liabilities or assets, which 
have arisen from the difference between the present value of the 
obligations and the fair value of plan assets, have been entered in 
the statement of financial position.

The defined benefit obligation is measured as the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows using interest rates of govern-
ment securities that have maturity terms approximating the terms 
of related liabilities or similar long-term interests.

for the defined benefit plans, costs are assessed using the pro-
jected unit credit method. Under this method the cost is charged to 
profit or loss so as to spread over the service lives of employees. 

Glaston records actuarial gains and losses of defined benefit 
plans using the so called corridor method, which means that ac-
tuarial gains and losses are recognised only to the extent that they 
exceed 10 percent of the greater of the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. if the actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised, they are recognised in profit or 
loss over the expected average remaining working lives of the em-
ployees participating in the plan. 

share-Based payMeNts
SHAre-BASed iNceNTiVe pLAN
The share-based incentive plan of Glaston is a combination of 
shares and a cash payment. The granted amount of the incentive 
plan, settled in shares, is measured at fair value at grant date, 
and the cash-settled part of the plan is measured at fair value at 
the reporting date or at the date when the shares were surren-
dered. The persons involved in the share-based incentive plan are 
not allowed to transfer the shares within two years from date of the 
reward payment. This period is considered to be part of the vesting 
period of the plan.

The expenses arising from the incentive plan are recognised in 
profit or loss during the vesting period. The unpaid cash-settled 
part of the incentive plan is recorded as a liability in the statement 
of financial position and the part to be settled in shares is recog-
nised in retained earnings in equity net of tax. Glaston has recorded 
the personnel costs arising from the share-based incentive plan to 
the extent it is liable to pay them. The share-based incentive plans 
are described in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

SYNTHeTic OpTiONS
in addition, the Group had a share-based payment programme 
which ended in 2008. Within the programme the key manage-
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ment of the Group was granted share appreciation rights (synthetic 
options). The payments have been settled in cash. The expenses 
arising from the programme were recognised as employee benefit 
expenses in profit or loss during the vesting period.  

curreNt aNd deferred taxes
The consolidated financial statements include current taxes, which 
are based on the taxable results of the group companies for the re-
porting period together with tax adjustments for previous reporting 
periods, calculated in accordance with the local tax rules, and the 
change in the deferred tax liabilities and assets.

income taxes which relate to items recognised in other compre-
hensive income are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

The Group’s deferred tax liabilities and assets have been cal-
culated for temporary differences, which have been obtained by 
comparing the carrying amount of each asset or liability item with 
their tax bases. deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and tax losses to the extent that it is prob-
able that taxable profit will be available, against which tax credits 
and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. in calculating 
deferred tax liabilities and assets, the tax rate used is the tax rate in 
force at the time of preparing the financial statements or which has 
been enacted by end of the reporting period.

principal temporary differences arise from depreciation and am-
ortisation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, de-
fined benefit plans, recognition of net assets of acquired companies 
at fair value, measuring available-for-sale assets and derivative 
instruments at fair value, inter-company inventory profits, share-
based payments and confirmed tax losses.

iNtaNGiBLe assets 
intangible asset is recognised in the balance sheet if its cost 

can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the 
Group. intangible assets are stated at cost and amortised on a 
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. intangible 
assets with indefinite useful life are not amortised, but tested an-
nually for impairment. 

Acquired intangible assets recognised as assets separately 
from goodwill are recorded at fair value at the time of the acquisi-
tion of the subsidiary.

The estimated useful lives for intangible assets are as follows: 

computer software, patents, 
licenses, trademarks, product rights 3 - 10 years 
capitalised development expenditure   5 - 7 years
Other intangible assets   5 - 10 years 
 
research costs are expensed as incurred. expenditure on develop-
ment activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or 
design for the production of new or substantially improved products, 
is capitalised if the product is technically and commercially feasible 
and the Group has sufficient resources to complete development and 
to use or sell the intangible asset. Amortisation of the capitalised 
expenditure starts when the asset is available for use. The intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested annually for impairment. 

research expenditure and development expenditure recognised in 
profit or loss are recognised in operating expenses. 

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the acquisition cost 
of intangible assets if the intangible assets are qualifying assets as 
defined in iAS 23 Borrowing costs. in 2009 Glaston did not have any 
qualifying assets, so no borrowing costs were capitalised.

GoodWiLL
Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over fair 
value of the assets less liabilities of the acquired entity. Goodwill 
arising from the acquisition of foreign entities of acquisitions made 
after 1 January, 2004, is treated as an asset of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing exchange rates at the end of the report-
ing period. Goodwill arising from the acquisitions of foreign entities 
made before 1 January, 2004, has been translated into euros at the 
foreign exchange rate prevailing on the acquisition date. 

Acquisitions made after 1 January, 2004, have been recognised 
in accordance with ifrS 3. purchase consideration has been allo-
cated to intangible assets, if they have met the recognition criteria 
stated in iAS 38 (intangible Assets). Acquisitions made before 1 
January, 2004, have not been restated to be in accordance with 
ifrS-standards. The revised ifrS 3 standard will be applied for 
business combinations made after 1 January, 2010.

in accordance with ifrS 3 Business combinations, goodwill is 
not amortised. The carrying amount of goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment. The testing is made more frequently if there are 
indications of impairment of the goodwill. Any possible impair-
ment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Glaston reorganised its businesses and re-determined its 
reportable segments in spring 2009 in accordance with its new 
operational model. The goodwill has been reallocated to the seg-
ments accordingly. 
 
property, pLaNt aNd equipMeNt
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of production overheads. When an asset 
consists of major components with different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items. Assets from acquisition of a sub-
sidiary are stated at their fair values at the date of the acquisition. 

depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over expected 
useful lives. Land is not depreciated since it is deemed to have in-
definite useful life.

The most common estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
Buildings and structures  25 - 40 years
Heavy machinery  10 - 15 years 
Other machinery and equipment      3 - 5 years
iT equipment    3 - 10 years
Other tangible assets    5 - 10 years

Gain on the sale of property, plant and equipment is included in 
other operating income and loss in operating expenses. 

The costs of major inspections or the overhaul of property, 
plant and equipment items, that occur at regular intervals and are 
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identified as separate components, are capitalised and depreciated 
over their useful lives. Ordinary maintenance and repair charges 
are expensed as incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the acquisition cost 
of tangible assets if the tangible assets are qualifying assets as 
defined in iAS 23 Borrowing costs. in 2009 Glaston did not have 
any qualifying assets, so no borrowing costs were capitalised.

NoN-curreNt assets heLd for saLe aNd discoNtiNued operatioNs
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and shown sepa-
rately in the statement of financial position if their carrying amounts 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. in order to be classified as held for 
sale the asset must be available for immediate sale in its present 
condition and the sale must be highly probable. in addition, the sale 
should qualify for recognition of a complete sale within one year 
from the date of the classification.

An asset classified as held for sale is measured at the lower of 
its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and it is not 
depreciated. 

 ifrS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and discontinued 
Operations is not applied retrospectively if the valuations and other 
information required by the standard were not obtainable at the 
time the classification criteria were met.

A discontinued operation is a segment or a unit representing a 
significant geographical area. A coordinated disposal plan has been 
prepared regarding the discontinued operation. The profit for the 
period attributable to the discontinued operation is presented sepa-
rately in the consolidated income statement.  

iMpairMeNt of assets
Annual impairment tests for goodwill are performed during the 
fourth quarter of the year. Other assets of the Group are evaluated at 
the end of each reporting period or at any other time, if events or cir-
cumstances indicate that the value of an asset has been impaired. if 
there are indications of impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated, based on the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. if subsequently recording the 
impairment loss a positive change has occurred in the estimates of 
the recoverable amount, the impairment loss made in previous years 
is reversed no more than up to the value which would have been 
determined for the asset item if an impairment loss had not been 
booked on it in previous years. for goodwill, a recognised impair-
ment loss is not reversed.

cash flow projections have been calculated on the basis of 
reasonable and supportable assumptions. They are based on the 
most recent financial plans and forecasts that have been approved 
by management. estimated cash flows are used for a maximum of 
five years. cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the 
most recent plans and forecasts are estimated by extrapolating the 
projections using a steady or declining growth rate. The discount 
rate is the weighted average cost of capital. it is a pre-tax rate and 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money at 
the time of review and the risks related to the assets.

iNVeNtories
inventories are reported at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. cost is determined on a first in first out (fifO) basis, or 
alternatively, weighted average cost. Net realisable value is the 
amount which can be realised from the sale of the asset in the 
normal course of business, after allowing for the estimated costs 
of completion and the costs necessary to make the sale. 

The cost of finished goods and work in process includes materi-
als, direct labour, other direct costs and a systematically allocated 
appropriate share of variable and fixed production overheads. As 
Glaston’s machine projects are usually not considered to be quali-
fying assets as defined in iAS 23, borrowing costs are not included 
in the cost of inventory of normal machine projects.

GoVerNMeNt GraNts
Government or other grants are recognised in profit or loss in the 
same periods in which the corresponding expenses are incurred. 
Government grants received to acquire property, plant and equip-
ment are reduced from the acquisition cost of the assets in question.  

accouNtiNG for Leases
Glaston Group has entered into various operating leases, the pay-
ments under which are treated as rentals and charged to profit or 
loss over the lease term.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where Glaston has 
substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership, are classified 
as finance leases. finance leases are capitalised at the inception 
of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 
allocated between liability and finance charges. The lease liabilities 
net of finance charges are included in interest-bearing liabilities, with 
the interest element charged to profit or loss over the lease period. 

property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lease 
contracts are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the 
asset or the lease period.

The Group has acquired production plants and machinery and 
equipment under finance leases.

ifric 4 determining Whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease is applied to such agreements, which are not leases in legal 
form, but which in substance convey the right to use an asset for 
an agreed period of time in return for a payment. if an arrangement 
or part of it is determined to be a lease, it or part of it is classified 
as finance or operating lease and accounted for under the guid-
ance in iAS 17 Leases.

proVisioNs
A provision is recognised when as a consequence of some previous 
event there has arisen a legal or constructive obligation, and it is 
probable, that this will cause future expenses and the amount of 
the obligation can be evaluated reliably. 

A restructuring provision is booked only when a detailed and 
fully compliant plan has been prepared for it and implementation 
of the plan has been started or notification of it has been made 
known to those whom the arrangement concerns. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the report-
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ing period. if the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying 
products are sold. The provision is estimated on the basis of his-
torical warranty expense data.  
 
seGMeNt iNforMatioN
Glaston reorganised its businesses and re-determined its report-
able segments in spring 2009 in accordance with its new opera-
tional model.

The reportable segments of Glaston are Machines, Services 
and Software Solutions. The reportable segments apply Glaston 
Group’s accounting and measurement principles. Glaston follows 
the same commercial terms in transactions between segments as 
with third parties.

The reportable segments consist of operating segments, which 
have been aggregated in accordance with the criteria of ifrS 8.12. 
Operating segments have been aggregated, when the nature of the 
products and services is similar, the nature of the production proc-
ess is similar, as well as the type or class of customers. Also the 
methods to distribute products or to provide services are similar. 

The reportable segments are disclosed in more detail in Note 5 
to the consolidated financial statement.    

criticaL accouNtiNG estiMates aNd JudGeMeNts
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ifrS 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 
and the recognised amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

in addition, management uses judgement in applying the ac-
counting principles and in choosing the applicable accounting poli-
cies, if ifrS allow alternative methods.

The following items include critical accounting estimates: im-
pairment testing of assets; estimated fair values of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets acquired in an acquisition 
and their estimated useful lives; useful lives of other intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment; future economic ben-
efits arising from capitalised development cost; measurement of 
inventories and trade receivables; recognition and measurement 
of deferred taxes; estimates of the amount and probability of provi-
sions; actuarial assumptions used in defined benefit plans. 

The critical accounting estimates and judgements are described 
in more detail in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

diVideNds
dividends proposed by the Board of directors are not recorded 
in the financial statements until they have been approved by the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

treasury shares
Treasury shares acquired by the company and the related costs are 
presented as a deduction of equity. Gain or loss on surrender of 
treasury shares are recorded in reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity net of tax.

earNiNGs per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net result 
attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year, excluding shares 
acquired by the Group and held as treasury shares. 

When calculating diluted earnings per share, the net result at-
tributable to owners of the parent is adjusted with the effect on 
profit or loss of the convertible bond and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year is adjusted by the 
effect of the convertible bond on the number of shares.

order Book
Glaston’s order book includes the binding undelivered orders of 
the Group at the end of the reporting period. Orders for new ma-
chines are recognised in the order book only after receiving a bind-
ing agreement and either down-payment or a letter of credit. 

orders receiVed 
Glaston’s orders received include the binding orders received and 
recognised in the order book during the reporting period as well as 
net sales of the service business, including net sales of spare parts 
and tools. Machine upgrades, which belong to the service business, 
are included in orders received based on the binding orders 
received and recognised in the order book during the reporting 
period.

 
audit
quarterly information as well as interim reports are not audited.



36
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON
BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

Note 2
criticaL accouNtiNG estiMates aNd JudGeMeNts aNd assessMeNt of GoiNG coNcerN

When preparing financial statements, Glaston’s management as-
sesses Glaston’s ability to continue as going concern. Glaston’s 
management has no information of such events or circumstances 
which may cast significant doubt on Glaston’s ability to continue as 
going concern regardless of the significant loss of the 2009 report-
ing period. Thanks to major restructuring programs and cost savings 
arising from them, Glaston’s profitability is estimated to improve. 
Glaston’s financing has been secured with the new revolving credit 
facility agreement which was signed during the latter part of 2009. if 
the covenants of the credit facility are breached, that will lead into 
negotiations with the lenders. These negotiations may lead into a situ-
ation where the liabilities shall become immediately due and payable.

The most significant management estimates relate to impair-
ment tests, which require use of estimates in the calculations. in 
impairment testing management estimates recoverable amount 
of an asset or a cash generating unit. recoverable amount is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. When calcu-
lating value in use, management estimates the future cash flows as 
well as the discount rates used in discounting the cash flows. dis-
count rates reflect current market assessments of the time value 
of money at the time of impairment testing and the risks related 
to the tested assets. estimated cash flows include assumptions of, 
among other things, future prices, production levels, costs and de-
velopment of the markets. impairment loss is recorded if the car-
rying amount exceeds recoverable amount. The sensitivity analyses 
related to the impairment tests performed are described in Note 13 
to the consolidated financial statements.

in business combinations the net assets of the acquired compa-
nies are measured at fair value. in the case of a major acquisition, 
estimated fair values of property, plant and equipment and intan-
gible assets acquired in an acquisition and their estimated useful 
lives may have a significant effect on Glaston’s result and statement 
of financial position.

Useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment are based on management’s best estimate of the period the 
asset is expected to be available for use by Glaston. The actual use-
ful life can, however, differ from the expected useful life resulting in 
adjustment of annual depreciation or amortisation of the asset or in 
recording of impairment loss. 

Glaston capitalises development costs of new products. in ad-
dition to other capitalisation criteria, management has to estimate 
the future economic benefits arising from the development cost. 
if management estimates, that there will not be future economic 
benefits, the development cost is recognised in profit or loss. 
Whether a development cost is capitalised or recognised immedi-
ately in profit or loss can have an effect on the result of the report-
ing period. At the end of the reporting period of 2009, Glaston had 
eUr 8.1 (10.9) million of capitalised development expenditure in the 
statement of financial position.

Measurement of inventories and trade receivables includes some 
management estimates. inventories are measured at lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated sell-
ing price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
Net realisable value is used in testing the recoverable amount of 
inventories in order to avoid the inventories being carried in excess 
of amount expected to be realised from their sale or use. if manage-
ment estimates that carrying amount of a trade receivable exceeds 
its fair value, an impairment loss is recognised. for example pay-
ment defaults or late payments are considered as indications of 
impairment of the receivable. The carrying amount of inventory was 
at the end of the reporting period eUr 37.4 (53.9) million and the car-
rying amount of trade receivables was eUr 40.9 (69.1) million.

recognition and measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets include management estimates, especially deferred tax as-
sets arising from confirmed tax losses of group companies or from 
other temporary differences. deferred tax assets are recognised for 
deductible temporary differences and tax losses to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which tax 
credits and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. All tax 
liabilities and assets are reviewed at the end of the reporting period 
and changes are recognised in profit or loss. At the end of the re-
porting period, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets was eUr 
8.5 (7.9) million and the carrying amount of deferred tax liabilities 
was eUr 6.6 (8.4) million.

if Glaston’s management has assessed that as a result of a past 
event Glaston has a legal or constructive obligation, and that is its 
probable, that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, the management has estimated the amount of provision 
recognised from the obligation. The amount of the provision is the 
management’s best estimate of the amount required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. Glaston’s most signifi-
cant provisions at the end of the reporting period were warranty 
provision, eUr 4.9 (3.6) million, and restructuring provision, eUr 
8.1 (5.9) million. The management’s estimate of the warranty provi-
sion is based on previous experience, and the estimate of the re-
structuring provision is based on the restructuring plan in which the 
locations and personnel concerned have been identified. if possible, 
external experts have been used in estimating the amount of the 
provision. if the management has estimated that it is unlikely, that 
Glaston has an obligation, the contingent liability is presented in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

calculation of defined benefit pensions and other defined long-
term employee benefits requires choosing certain assumptions 
which actuaries use in calculation of the obligations arising from 
defined benefit plans. These assumptions include, among other 
things, discount rates used in the measurement of plan assets and 
liabilities as well as other actuarial assumptions such as future 
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salary increases and mortality rate. Actual results, which differ 
from the initial estimates and assumptions, are recognised using 
the corridor method in profit or loss over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 
The annual result effect arising from the defined benefit plan is not 
material. The most significant defined benefit plan is the sever-
ance plan of Glaston’s italian subsidiary. The carrying amount of 
the liability of this plan was eUr 3.0 (3.8) million at the end of the 
reporting period.

Glaston divested in 2007 its energy business. part of the sell-
ing price of the energy business was based on the management’s 

estimate on the number of future emission right allowances to be 
received by the business and the use of these rights. This part was 
recognised as a non-current receivable from the buyer. The buyer 
amortises the receivable annually during 5 years starting from 
2009. The receivable was remeasured in the 2007 financial state-
ments based on the fair value of the emission right allowances and 
on management’s estimate of the number to be received. during 
the spring of 2008, the unit price of the emission right allowance 
was fixed by a contract. in the financial statements of 2009, man-
agement has estimated the number of the emission right allow-
ances. 
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Note 3  
MaNaGeMeNt of fiNaNciaL risks

fiNaNciaL risk MaNaGeMeNt
The main objectives for the financial risk management within 
Glaston are to secure the sufficient funding of the Group while 
taking into consideration the current and future needs of the busi-
ness and at the same time to secure competitive cost of financing. 

The Group’s treasury functions have been centralised to the 
parent which is responsible for relations with financial institutions, 
long-term financing arrangements and the investment of liquid as-
sets as well as the Group’s internal funding allocations according 
to the liquidity needs of different group companies. Group Treasury 
cooperates with the group companies to identify the risks and pro-
vides financial services for the group companies in order to manage 
these identified risks.

The management of financial risks in Glaston Group is con-
ducted in accordance with the Glaston Group’s Treasury policy 
approved by the Board of directors of Glaston corporation. it is 
the responsibility of the cfO and Group Treasurer to propose 
amendments to this policy as conditions within the Group and on 
the financial markets change. Group Treasury is responsible for 
monitoring the use of the policy.

The Group’s financial risks consist of foreign exchange, inter-
est rate, credit, counterparty and liquidity risks. due to its interna-
tional operations the Group is exposed to risks arising from foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations. The effects of interest rate changes on 
the Group’s annual result create an interest rate risk. credit and 
counterparty risk primarily consists of risk related to credit granted 
to customers. Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group’s 
funds and borrowing facilities become insufficient to meet the needs 
of the business or that extra costs are incurred in order to arrange 
the financing needed.

Also investment of liquid funds is managed in accordance with 
the Treasury policy. Liquid assets are invested in low risk instru-
ments and only counterparties that possess high credit-worthiness 
are accepted. counterparties are approved annually by the Board of 
directors of Glaston corporation. 

Market risks

fOreiGN excHANGe riSK
The Group operates internationally and is therefore exposed to 
transaction and translation risks arising from fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates which may have an effect on the income 
statement and financial position. Transaction risks arise from cash 

flows generated by purchase and sales activities while translation 
risks arise from converting items in the income statement and the 
statements of financial position of non-euro subsidiaries into the 
Group’s functional currency. 

The main invoicing currency is the euro which is the Group’s 
functional currency. The most significant foreign exchange risk 
arises from exchange rate fluctuations between the euro and the 
US dollar. US dollar accounted for 14 percent of the total net sales 
in 2009. However, the share of US dollar of the Group’s total in-
voicing has decreased significantly as more customers accept the 
euro as the invoicing currency. These two currencies together ac-
count for approximately 83 percent of the Group’s invoicing. Also 
other currencies such as Brazilian real and chinese renminbi 
are used in invoicing but the amounts are not significant. Both 
of these currencies have, however, increased their share of the 
invoicing significantly during 2009.

The Group did not have major foreign currency denominated 
loans at 31 december, 2009. The working capital credit facilities 
of foreign subsidiaries are in their domestic currencies but their 
use was very limited. The amount drawn from such facilities was 
not significant and was at 31 december, 2009 approximately eUr 
1.5 (0.5) million.     

The objective for foreign exchange risk management is primarily 
to secure the results of group companies from unexpected currency 
fluctuations. Hedging of foreign exchange risk is conducted in ac-
cordance with the Treasury policy and the group companies are 
responsible for reporting their respective positions. Net positions 
vary greatly between different group companies. These net posi-
tions are hedged mainly with forward contracts up to a maximum of 
12 months ahead. The average hedging period is 4 to 6 months. The 
Group has not hedged the net investments in foreign entities.

Glaston does not apply hedge accounting as defined by iAS 39.
for the sensitivity analysis as defined in ifrS 7, a possible +/- 10 

percent change in the main currencies was assessed, with all other 
factors remaining unchanged. The sensitivity analysis is based on 
the foreign currencies denominated assets and liabilities as of 31 
december, 2009. The analysis takes into consideration the impact 
of foreign exchange derivatives, which offsets the effects of chang-
es in foreign exchange rates.

in the table below the effect of the main currencies on consoli-
dated result before taxes has been analysed. Only risks that are 
related to financial instruments are included in the analysis. 

change in exhange rates
eUr million Gross position -10 percent + 10 percent
USd/eUr 3 -0.1 0.0
BrL/eUr 2 -0.2 0.2
cNY/eUr -4 0.5 -0.4
GBp/eUr 3 -0.3 0.3
Other currencies 3 - -

7
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iNTereST rATe riSK
possible changes in the interest rates cause a risk that will affect 
the result of the Group. The objective for the interest risk manage-
ment is to minimize the effect of interest rate fluctuations on the 
Group’s annual result.

As a measurement for the management of interest rate risk an 
average interest fixing term for the parent’s interest bearing lia-
bilities has been used. it is maintained within the limits set by the 
Board of directors of Glaston corporation. The average interest 
fixing term at the end of 31 december, 2009 was 20.3 months in 
comparison to 10.4 months at the end of the previous year.

On 31 december, 2009, the Group’s interest-bearing net debt con-
sisted mainly from use of revolving credit facilities, of the conver-
tible bond issued in 2009 and from commercial paper programme. 

for the sensitivity analysis as defined by ifrS 7, a possible 
+1/-0.5 percentage point change in the interest rates was asses-
sed, with all other factors remaining unchanged. The effect of the 
change on the Group’s result before taxes considering the level of 
debt with flexible interest rates on the 31 december, 2009, is eUr 
-0.4/+0.2 million. 

credit aNd couNterparty risk
The Group becomes exposed to credit and counterparty risks when 
it grants payment time to the customers. The credit worthiness of 
these counterparties may decrease and affect Group’s result. cre-
dit risk management is conducted in accordance with the Group’s 
credit Management policy.

The objective for credit risk management is to eliminate the risk 
as far as possible without compromising the flexibility needed by 
different business areas. risk management is performed together 
with the business management with the objective to avoid major 
credit risk concentrations and to verify, that sufficient guarantees 
and collaterals are received. The Group reduces its credit risk by 
using letters of credit and various types of guarantees received 
from the customers to secure the receivables. in addition, the 
Group accelerates fund inflows and reduces risk by using advance 
payments.

At the end of 2009, 14.0 (32.5) percent of Group’s trade receiva-
bles were secured by guarantees. The carrying amounts of finan-
cial assets equal their maximum credit risk.

The Group’s client base is diversified over several different 
geographical areas and customer segments which reduces major 
concentrations of credit risk. The largest single customer’s share 
of the Group’s receivables is not significant in terms of risk mana-
gement. Significant unfavorable changes in the level of business, 

particularly in construction sector, could negatively impact the 
development of the Group’s credit risk. 

The Group’s liquid funds are invested to mitigate risk and only 
counterparties with high credit rating are accepted. portfolio 
investments consist mainly of money market deposits. The risk 
profile of accepted counterparties and maximum risk to a single 
counterparty are approved annually by the Board of directors of 
Glaston corporation.

The quality of trade receivables is assessed by each group com-
pany based on the Group’s credit Management policy. Based on 
these assessments, impairment losses on trade receivables are 
recognised in accordance with the credit policy.

The total carrying amount of trade receivables on 31 december, 
2009, was eUr 40.9 (69.1) million. Of this amount the receivables, 
which would have been past due but which have been renegoti-
ated, was eUr 1.9 (3.3) million.  

Ageing analysis and changes in allowance account of trade 
receivables are presented in Note 19 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group’s funds and bor-
rowing facilities become insufficient to meet the business needs 
or that significant extra costs are incurred in order to arrange the 
financing needed.

Liquidity risk is managed through effective use of advance 
payments in order to reduce the amount of working capital tied up 
in the operations. A special focus is set on the working capital ma-
nagement and the development is monitored regularly. Short- and 
long-term cash planning is part of group companies’ operational 
activity together with the Group’s Treasury. As a measurement for 
the management of liquidity risk are the unused credit facilities. 
Group Treasury reports the changes in the unused credit facilities 
on a monthly basis to the management and to the Board of direc-
tors of Glaston corporation.

Group’s funding is mainly organised by using committed credit 
facilities together with the convertible bond issued in 2009. The 
most significant of the committed credit facilities is the eUr 74.0 
million revolving credit facility signed on 20 November, 2009. The 
term of the facility is two years, with an option of a one-year exten-
sion period subject to agreement between the parties. The term of 
the convertible bond is five years and subscriptions in total of eUr 
23.8 million were made. in addition, the Group has a eUr 50.0 milli-
on commercial paper programme out of which approximately eUr 
3.5 million was in use at 31 december, 2009.    

EUR million In use Unused Total
committed credit facilities 31.12.2009 42 32 74
committed credit facilities 31.12.2008 29 36 65

committed credit facilities



40
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON
BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 31 december, 2009
EUR thousand

Maturing in

Maturity of financial liabilities
carrying 
amount

contractual 
cash flows < 12 months 1-2 years > 2 years

financial liabilities
Secured credit facilities 41,865 42,823 42,823 - -
Unsecured credit facilities 10,841 11,175 9,232 470 1,473
Other interest-bearing loans 64 71 29 34 8
convertible bond and commercial papers 23,636 35,567 3,500 - 32,067
finance lease liabilities 2,872 3,765 576 537 2,652
Trade payables 11,847 11,847 11,847 - -
Other liabilities 2,758 2,758 2,505 54 199

forward contracts
inflow 2,694 2,694 2,694 - -
outflow 2,694 2,694 2,694 - -

Guarantees
on behalf of own commitments - 560 560 - -
on behalf of others - 82 82 - -

capital commitments in relation to  
interests in joint ventures - 700 700 - -

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 31 december, 2008

Maturing in

Maturity of financial liabilities
carrying 
amount

contractual 
cash flows < 12 months 1-2 years > 2 years

financial liabilities
Secured credit facilities - - - - -
Unsecured credit facilities 42,660 43,571 42,238 65 1,268
Other interest-bearing loans 16,925 17,184 6,368 5,731 5,585
commercial papers 4,965 5,000 5,000 - -
finance lease liabilities 4,886 7,237 843 815 5,579
Trade payables 15,754 15,754 15,754 - -
Other liabilities 6,499 6,499 6,192 108 199

forward contracts
inflow 6,033 6,033 6,033 - -
outflow 6,159 6,159 6,159 - -

Guarantees
on behalf of own commitments - 772 772 - -
on behalf of others - 133 133 - -

Maturity of rental obligations is presented in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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MaNaGeMeNt of capitaL
The objective for management of capital is to secure the conti-
nuation of operations at all times and to maintain appropriate 
capital structure. in the capital management planning process both 
current and future needs of the business are taken into considera-
tion together with securing the competitive pricing of financing.

The primary measure for the Group’s capital structure is net gea-
ring. it is calculated as the ratio between net interest-bearing debt 
to equity. The Group’s equity ratio is also used as a measure for the 
capital structure. it is calculated as the ratio between equity to the 
total assets adjusted with advance payments received. Additionally, 

the committed unused credit facilities are monitored regularly.
Some of the Group’s loan agreements include terms and other 

commitments which are linked to consolidated key figures. if the 
covenant terms are not fulfilled, negotiations with the lenders will 
be initiated. These negotiations may lead to notice of termination of 
financial agreements. The terms of agreement also include restric-
tions on the distribution of dividends. Based on the restrictions 
dividend distribution is allowed only if Glaston’s net gearing shall be 
above 80 percent before and after the possible dividend distribution. 
This does not apply to statutory dividends required to be distributed 
pursuant to the finnish companies Act.

interest-bearing net debt 31.12.2009 31.12.2008
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 24,870 16,440
current interest-bearing liabilities 54,409 52,995
cash and cash equivalents -15,556 -11,524
interest-bearing net debt 63,723 57,911

equity
Attributable to owners of the parent 69,027 123,721
Non-controlling interest 323 50
total 69,351 123,771

Total assets 226,664 285,930
Advances received -16,851 -15,444
total 209,813 270,486

equity ratio, % 33.1% 45.8%
Net gearing, % 91.9% 46.8%

The consolidated equity and thus the capital structure is decreased by dividends paid and acquisition of Glaston corporation’s own shares. The 
equity can be increased by disposal of own shares and share issues. The authorisations of the Board of directors to acquire and dispose own 
shares, and to issue new shares, are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. equity is also affected by the result for the 
financial year, as well as by changes in fair value reserve and exchange differences included in equity.  
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Note 4 
shares aNd sharehoLders

shares aNd VotiNG riGhts
Glaston corporation has one class of shares. The number of out-
standing shares is 79,350,000 (treasury shares are included in the 
number of shares) and each share, with the exception of treasury 
shares, carries one vote at general meetings of shareholders. 
There are no limitations to transfer the shares. At the end of 2009 
and 2008, Glaston corporation’s share capital amounted to eUr 
12,696,000. The share has no nominal value. The share’s counter 
book value is eUr 0.16 per share. Glaston’s shares are registered in 
the book-entry securities system maintained by euroclear finland 
Ltd. 

According to the Articles of Association of Glaston corporation, 
a shareholder whose proportion of all the company’s shares or the 
votes conferred by the shares – either alone or together with other 
shareholders as defined hereinafter – reaches or exceeds 33 1/3 
percent or 50 percent is obligated, upon a demand by the other 
shareholders, to redeem their shares and the securities entitling 
their holders to shares under the companies Act according to the 
provisions of this article.

 
According to the Articles of Association of Glaston corporation the 
redemption price in respect of shares shall be the higher of the 
following:  
 a)  the weighted average price of trading in the share during the  
  last ten (10) trading days on the NASdAq OMx Helsinki Ltd.  
  before the day when the company received from the re- 
  deeming Shareholder a notification that the shareholding or  
  voting rights limit as set forth above had been reached  
  or exceeded or, should such notification be lacking or fail to  
  be received by the deadline, when the company’s Board of  
  directors otherwise received knowledge of it;
     b) the average price, weighted by the number of shares, which 

the redeeming Shareholder has paid for the shares which he 
has purchased or otherwise received during the last twelve 
(12) months before the day specified in paragraph a) above.

The redemption obligation set forth in the Articles of Association 
does not pertain to a shareholder who can prove that the share-
holding or voting rights limit entailing a redemption obligation 
was reached or exceeded before the relevant provision of these 
Articles of Association was been entered in the Trade register.

share tradiNG
during 2009, the highest price of the Glaston share was eUr 
1.44 (in 2008 eUr 3.33) and the lowest price eUr 0.92 (0.87). 
The average volume-weighted share price was eUr 1.18 (2.07). 
At the end of 2009, the share price stood at eUr 1.08 (0.91). The 
turnover of the share in NASdAq OMx Helsinki Ltd. in 2009 was 
7,032,751 (3,965,341 ) shares and in euro-terms eUr 8.1 (8.3) mil-
lion. Number of shares traded was 9.0 (5.1) percent of the average 
share stock. Market capitalisation at the end of 2009 was approxi-
mately eUr 84.8 (71.5) million.

NotificatioNs as per sectioN 9 of chapter 2 of the  
securities Market act
Glaston corporation received on 18 June, 2009 a notification under 
chapter 2, Section 9 of the finnish Securities Market Act regarding a 
change in holdings according to which the current and potential fu-

ture holding of Varma Mutual pension insurance company in Glaston 
corporation is in aggregate 6,942,277 shares as a result of sub-
scription of convertible bonds made on 17 June, 2009. The holding 
represents approximately 7.112 percent of Glaston corporation’s all 
shares and votes, provided that all subscribers of the aforementioned 
convertible bonds would use their conversion right in full.

Varma’s direct holding in Glaston corporation: 19,200 shares and 
votes in Glaston corporation, i.e. Varma’s portion is 0.02 percent 
of the number of shares and votes. Varma had on 17 June, 2009 
subscribed with eUr 9,000,000 for convertible bonds 2009, which 
were issued on 16 June, 2009 by the Board of directors of Glaston 
corporation and which were subscribed for in aggregate with eUr 
23,750,000.

restrictioNs oN diVideNd payMeNt
The terms of Glaston’s revolving credit facility agreement set 
restrictions on dividend payments. dividend payment is thereby 
conditional on Glaston’s net gearing, which may not exceed 80 per-
cent before or after any dividend payment. These restrictions do not 
apply to statutory dividends.

authorisatioNs of the Board of directors
The 2009 Annual General Meeting of Glaston corporation, held 
on 17 March, 2009, authorised the Board of directors to decide on 
the acquisition of the company’s own shares up to a maximum of 
7,000,000 shares. The authorisation is valid for 18 months from the 
decision of the Annual General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting also authorised the Board of direc-
tors to decide on the issue of new shares and/or the conveyance 
of the own shares held by the company such that, in exception to 
the pre-emptive subscription right of shareholders, a maximum of 
7,800,000 new shares can be issued and a maximum of 7,800,000 
own shares held by the company can be conveyed, but such that the 
total number of shares to be issued and/or conveyed does not ex-
ceed 7,800,000. The latter authorisation is, however, no longer valid 
at the end of the reporting period. 

The extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders of Glaston corpo-
ration, held on 8 June, 2009, authorised the Board of directors to 
decide of the issuing of shares and the issuing of special rights 
granting entitlement to shares, referred to in chapter 10 Section 1 
of the companies Act.

The number of shares to be issued under the authorisation may 
not exceed a total of 25,000,000 shares. if all shares that may be 
issued under the authorisation were issued, the number of shares 
issued would correspond to approximately 24 percent of all the 
shares in the company.

The Board of directors decides on the conditions of the issu-
ing of shares and of special rights granting entitlement to shares. 
The authorisation concerns both the issuing of new shares as well 
as the conveyance of treasury shares. The issuing of shares and of 
special rights granting entitlement to shares may be carried out in 
exception to shareholders’ pre-emptive rights.

The authorisation is effective until the next Annual General 
Meeting, however no longer than 30 June, 2010, and it cancels the 
authorisation to decide on the issuing of shares given by the Annual 
General Meeting on 17 March, 2009.

On 16 June, 2009, the Board of directors decided, based on 
the authorisation granted by the extraordinary Meeting of Share-
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holders, to issue a convertible bond up to a maximum principal 
of eUr 30,000,000, divided into negotiable promissory notes of 
nominal value eUr 50,000. The bond was issued in exception to the 
shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription rights to investors selected 
by the Board of directors. The bond was subscribed to a total of 
eUr 23,750,000 and the Board of directors approved the subscrip-
tions on 17 June, 2009.

the effect of the coNVertiBLe BoNd oN NuMBer of shares
Glaston’s convertible bond was subscribed to a total of eUr 

23,750,000 and it is fully paid. With the convertible bond it is pos-
sible to subscribe Glaston’s shares with a conversion price of eUr 
1.30 / share. if Glaston’s convertible bond would be converted to 
shares in its entirety, Glaston’s number of shares would increase 
by 18,269,231 shares. The price to be paid for the shares will be 
recorded in reserve for invested unrestricted equity. 

The conversion period for the bond began on 1 August, 2009. 
No shares were subscribed with the bond during 2009.

Number of shares and treasury shares 2009 2008

Number of shares
Number of shares 31 december 79,350,000 79,350,000
Treasury shares 31 december -838,582 -809,793
Number of shares 31 december, excluding treasury shares 78,511,418 78,540,207

average number of shares 31 december, excluding treasury shares 78,522,224 78,507,338

Average number of shares 31 december, excluding treasury shares,  
dilution effect of the convertible bond taken into account 89,143,077 78,507,338

acquisition and disposal of treasury shares

Treasury shares 1 January, shares 809,793 913,500
returned during the year, shares 28,789 -
Surrendered during the year, shares - -103,707
treasury shares 31 december, shares 838,582 809,793

Treasury shares 1 January, eUr thousand 3,487 3,933
returned during the year, eUr thousand 32 -
Surrendered during the year, eUr thousand - -447
treasury shares 31 december, eur thousand 3,519 3,487

Glaston’s treasury shares consist of shares acquired for the share-
based incentive scheme. Share acquisition and the scheme man-
agement have been outsourced to an external service provider. The 
shares are the property of the service provider until the shares are 
transferred to key individuals within the framework of the scheme. 

irrespective of the legal form of the procedure, the shares have 
been treated as if Glaston would have acquired the shares itself.

returned shares are shares, which were surrendered in 2008 
based on the share-based incentive plan, and returned to Glaston as 
the conditions of the share-based incentive plan were not fulfilled.

share-based incentive plan and management’s shareholding

Share-based incentive plan is presented in detail in Note 29.
directors’ and executive Management Group’s share ownership is presented in detail in Note 30.

equity attributable to owners of the parent per share

equity attributable to owners of the parent, eUr thousand 69,027 123,721
Number of shares 78,511,418 78,540,207
equity attributable to owners of the parent per share, eur 0.88 1.58

dividend 
dividend per share, eUr 0.00 0.05

The 2009 dividend is the Board of directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
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Largest shareholders 31 december, 2009

shareholder
Number of 

shares
% of shares

and votes
1. GWS Trade Oy 13,446,700 16.95%
2. Oy G.W.Sohlberg Ab 12,819,400 16.16%
3. Sumelius Birgit 3,642,600 4.59%
4. Society of Swedish Literature in finland 2,245,000 2.83%
5. investsum Oy 1,820,000 2.29%
6. Suutarinen Helena estate 1,802,400 2.27%
7. Von christierson charlie 1,600,000 2.02%
8. investment fund Aktia capital 1,484,650 1.87%
9. Sumelius Bjarne Henning 1,374,840 1.73%
10. Sumelius-Koljonen Barbro 1,206,875 1.52%
11. Sumelius-fogelholm Birgitta 1,114,000 1.40%
12. Special investment fund eq pikkujättiläiset 1,000,000 1.26%
13. evli Alexander Management Oy 838,582 1.06%
14. Sumelius christer 803,800 1.01%
15. Huber Karin 800,800 1.01%
16. Mariatorp Oy 800,000 1.01%
17. Sumelius Maria 700,000 0.88%
18. Nordea Bank finland Abp 679,975 0.86%
19. fontell Niilo Armas 640,700 0.81%
20. Special investment fund eq pikkujättiläiset 635,207 0.80%
Total 20 largest shareholders 49,455,529 62.33%
Other shareholders 29,819,271 37.58%
Not in the book-entry securities system (in joint account) 75,200 0.09%
total 79,350,000 100.00%
Treasury shares -838,582 1.06%
total excluding treasury shares 78,511,418

ownership distribution 31 december, 2009

shares total
% of shares

and votes
corporations 33,058,556 41.7%
financial and insurance corporations 2,525,347 3.2%
Non-profit institutions 3,711,275 4.7%
Households 34,584,294 43.6%
foreign countries 4,432,961 5.6%
General government 242,161 0.3%
Total 78,554,594 99.0%
Nominee registered 720,206 0.9%
Total 79,274,800 99.9%
Not in the book-entry securities system (in joint account) 75,200 0.1%
total 79,350,000 100.0%
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shareholders by share ownership 31 december. 2009

Number of shares
Number of  

shareholders % of shareholders shares total
% of shares  

and votes
1 - 100 285 7.0% 18,730 0.02%
101 - 1,000 2,143 53.0% 1,166,607 1.47%
1,001 - 10,000 1,319 32.6% 4,187,409 5.28%
10,001 - 100,000 207 5.1% 7,080,418 8.92%
100,001 - 1,000,000 80 2.0% 24,263,571 30.58%
Over 1,000,000 11 0.3% 42,558,065 53.63%
Total 4,045 100.0% 79,274,800 99.91%
Not in the book-entry securities system (in joint account) 75,200 0.09%
Number of shares issued 79,350,000 100.00%

share price development and trading volume
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Note 5
seGMeNt iNforMatioN

The reportable segments of Glaston are Machines, Services and 
Software Solutions. The reportable segments apply Glaston Group’s 
accounting and measurement principles as described in Note 1 to 
the consolidated financial statements. Glaston follows the same 
commercial terms in transactions between segments as with third 
parties.  

The reportable segments consist of operating segments, which 
have been aggregated with the criteria of ifrS 8.12. Operating seg-
ments have been aggregated, when the nature of the products and 
services is similar, the nature of the production process is similar, 
as well as the type or class of customers. Also the methods to dis-
tribute products or to provide services are similar.

The reportable Machines segment consists of Glaston’s oper-
ating segments manufacturing glass processing machines and 
related tools. The Machines segment includes manufacturing and 
sale of glass tempering, bending and laminating machines sold un-
der Tamglass and Uniglass brands, glass pre-processing machines 
sold under the Bavelloni brand as well as tools manufacturing. 

Services segment includes maintenance and service of glass 

processing machines and sale of spare parts and tools. Services 
segment also provides services to a customer by operating glass 
processing factory in Akaa, finland, on behalf of the customer. 

Software Solutions segment’s product offering, sold under the 
Albat+Wirsam brand, covers enterprise resource planning systems 
for the glass industry, software for window and door glass manu-
facturers, and software for glass processor’s integrated line solu-
tions. 

The unallocated operating result consists of head office opera-
tions of the Group and in 2009 also unallocated share of joint ven-
ture’s result. 

Glaston’s chief operating decision maker is the ceO of Glaston 
corporation, with the help of the Group’s executive Management 
Group. The segment information reported to the the chief operat-
ing decision maker includes segment revenue (net sales), operat-
ing result, orders received and order book as well as operative net 
working capital. Operative net working capital includes external 
trade receivables, inventory, external trade payables and advance 
payments received.

EUR thousand

reportable segments 2009 Machines services
software 
solutions 

unallocated and 
eliminations total

external net sales 81,657 46,192 23,929 -9 151,769
internal net sales 552 1,865 1 -2,417 -
total net sales 82,209 48,057 23,930 -2,426 151,769

operating result of the segments,  
non-recurring items excluded -22,901 -1,907 417 -9,256 -33,647

Operating result includes share of results of joint 
ventures and associates - - 3 -1,539 -1,536

Non-recurring items -15,935 -2,757 -1,729 -1,225 -21,646
operating result, non-recurring items included -38,836 -4,664 -1,312 -10,481 -55,293
financial items -2,348
income taxes 4,002
result for the reporting period -53,639

Segment assets 53,521 18,432 6,541 227 78,721
Other assets 147,943
total assets 226,664

Segment liabilities 23,618 4,141 703 235 28,697
Other liabilities 128,616
total liabilities 157,313

operative net working capital 29,903 14,290 5,838 -8 50,024

Segment assets include external trade receivables and inventory, and segment liabilities include external trade payables and advance 
payments received.

The non-recurring items of 2009 consist mainly of impairment losses recognised of goodwill and intangible assets (eUr 10.9 million), 
expenses arising from merging business areas (eUr 3.3 million) and restructuring programs initiated during the latter part of 2009 
(eUr 7.6 million). in addition, the non-recurring items include reversals of provisions made in 2008 (eUr 1.1 million).
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reportable segments 2008 Machines services
software 
solutions 

unallocated and 
eliminations total

external net sales 167,574 74,802 28,145 -102 270,419
internal net sales 928 1,154 9 -2,091 -
total net sales 168,502 75,956 28,154 -2,193 270,419

operating result of the segments, 
non-recurring items excluded 5,102 4,920 3,734 -7,565 6,191

Operating result includes share of results of joint 
ventures and associates 19 - 9 - 28

Non-recurring items -9,476 -2,237 -550 -35 -12,298
operating result, non-recurring items included -4,374 2,683 3,184 -7,600 -6,107
financial items -1,978
income taxes -1,091
result for the reporting period -9,176

Segment assets 90,908 25,398 7,032 2 123,340
Other assets 162,590
total assets 285,930

Segment liabilities 26,842 2,714 1,234 408 31,198
Other liabilities 130,961
total liabilities 162,159

operative net working capital 64,066 22,684 5,798 -406 92,142

Non-recurring items of 2008, in total eUr 12.3 million, consist of expenses arising from rationalisation measures as well as non-recur-
ring costs for agreements and doubtful receivables from previous years. in addition, the non-recurring items include impairment losses 
of assets.

Non-cash income and expenses included in operating result (* 2009 2008
Machines -11,880 -15,206
Services -2,762 -1,762
Software Solutions -1,442 -1,053
Segments total -16,083 -18,021
Unallocated - 118
total non-cash expenses and income -16,083 -17,903

(* excluding impairment.
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Goodwill, depreciation, amortisation and impairment by segment
2009 2008

Goodwill 
eUr million

Machines 36.8 43.1
Services 9.3 10.7
Software Solutions 12.3 12.3
segments total 58.4 66.2

depreciation and amortisation by segment
eUr thousand

Machines 3,708 3,714
Services 1,358 2,332
Software Solutions 2,020 1,728
Segments total 7,085 7,774
Unallocated 1,312 877
total depreciation and amortisation 8,398 8,651

impairment losses of property, plant and intangible assets (* 
eUr thousand

Machines 7,479 1,129
Services 2,607 1,425
Software Solutions 1,167 -
Segments total 11,253 2,554
Unallocated 1,200 -
total impairment losses 12,453 2,554

(* includes impairment loss of goodwill.

orders received and order book by segment

orders received
eUr million

Machines 88.5 144.4
Services 42.8 72.3
Software Solutions 10.6 13.9
total 141.9 230.5

order book
eUr million 31.12.2009 31.12.2008
Machines 39.8 47.3
Services 1.6 11.6
Software Solutions 4.1 3.5
total 45.5 62.5
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personnel

Number of personnel at the end of the year by segment 2009 2008
Machines 674 841
Services 228 414
Software Solutions 234 261
Segments total 1,137 1,515
parent 24 26
total number of personnel 1,160 1,541

Number of personnel at the end of the year by geographical location
finland 227 440
Other eMeA 613 729
Americas 149 217
Asia 171 156
total number of personnel 1,160 1,541

entity-wide disclosures

Net sales by product groups
Goods sold 123,776 239,288
Services rendered 27,993 31,131
total net sales 151,769 270,419

Net sales by country by destination
finland 1,925 19,390
Other eMeA 89,794 158,603
Americas 36,352 55,960
Asia 23,698 36,466
total 151,769 270,419

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (goodwill excluded), by geographical location
finland 29,089 40,753
Other eMeA 10,216 11,268
Americas 1,274 1,266
Asia 3,765 4,264
total property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, goodwill excluded 44,344 57,550

eMeA = europe, the Middle east, Africa and india, pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka
Americas = North, central and South America
Asia = china and the rest of the Asia-pacific area 

Glaston’s revenues from any single external customer do not exceed 10 percent of Glaston’s total revenue.
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Note 6
BusiNess coMBiNatioNs
EUR thousand

Business combinations in 2009

Glaston had no business combinations in 2009.

The purchase consideration of the German company Albat+Wirsam Software AG Group was adjusted in 2009 based on the terms of 
the share purchase agreement. The adjustment did not have any effect on goodwill.

acquisition cost, adjusted
purchase consideration 19,780
expenses related to acquisition 559
total acquisition cost 20,339

Goodwill 12,747

Business combinations in 2008

in October 2008, Glaston acquired the business of the chinese company Yunzhe Software co. Ltd. The acquired business is related to 
software business, i.e. Software Solutions segment, which with the acquisition will expand its geographical market area to china. The 
acquisition was an asset deal. The purchase consideration was eUr 0.2 million, and it was recognised as a liability at the end of 2008. A 
part of the purchase consideration is contingent and it depends on the future net sales resulting from the acquired business.

Glaston acquired in the business combination identifiable intangible assets consisting of patents and customer list. The fair value of 
the acquired intangible assets was eUr 0.2 million. A minor goodwill arose from the acquisition. The basis of the goodwill is the trans-
ferred expertise of Yunzhe Software co. Ltd.’s personnel. 

if the acquistion would have taken place 1 January, 2008, its effect on Glaston’s consolidated net sales and result of 2008 would have 
been immaterial.

the acquired net assets at the date of acquisition in 2008 
carrying 

amounts before 
combination

fair values of net 
assets acquired

intangible assets - 160
acquired net assets - 160

purchase consideration 192
expenses related to acquisition 7
total acquisition cost 199

Goodwill 39

purchase consideration paid in cash -
expenses related to acquisition 7
effect on cash flow -7
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Note 7
coNstructioN coNtracts

Note 8   
other operatiNG iNcoMe 

Note 9  
MateriaLs aNd other operatiNG expeNses

EUR thousand

EUR thousand

EUR thousand

construction contracts 2009 2008

Total revenue from construction contracts included in net sales 38,443 103,124
revenue from unfinished construction contracts included in net sales 12,570 53,434
Advances received recognised in statement of financial position from construction contracts 10,188 10,283

other operating income 2009 2008

capital gains on sale of property, plant and equipment 244 116
rents 311 71
Other income 570 257
other operating income total 1,125 444

2009 2008
Materials

Materials and supplies, purchases during the period 48,353 87,179
change in inventories of materials and supplies -3,787 -1,022
total materials 44,566 86,157

other operating expenses

Leases 5,953 4,260
Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment 91 11
Subcontracting and maintenance 6,169 37,608
Other expenses 39,383 66,355
total other operating expenses 51,596 108,234

fees for professional services rendered by auditors

Auditing, KpMG 558 355
Auditing, other auditing companies 77 -
Official statements, KpMG - 3
Other services, KpMG 48 9
Other services, other auditing companies 86 50
total 769 416

The principal auditor of Glaston Group has been KpMG. 

principal auditor’s audit fees of the audit of the financial year 373 406
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Note 10   
eMpLoyee BeNefits aNd NuMBer of persoNNeL 
EUR thousand

employee benefits 2009 2008

Wages and salaries 55,719 59,712
pension expenses 4,364 4,501
Other personnel expenses 10,249 12,392
Other post-employment benefits 511 283
total personnel expenses 70,843 76,888

pension expenses

defined benefit plans -23 -97
defined contribution plans 4,387 4,598
total pension expenses 4,364 4,501

pension benefits are presented in more detail in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share-based incentive plans and option arrangements are presented in more detail in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Number of personnel

Number of personnel, average 1,344 1,519

personnel in finland, end of the period 227 440
personnel outside finland, end of the period 933 1,101
total 1,160 1,541

Average number of personnel in joint venture in 2009 (iNTerpANe Glass Oy) was 81. Glaston Group’s number of personnel does not 
include the number of personnel in joint ventures.

in 2008, average number of personnel in joint venture (Glaston Tools [Sanhe] co., Ltd.) was 51. 

research and development costs 2009 2008

recognised in profit or loss 8,193 9,940
Amortisation and impairment losses of capitalised development costs during the reporting period 5,363 4,490
total 13,556 14,430
As a percentage of net sales 8.9% 5.3%

capitalised development costs during the reporting period 3,142 4,186
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Note 11  
fiNaNciaL iNcoMe aNd expeNses
EUR thousand

recognised in income statement 2009 2008

interest income
interest income on assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 5
interest income on loans and receivables 1,004 836
Other interest income 49 133
Total interest income 1,056 974

dividend income 
dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets 5 9

Gains 
Gains on sale of assets held for sale - 83
Gains on sale of available-for-sale financial assets - 6
Gains on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 14
Total gains - 103

other financial income
financial income on emission right receivable 301 1,154

interest expenses
interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost -3,563 -2,411
Other interest expenses -72 -123
Total interest expenses -3,635 -2,534

other financial expenses
On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost -372 -60
On loans and receivables -409 -251
Other financial expenses -1 -53
Total other financial expenses -781 -364

impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets -1 -109
impairment losses on loans and receivables -160 -

foreign exchange differences, net
On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,109 -1,598
On loans and receivables -344 291
Other foreign exchange gains 103 96
Total foreign exchange differences 868 -1,211

total financial income and expenses in financial items -2,348 -1,978

Net foreign exchange differences in operating profit
Net sales -107 38
purchases 257 114
total 151 152
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derivatives 2009 2008

currency derivatives, hedge accounting applied
realised currency derivatives recognised in net sales - 450
Unrealised currency derivatives recognised in net sales - -1
total - 449

currency derivatives, non-hedge accounting
realised currency derivatives recognised in net sales -242 -364
Unrealised currency derivatives recognised in net sales 79 -223
total -162 -587

recognised in other comprehensive income

fair value changes of available-for-sale financial assets 18 17
change in fair value of cash flow hedges, effective part - -
change in fair value of cash flow hedges, effective part, reclassified in profit or loss - -28
Hedging of net investment in foreign entity - -
total in other comprehensive income 18 -12

Borrowing costs were not capitalised in Glaston Group in 2008. in 2009, in accordance with iAS 23 Borrowing costs, borrowing costs 
related to qualifying assets would have been capitalised, if Glaston would have had qualifying assets. 

impairment losses on trade receivables are presented in Note 19.
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Note 12  
iNcoMe taxes
EUR thousand

income tax charge in income statement 2009 2008

current income tax charge 1,645 -4,662
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 583 -472
deferred tax charge 2,409 4,366
Other -634 -323
total income tax charge 4,002 -1,091

income taxes recognised in other comprehensive income and in equity

deferred taxes
disposal of treasury shares recognised in equity -27 5
Share-based incentive plan recognised in equity 18 -62
cash flow hedge, net losses and gains on changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income - 7
Available-for-sale assets, fair value changes recognised in other comprehensive income -5 -4

Total deferred taxes recognised in other comprehensive income and equity -14 -54

current taxes
disposal of treasury shares recognised in equity 27 27
Share-based incentive plan, recognised in equity - 89

Total current taxes recognised in other comprehensive income and in equity 27 116
total taxes recognised in other comprehensive income and in equity 13 62

reconciliation of income tax expense calculated at statutory tax rates with income tax expense in the income statement

profit before taxes -57,641 -8,085

Tax at the tax rate applicable to the parent 14,987 2,102
difference due to different tax rates of foreign subsidiaries 571 182
impairment losses of goodwill -2,097 -
Tax exempt income and non-deductible expenses -348 -1,836
effect of changes in tax rates and tax laws -62 334
Losses, where no deferred tax benefit is recognised -5,288 -473
deferred taxes recognised during the financial year in respect of previous years' temporary differences -522 -
Withholding taxes and adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous periods -113 -614
effect of joint ventures' and associates' results -399 7
Use of losses, where no deferred tax asset was recognised 79 262
deferred tax assets recognised of confirmed losses -538 -632
eliminations -2,967 -412
effect of taxes not based on taxable income 700 -
Other -1 -11
income taxes in the income statement 4,002 -1,091

The Group companies have tax losses, totalling eUr 38.8 (11.2) million, which can be applied against future taxable income. A deferred 
tax asset has not been recognised for all tax losses, due to the uncertainty regarding the extent to which they can be used. deferred tax 
assets recognised from tax losses amounted to eUr 6.0 (1.8) million.

Limited right to carry forward the tax losses concerns 84 (83) percent of the tax losses and unlimited right 16 (17) percent of the tax 
losses.

deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available, against which tax credits and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. changes in tax rates have been 
taken into account when calculating deferred taxes. corporate tax rate in finland is 26 percent.

deferred tax liability has not been recognised in 2009 or 2008 of the undistributed earnings of finnish or foreign subsidiaries as the 
majority of such earnings can be transferred to the owner without any tax consequences. deferred tax liability of undistributed earnings 
of associates or joint ventures has also not been recognised.
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tax assets and tax liabilities 2009 2008

deferred tax assets 8,467 7,916
Assets for current tax 3,602 4,369

deferred tax liabilities 6,613 8,439
Liabilities for current tax 1,040 1,933

2009

deferred tax assets 1 January
exchange 
difference

charge in 
income  

statement  
(- tax expense)

recognised 
in equity

recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income 31 december

defined benefit employee benefits 26 - -4 - - 22
Unrealised internal profits, inventory 813 -20 -114 - - 679
Unrealised internal profits, property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 226 - -181 - - 45
confirmed tax losses carried forward (* 1,813 0 4,196 27 - 6,036
Share-based payments 23 - -7 -3 - 13
Other temporary differences 5,014 -17 -3,326 - - 1,671
deferred tax assets in statement of financial position 7,916 -37 563 24 - 8,467

(* eUr 6.4 million deferred tax asset from losses of the reporting period has been recognised during the reporting period. 

Other temporary differences consist of expenses which were not tax deductible in the reporting period, but will be tax deductible in 
future, such as restructuring provisions.

deferred tax liabilities 1 January
exchange 
difference

charge in 
income  

statement  
(+ tax expense)

recognised 
in equity

recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income 31 december

Untaxed reserves 2,286 - -700 - - 1,586
defined benefit employee benefits 363 - -146 - - 217
intangible assets recognised at fair value 1,700 - -367 - - 1,333
Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value 12 - - - 5 17
Share-based payments 44 - -58 15 - 2
Other temporary differences 4,034 0 -575 - - 3,459
deferred tax liabilities in statement of financial position 8,439 0 -1,846 15 5 6,613

Other temporary differences consist of, among other things, differences between local and ifrS accounting principles, which create 
timing differences in recognising revenue and expenses.

change in deferred taxes in income statement  (- tax expense) 2,409

reconciliation of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
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2008

deferred tax assets 1 January
exchange 
difference

charge in 
income  

statement  
(- tax expense)

recognised 
in equity 

recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income 31 december

defined benefit employee benefits - - 26 - - 26
Unrealised internal profits, inventory 702 120 -9 - - 813
Unrealised internal profits, property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 282 - -57 - - 226
confirmed tax losses carried forward 1,802 - 11 - - 1,813
Share-based payments 155 - -76 -56 - 23
Other temporary differences 1,504 -30 3,540 - - 5,014
deferred tax assets in statement of financial position 4,446 90 3,436 -56 - 7,916

deferred tax liabilities 1 January
exchange 
difference

charge in 
income 

statement 
(+ tax expense)  

recognised 
in equity 

recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income 31 december

Untaxed reserves 2,573 - -287 - - 2,286
defined benefit employee benefits 402 - -38 - - 363
intangible assets recognised at fair value 2,468 - -768 - - 1,700
Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value and 
cash flow hedge 13 - 2 - -3 12
Share-based payments - - 44 - - 44
Other temporary differences 3,918 -2 118 - - 4,034
deferred tax liabilities in statement of financial position 9,374 -2 -930 - -3 8,439

change in deferred taxes in income statement  (- tax expense) 4,366
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Note 13  
depreciatioN, aMortisatioN aNd iMpairMeNt of assets
EUR thousand

depreciation and amortisation 2009 2008
intangible assets

intangible rights 1,116 762
capitalised development costs 3,145 2,904
Other intangible assets 40 184

property, plant and equipment
Buildings and constructions 1,306 1,316
Machinery and equipment 2,404 3,284
Other tangible assets 387 201

total depreciation and amortisation 8,398 8,651

impairment losses
intangible assets

Goodwill 7,792 -
intangible rights 1,216 149
capitalised development expenditure 2,218 1,586
Other intangible assets - 26

property, plant and equipment
Buildings and constructions 739 -
Machinery and equipment 477 553
Other tangible assets 11 240

total impairment 12,453 2,554
total depreciation, amortisation and impairment 20,851 11,205

impairment of assets
 
Glaston’s cash generating units consist of reportable segments, 
generating cash flows, which are largely independent of the cash 
flows of other reportable segments. Glaston reorganised its busi-
ness in spring 2009 and defined the reportable segments to reflect 
the new business model. Goodwill has been allocated to the new 
reportable segments accordingly. in 2008, the impairment testing 
of goodwill was performed using the old segments.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life are 
tested annually in accordance with iAS 36 for impairment. Glaston 
does not have other intangible assets than goodwill with indefinite 
useful life and which are not amortised. intangible assets not yet in 
use are also tested during the reporting period for impairment. im-
pairment testing is performed also always when there is indication 
that the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is 
lower than its carrying amount.

Goodwill has been tested for impairment by comparing the recov-
erable amount of the cash generating unit, to which the goodwill 
has been allocated, with the carrying amount of the cash generating 
unit. impairment loss has been recorded if the recoverable amount 
is lower than the carrying amount. consistent methods have been 
used in testing property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit is its value in 
use, based on its discounted future cash flows. These cash flows 
are mainly based on the budgets and estimates approved by the 
management. Budgets and estimates are used as a basis of the 
future cash flows for a maximum of five years. Subsequent cash 
flows are estimated by extrapolating the cash flow estimates. Ter-

minal values have been calculated using Western european long-
range growth rate.  

if the asset has been classified as held for sale, the recoverable 
amount used is the fair value of the asset, less costs of sale.

The assumptions used in value in use calculations are mainly 
the same as used in budgets. cash flows based on the assump-
tions have, however, been adjusted so that the future cash flows 
used in impairment testing exclude any cash flows from uncom-
mitted future restructuring, and cash flows arising from improving 
or enhancing the asset’s performance. The cash flows of restruc-
turing programmes, in which the Group was committed at the date 
of the testing, are included in testing. 

The assumptions used in impairment calculations, such as for 
example development of markets and price development of prod-
ucts, are based on past experience and information gathered from 
external sources. Based on this information Glaston has arrived 
at the assumptions used in estimates. The international economic 
recession has affected negatively on the cash flows during the 
reporting period, and the effects of the recession have been taken 
into account in the estimated cash flows of the near future. The 
cash flows are not expected to recover to the pre-recession level 
immediately but during several years. The fundamentals of the 
business are, however, expected to remain unchanged, so the de-
velopment of the subsequent years is expected to be positive com-
pared with 2009. if the recovery is postponed or slows down, that 
will have a negative effect on the future cash flows. As a result of 
the low net sales of 2009, the annual net sales growth percentages 
used in the estimated future cash flows are rather big as absolute 
figures, but they are, however, estimated to be realistic.



59
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON

BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

The profitability assumptions used in the impairment testing 
are based on the restructuring programs carried out as well as 
initiated during 2009, which are expected to result in significant 
cost savings. The cash flow effects of the restructuring programs 
are taken into account in the calculations. in addition, the forecast 
growth in sales volumes during the forecast period has a positive 
effect on the profitability.

The discount rate used in arriving in recoverable amount is 
the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital, which reflects the 
market assessment of time value of money and risks specified to 
the assets and the countries where the segments operate. Also 
Glaston’s target capital structure has been taken into acccount in 
determining the discount rate as well as Glaston’s cost of debt, 
which has increased from the previous year.

There are no major changes in the sources of information used 
in determining the discount rate. The changed importance of the 

different geographical areas due to the new segments has been 
taken into account when defining the risk-free interest rates and 
country risks, which are components of the discount rate. When 
risk-free interest rates and country risks have been defined, more 
operating countries have been included.

discount rates have been calculated separately for each seg-
ment, and they can vary between the segments. The discount rate 
of each segment depends, among other things, on the geographi-
cal allocation of cash flows in each segment as well as the rela-
tive importance of these cash flows. These can differ between the 
segments.

discount rates of segments are not fully compared with the 
rates used in 2008 due to the changes in the segments and the 
effect of the changes on for example geographical allocation of 
cash flows in each segment. As the Software Solutions segment 
has remained unchaged, its discount rate is comparable.

the most significant assumptions used in value in  
use calculations in 2009 Machines services software solutions
Pre-tax discount rate 12.9% 12.2% 10.9%
Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

the most significant assumptions used in value in use 
calculations in 2008 pre-processing heat treatment software solutions
Pre-tax discount rate 12.9% 11.3% 11.3%
Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
Annual sales growth during the forecast period compared with the  
reporting period -1% - + 37% -12%  -  +35% +7% - +31%
EBITDA percentage during the forecast period 4% - 12% 8% - 14% 14%  - 15%

impairment testing of goodwill

Glaston reorganised its business in spring 2009 and defined the reportable segments to reflect the new business model. The reportable 
segments were redefined during the autumn. Goodwill has been allocated to the new reportable segments accordingly. When Glaston‘s re-
portable segments were redefined, the goodwill arising from the acquisition of the glass processing business at the date of acquisition 
was allocated to the Services segment and considered to be impaired in its entirety, thus an impairment loss totaling eUr 1.4 million 
was recognised.

Goodwill
eUr million 2009
segment allocated in 2009 impairment loss 31 december, 2009
Machines 43.1 -6.4 36.8
Services 10.7 -1.4 9.3
Software Solutions 12.3 - 12.3
total 66.2 -7.8 58.4

segment 2008
pre-processing 25.4
Heat Treatment 28.4
Software Solutions 12.3
total 66.2
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sensitivity analysis

The recoverable amounts used in impairment testing are subject to change if the assumption used in calculation of the recoverable 
amounts changes. 

The management estimates, that in most cases, a reasonably possible change in a key assumption of the Services and the Software 
Solutions segments does not cause the cash generating unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. The cases in which 
a reasonably possible change in a key assumption would cause the carrying amount of a cash generating unit to exceed its recoverable 
amount are presented below. The recoverable amounts of these cash generating units exceed their carrying amounts by 14 percent in 
the Services segment and by 48 percent in the Software Solutions segment. 

impairment testing of goodwill in the Services Segment has been performed of the carrying amount of goodwill after deducting the 
eUr 1.4 million impairment loss.

A change in an assumption which, other things being equal, would cause the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount: 

post-tax discount rate (* Value assigned to the assumption change
Services 9.1% + 1 percentage point
Software Solutions 8.4% + 3 percentage points

Long-term growth rate (* Value assigned to the assumption change
Services 2.0% Decrease of 1.5 percentage points
Software Solutions 2.0% Decrease of 4.5 percentage points

(* The consequential effects of the change in the assumption on other variables used to measure recoverable amounts have not been  
   incorporated in the sensitivity analysis.

The sensitivity analyses of the Machines segment have been performed by calculating the effect of the possible changes in the key as-
sumptions on the impairment loss of goodwill recognised. Glaston’s management estimates, that there are no grounds to perform the 
goodwill impairment testing in the Machines segment using fair value less costs of sale instead of value in use.

sensitivity analysis of the Machines segment

assumption change in the assumption
increase in impairment loss of goodwill, 

eur million
Post-tax discount rate (* +0.5 percentage points EUR 7.0 million
Long-term growth rate (* -0.5 percentage points EUR 5.5 million

(* The consequential effects of the change in the assumption on other variables used to measure recoverable amounts have not been  
   incorporated in the sensitivity analysis.

impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The impairment of property, plant and equipment is mainly related to machines, which are no longer in use, and to a building 
which has been financed with a finance lease. The operations in the building have ceased.

impairment losses of intangible assets have been recognised of such capitalised development costs and intangible rights which 
no longer are expected to generate future economic benefits. 
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Note 14   
iNtaNGiBLe assets
EUR thousand

Glaston has no other intangible assets than goodwill with indefinite useful life. All intangible assets with the exception of goodwill are 
amortised over their useful lives.

2009

capitalised 
development 
expenditure

intangible 
rights Goodwill

other  
capitalised 

expenditure
advances 

paid 2009 total
Acquisition cost at beginning of year 22,471 10,098 66,183 1,913 7,948 108,612
Business combinations - - - - - -
Other increases 594 193 - 3 4,413 5,203
decreases -2,189 -103 - -73 - -2,365
reclassifications and other changes 1,990 2,495 - 3 -4,745 -257
exchange differences - -21 9 -1 - -13
acquisition cost at end of year 22,866 12,662 66,192 1,845 7,616 111,181
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 
beginning of year -11,612 -6,605 - -1,666 - -19,883
Accumulated amortisation relating to  
decreases and transfers 2,189 81 - 69 - 2,339
Amortisation during the reporting period -3,145 -1,116 - -40 - -4,301
impairment losses (note 13) -2,218 -1,216 -7,792 - - -11,226
reclassifications and other changes - -40 - 1 - -39
exchange differences - - 3 - - 3
accumulated amortisation and impairment at 
end of year -14,786 -8,896 -7,789 -1,636 - -33,107
carrying amount at end of year 8,080 3,766 58,403 209 7,616 78,074

2008

capitalised 
development 
expenditure

intangible 
rights Goodwill

other  
capitalised 

expenditure
advances 

paid 2008 total
Acquisition cost at beginning of year 20,575 8,573 67,641 2,909 4,294 103,992
Business combinations - 115 39 45 - 199
Other increases 1,908 1,536 - 595 2,598 6,636
decreases -1,476 -222 -1,454 -3 - -3,155
reclassifications and other changes 1,464 77 -43 -1,616 1,056 938
exchange differences - 19 - -17 - 2
acquisition cost at end of year 22,471 10,098 66,183 1,913 7,948 108,612
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 
beginning of year -8,597 -5,859 - -2,326 - -16,782
Accumulated amortisation relating to decreases 
and transfers 1,476 203 - 3 - 1,682
Amortisation during the reporting period -2,904 -762 - -184 - -3,850
impairment losses (note 13) -1,586 -149 - -26 - -1,761
reclassifications and other changes -1 -1 - 851 - 849
exchange differences - -37 - 16 - -21
accumulated amortisation and impairment at 
end of year -11,612 -6,605 - -1,666 - -19,883
carrying amount at end of year 10,859 3,493 66,183 247 7,948 88,729
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Note 15   
property, pLaNt aNd equipMeNt 
EUR thousand

Glaston has given liens on chattel as security for liabilities. These as well as real estate mortgages provided as security for liabilities 
are presented in Note 27.

At the end of 2009, Glaston did not have of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (at the end 
of 2008: eUr 0.1 million). 

in 2009 or 2008, Glaston did not receive any material third party compensation for items of property, plant and equipment that were 
impaired, lost or given up.

2009
Land and 

water areas

Buildings 
and  

constructions

Machinery 
and  

equipment

other 
tangible 

assets

advances 
paid and 

assets 
under 

construction 2009 total
Acquisition cost at beginning of year 1,704 31,232 32,979 3,252 505 69,673
Business combinations - - - - - -
Other increases - 82 832 80 255 1,249
decreases - -2,669 -9,856 -550 -200 -13,275
reclassifications and other changes - 328 -67 71 -515 -183
exchange differences -2 -114 192 10 - 86
acquisition cost at end of year 1,702 28,859 24,080 2,863 45 57,550
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at  
beginning of year - -12,995 -19,636 -2,037 - -34,668
Accumulated depreciation relating to decreases 
and transfers - 1,865 4,670 550 - 7,085
depreciation during the reporting period - -1,306 -2,404 -387 - -4,097
reclassifications and other changes - - -123 238 - 115
impairment losses (note 13) - -739 -477 -11 - -1,227
exchange differences - 16 -90 -10 - -84
accumulated depreciation and impairment  
at end of year - -13,159 -18,060 -1,657 - -32,876
carrying amount at end of year 1,702 15,700 6,020 1,206 45 24,673

2008
Land and 

water areas

Buildings 
and  

constructions

Machinery 
and  

equipment

other 
tangible 

assets

advances 
paid and 

assets 
under 

construction 2008 total
Acquisition cost at beginning of year 1,700 27,288 29,662 1,955 1,973 62,579
Business combinations - - - - - -
Other increases - 3,629 4,084 170 3,505 11,388
decreases - -64 -368 -415 - -847
reclassifications and other changes - -2 -416 1,629 -5,016 -3,805
exchange differences 4 380 17 -87 42 357
acquisition cost at end of year 1,704 31,232 32,979 3,252 505 69,673
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at  
beginning of year - -11,692 -17,349 -1,026 - -30,067
Accumulated depreciation relating to decreases 
and transfers - 44 166 414 - 624
depreciation during the reporting period - -1,316 -3,284 -201 - -4,801
reclassifications and other changes - - 1,480 -1,014 - 466
impairment losses (note 13) - - -553 -240 - -793
exchange differences - -31 -96 30 - -97
accumulated depreciation and impairment  
at end of year - -12,995 -19,636 -2,037 - -34,668
carrying amount at end of year 1,704 18,237 13,343 1,215 505 35,004

carrying amount of machinery and equipment used in production 31 december, 2009 3,508
carrying amount of machinery and equipment used in production 31 december, 2008 10,848
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Note 16  
associates aNd JoiNt VeNtures
EUR thousand

investment in joint ventures
2009 2008

carrying amount 1 January 869 770
exchange differences - 80
Additions 2,000 -
Share of net result of joint ventures -1,539 19
reclassifications -960 -
carrying amount 31 december 370 869

The carrying amount of investment in joint ventures does not include goodwill. 

investment in associates

carrying amount 1 January 23 -
exchange differences - -
Additions - -
Share of net result of associates 3 9
reclassifications - 14
carrying amount 31 december 26 23

The carrying amount of investment in associates does not include goodwill. 

associates and joint ventures
Group ownership, % carrying amount 

2009 2008 2009 2008
iNTerpANe Glass Oy Tampere finland 50 - 370 -
Glaston Tools (Sanhe) co., Ltd. (* Sanhe china - 70 - 869
Bitec GmbH Büro für informationstechnik chemnitz Germany 49 49 26 23

396 892

(* The chinese company Glaston Tools (Sanhe) co., Ltd. was consolidated in 2008 as a joint venture using the equity method and not as 
a subsidiary despite of the 70 percent ownership of Glaston, because Glaston was not considered to have control of the company. from 
1 January, 2009, Glaston Tools (Sanhe) co., Ltd. has been consolidated as a subsidiary as Glaston has gained control of the company. 
There has not been changes in the ownership of the company.
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Glaston’s subsidiary Tamglass Glass processing Ltd. sold in March its insulated and architectural glass processing operations to  
iNTerpANe Glass Oy. iNTerpANe Glass Oy began its operations on 1 April, 2009. The transaction was an asset deal, consisting of, 
among others, tangible assets and inventory. The deal was financed mainly through vendor financing given by Glaston. Glaston has also 
invested eUr 2.0 million in the equity of iNTerpANe Glass Oy. in addition, Glaston is committed to invest additional eUr 0.7 million in 
iNTerpANe’s equity. Also the other party of the transaction is committed to make additional investments in iNTerpANe’s equity. 

iNTerpANe Glass Oy is a company owned jointly by Georg f. Hesselbach through his company A A A Glass & design finland Oy, and a 
subsidiary of Glaston corporation. The shareholders of iNTerpANe Glass Oy have entered into a shareholders’ agreement which incor-
porates put and call options enabling the shareholders to rearrange their ownership shares in the company in the future. At any time 
during the period between 1 January, 2013 and 30 June, 2015, Glaston has an option to sell all of its shares to A A A Glass & design 
finland Oy. After Georg f. Hesselbach or A A A Glass & design finland Oy have provided the equity increase to iNTerpANe Glass Oy as 
agreed in the shareholders’ agreement, either Georg f. Hesselbach or A A A Glass & design finland Oy have an option to purchase 20 
percent of shares in iNTerpANe Glass Oy from Glaston. After the transaction Glaston’s share ownershipin iNTerpANe Glass Oy would 
be 30 percent.

Glaston’s share of assets and liabilities, and income and expenses of joint ventures are as follows:  

share of assets and liabilities of joint ventures 2009 2008

Non-current assets 2,440 531
current assets 1,383 435
total assets 3,823 966

Non-current liabilities 2,967 -
current liabilities 1,118 97
total liabilities 4,085 97

share of income and expenses of joint ventures

Net sales 2,567 469
expenses and depreciation and amortisation -3,949 -446
operating profit / loss -1,382 23
financial income and expenses -147 2
result before income taxes -1,530 25
income taxes -48 -6
Net result -1,577 19
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No impairment losses have been recorded from receivables from the joint venture.

Glaston has granted a non-current loan to the joint venture. The loan is a bullet loan to be paid on 31 december, 2013. The per annum 
interest rate is 7 percent. The accured interest from 2010 will capitalised to the principal amount. from 2011 onward the interest will 
paid once a year at the end of the reporting period.

transactions with joint venture

Sales to joint venture 12 24
rental income from joint venture 276 -
interest income from joint venture 295 -

associated company balances

in 2009 and 2008, Glaston group companies did not have any receivables from or payables to associates.

transactions with associates
   
in 2009 and 2008, Glaston group companies did not have any transactions with associates.
   
financial information of the associate

The Group’s share of the result of the associate is consolidated using the equity method. The result used in the consolidation is 
from the 2008 financial statements of Bitec GmbH Büro für informationstechnik as the 2009 financial statements of Bitec GmbH 
Büro für informationstechnik were not available when preparing Glaston’s consolidated financial statements.   

2008 2007
profit 6 38
Assets 399 369
Liabilities 248 224

Joint venture balances 2009 2008

Non-current receivables 5,935 -
current receivables 1,218 30
current liabilities 87 -
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Note 17  
aVaiLaBLe-for-saLe fiNaNciaL assets
EUR thousand

Note 18  
iNVeNtories
EUR thousand

2009
available-for-sale  

shares
other available-for-sale 

investments
carrying amount 1 January 314 7
Additions - -
disposals -2 -
reclassifications - -
impairments -1 -1
fair value changes recognised in other comprehensive income 18 -
carrying amount 31 december 329 6

2008
available-for-sale  

shares
other available-for-sale 

investments
carrying amount 1 January 87 18
Additions - 4
disposals -6 -17
reclassifications 256 69
impairments -40 -67
fair value changes recognised in other comprehensive income 17 -
carrying amount 31 december 314 7

Glaston has classified its non-current investments as available-for-sale shares and other available-for-sale investments. Glaston re-
cognises fair value changes of available-for-sale assets in other comperehensive income and they are included in the fair value reserve 
in equity until the assets are disposed, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to profit or loss as an reclassification 
item. certain unlisted equities and investments, for which fair values can not be measured reliably, are recognised and measured at 
cost or at cost less impairment. 

impairment losses of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in the income statement in financial items.

reclassifications in 2008 include mainly the reclassification of assets held for sale back to available-for-sale shares.

2009 2008
inventories
Materials and supplies 8,606 6,494
Work in process 15,008 20,541
finished goods 13,458 25,867
Advances paid 325 1,015
total inventories 37,398 53,918

impairment losses of inventory during the period -4,732 -3,470
reversals of impairment losses of inventory during the period 0 84
total write-downs and reversals of write-downs during the period -4,732 -3,386

carrying amount of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell 3,618 4,254
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Note 19  
receiVaBLes
EUR thousand

2009 2008
receivables
Trade receivables 37,560 66,041
Trade receivables, falling due after 12 months 3,379 3,090
Total trade receivables 40,939 69,131

prepaid expenses and accrued income 4,406 6,942

Other receivables 3,039 2,270
Other receivables, falling due after 12 months 3,845 4,915

Non-current loan receivables (* 5,935 -

total receivables 58,163 83,258

prepaid expenses and accrued income consist mainly of accruals of financial items, fair values of derivative instruments, accruals 
related to sales, accruals related to insurances and other accruals.

prepaid expenses and accrued income related to derivative instruments are disclosed in more detail in Note 26. 

receivables falling due after 12 months have been discounted.

Carrying amount of 
trade receivables 
after recognising 

allowance account Not past due 

past due

< 30 days 31 - 180 days 181 - 360 days > 360 days
2009 40,939 26,967 5,645 6,190 1,038 1,100
2008 69,131 41,075 11,299 12,808 3,274 675

ageing analysis of trade receivables at  31 december

Allowance account of trade receivables is used when an estimate of impairment losses arising from trade receivables is recognised. 
These impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. if the impairment loss recognised in the allowance account becomes final, 
trade receivables are decreased with the amount of the impairment loss and allowance account is adjusted respectively.

carrying amount of trade receivables, which would be past due, but whose terms have been renegotiated, was eUr 1.9 (3.3) million.

impairment losses of trade receivables and changes in allowance account of trade receivables

Allowance account 1 January, 2008 4,055
charge for the year 3,746
Utilised -177
Unused amounts reversed -152
allowance account 31 december, 2008 7,472
charge for the year 3,056
Utilised -2,343
Unused amounts reversed -1,244
allowance account 31 december, 2009 6,941

2009 2008
impairment losses of trade receivables recognised in profit or loss, net 1,842 3,708

(*  in non-current assets
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Note 20  
totaL coMpreheNsiVe iNcoMe iNcLuded iN equity
EUR thousand

hedging 
reserve

fair value 
reserve

retained 
earnings

cumulative 
exchange 

difference

Non- 
controlling 

interest total 
total other comprehensive income for 2009
Total exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations - - - -743 -1 -743
Other changes and reclassifications - - - - - -
cash flow hedges - - - - - -
income taxes on cash flow hedges - - - - - -
Available-for-sale financial assets,  
fair value changes - 18 - - - 18
income taxes on fair value changes of  
available-for-sale financial assets - -5 - - - -5
other comprehensive income - 13 - -743 -1 -730
Loss for 2009 - - -53,590 - -49 -53,639
total comprehensive income for 2009 - 13 -53,590 -743 -49 -54,369

hedging 
reserve

fair value 
reserve

retained 
earnings

cumulative 
exchange 

difference

Non- 
controlling 

interest total 
total other comprehensive income for 2008
Total exchange differences on translating  
foreign operations - - - 691 -10 681
Other changes and reclassifications - 21 -75 - 65 11
cash flow hedges -28 - - - - -28
income taxes on cash flow hedges 7 - - - - 7
Available-for-sale financial assets,  
change in fair value - 17 - - - 17
income taxes on fair value changes of 
available-for-sale financial assets - -4 - - - -4
other comprehensive income -21 33 -75 691 55 683
Loss for 2008 - - -9,134 - -42 -9,176
total comprehensive income for 2008 -21 33 -9,209 691 13 -8,493

Note 21  
peNsioNs aNd other defiNed LoNG-terM eMpLoyee BeNefits
EUR thousand

The Group has various defined benefit schemes in the countries where it operates. The plans include retirement and termination  
benefits. 

The Group has defined benefit pension plans in finland. The Group has also defined contribution pension plans, of which the charge 
to the income statement was eUr 4.4 (4.6) million. 

in addition to defined benefit pensions, Glaston has other long-term defined employee benefits, such as statutory defined benefit 
severance pay schemes in italy and Mexico.

amounts in the statement of financial position relating to finnish defined benefit pension plans 2009 2008

fair value of plan assets - -
present value of funded obligations 39 48
Unrecognised actuarial gain (loss -) 88 109
Net liability (asset -) 127 157

Amounts in the balance sheet
Liabilities 127 157
Assets - -

Net liability (asset -) 127 157
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amounts in the statement of financial position relating to other long-term employee benefits 2009 2008

fair value of plan assets - -
present value of unfunded obligations 3,181 4,400
Unrecognised actuarial gain (loss -) -135 -566
Net liability (asset -) 3,046 3,834

Amounts in the balance sheet
     Liabilities 3,046 3,834
     Assets - -
Net liability (asset -) 3,046 3,834

changes in the fair value of plan assets, finnish defined benefit pensions

fair value of plan assets 1 January - 255
expected return on plan assets - 14
Actuarial gains (losses -) - -
Benefits paid - -
contributions by employer - 1
Other changes - -270
fair value of plan assets 31 december - 0

changes in the present value of defined benefit pension obligation, finnish defined benefit pensions

present value of defined benefit obligation 1 January 48 495
current service cost - 1
interest cost 3 24
Actuarial losses (gains -) -5 -99
Benefits paid -7 -15
Other changes - -358
present value of defined benefit obligation 31 december 39 48

changes in the present value of other long-term employee benefit plans

present value of defined benefit obligation 1 January 4,400 4,499
exchange differences on foreign plans 0 -13
current service cost 4 5
interest cost 208 227
Actuarial losses (gains -) -142 113
effect of curtailment 10 -
Benefits paid -1,299 -431
present value of defined benefit obligation 31 december 3,181 4,400

amounts recognised in profit or loss, finnish defined benefit pensions

current service cost - 1
expected return on plan assets - -14
interest on obligation 3 24
Actuarial losses and gains (-) -26 -20
Other changes - -88
total included in pension expenses (gain -) -23 -97

The Group expects to contribute eUr 6 thousand to its defined benefit pension plans in 2010.
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The Group expects to contribute eUr 1,268 thousand to its other long-term employee benefit plans in 2010.

amounts recognised in profit or loss, other defined long-term employee benefit plans 2009 2008

current service cost 4 5
interest on obligation 209 227
Actuarial losses and gains (-) 289 51
effect of curtailment 9 -
total included in other personnel expenses (gain -) 511 283

actual return on plan assets, finnish pensions

expected return on plan assets - -
Actuarial gains and losses (-) on plan assets - -
actual return on plan assets - -

actuarial assumptions 2009 2008
finnish defined 

pension plans other plans
finnish defined 

pension plans other plans
discount rate, % 4.00% 5.25% - 8.50% 6.00% 5.00% - 8.68%
expected return on plan assets, % 4.00% - 6.00% -
future salary increase, % 0.00% 5.04 % 3.30% 5.04%
future pension increases, % 2.10% - 2.10% -
inflation, % 2.00% 2.00 % 2.00% 2.30% - 4.00%
expected remaining service period 3 18 - 22 4 11 - 22

amounts for the current and previous periods, defined benefit pensions 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

defined benefit pension obligation 39 48 494 536 504
plan assets - - 254 269 254
Surplus / deficit (-) -39 -48 -240 -267 -250

experience adjustments on plan assets - 0 84 0 0
experience adjustments on plan liabilities -8 -97 -114 0 0

amounts for the current and previous periods,  
other long-term employee benefit plans 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

defined benefit obligation 3,181 4,400 4,499 6,193 6,346
plan assets - - - - -
Surplus / deficit (-) -3,181 -4,400 -4,499 -6,193 -6,346

experience adjustments on plan assets - - - - -
experience adjustments on plan liabilities -158 90 163 -1 -

information of the asset categories is not available.
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Note 22  
iNterest-BeariNG LiaBiLities
EUR thousand

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 2009 2008

convertible bond 20,144 -
pension loans - 10,950
finance leasing liabilities 2,612 4,383
Loans from financial institutions 2,087 1,107
Other non-current liabilities 27 -
total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 24,870 16,440

Maturity of non-current interest-bearing liabilities

2011 (2010) 2,341 5,931
2012 (2011) 262 5,922
2013 (2012) 271 451
2014 (20113) 20,415 1,564
2015 (2014) or later 1,581 2,572
total 24,870 16,440

Non-current liabilities by currency

eUr 24,843 16,440
BrL 27 -
total 24,870 16,440

Non-current interest-bearing loans maturing after 5 years

finance leasing liabilities 1,581 2,572
total 1,581 2,572

current interest-bearing liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 50,619 41,553
commercial paper programme 3,493 4,965
pension loans - 5,475
finance leasing liabilities 260 502
Other current interest-bearing liabilities 37 500
total current interest-bearing liabilities 54,409 52,995

interest-bearing net liabilities 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 24,870 16,440
current interest-bearing liabilities 54,409 52,995
cash -15,556 -11,524
total 63,723 57,912

Glaston’s main liquidity reserve is a committed revolving credit facility. The credit facility was renewed in November 2009. At the end of 
2009, eUr 42 million of the new eUr 74 million revolving credit facility was in use. At the end of 2008, eUr 29 million of the eUr 65 mil-
lion revolving credit facility was in use.

Glaston corporation has a domestic commercial paper programme of eUr 50 million. Under the commercial paper programme, 
Glaston is able to issue commercial papers with a maximum maturity of one year.

Glaston issued in June 2009 a convertible bond. An aggregate amount of eUr 23,750,000  of the convertible bond was subscribed. The  
issue price of the bond was 100 percent, and the principal amount of the bond carries a fixed interest rate of 7 percent per annum. The con-
version price of the shares that the bonds may be converted into is eUr 1.30. The right to convert the bonds into shares commenced on 1 
August, 2009 and the maturity date of the bonds is 19 June, 2014. The bond is publicly traded on the Nasdaq OMx Helsinki.

Some of the Group’s loan agreements include terms and other commitments which are linked to consolidated key figures. if the 
covenant terms are not fulfilled, negotiations with the lenders will be initiated. These negotiations may lead to notice of termination of 
financial agreements. The terms of agreement also include restrictions on the distribution of dividends. Based on the restrictions divi-
dend distribution is allowed only if Glaston’s net gearing shall be above 80 percent before and after the possible dividend distribution. 
This does not apply to statutory dividends required to be distributed pursuant to the finnish companies Act.

The liquidity and currency risk related to interest-bearing debt is described in more detail in Note 3.  
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Note 23  
proVisioNs
EUR thousand

finance leasing

Glaston has  finance lease agreements concerning machinery and equipment and a building. The most significant individual agreement 
is an agreement made in 2008 with Akaa town, finland, concerning a building. 

The carrying amount of machinery and equipment financed with finance leasing was eUr 0.3 (0.5) million, and depreciation thereon 
was eUr 0.1 (0.2) million. The carrying amount of buildings financed with finance leasing was eUr 3.3 (5.0) million, and depreciation 
thereon was eUr 0.3 (0.3) million.

2009 2008
Minimum lease payments, maturing in
Less than 1 year 419 859
2 - 5 years 1,519 3,040
Over 5 years 1,828 3,332
total minimum lease payments 3,766 7,230
future finance charge -894 -2,345
present value of minimum lease payments 2,872 4,886

present value of minimum lease payments, maturing in
Less than 1 year 260 502
2 - 5 years 1,030 1,811
Over 5 years 1,581 2,572
total present value of minimum lease payments 2,872 4,886

Non-current provisions

2009
Warranty 
provision

restructuring 
provisions

other  
provisions total

carrying amount 1 January 2,904 446 38 3,388
exchange difference - - - -
reclassification - - 0 0
increase in provisions 3,302 - 137 3,439
provisions used during the period -1,461 -4 - -1,464
provisions released during the period -1,246 -216 - -1,463
carrying amount 31 december 3,498 226 175 3,899

2008
Warranty 
provision

restructuring 
provisions

other  
provisions total

carrying amount 1 January 2,588 2,212 68 4,868
exchange difference -2 9 - 7
reclassification 1 - - 1
increase in provisions 3,224 - 10 3,234
provisions used during the period -2,088 -977 - -3,065
provisions released during the period -821 -798 -40 -1,659
carrying amount 31 december 2,904 446 38 3,388
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current provisions

2009
Warranty  

provisions
restructuring 

provisions
other  

provisions total
carrying amount 1 January 724 5,499 4,348 10,572
exchange difference - - -1 -1
reclassification 789 - -398 391
increase in provisions 667 7,833 212 8,712
provisions used during the period -368 -4,575 -3,473 -8,415
provisions released during the period -375 -923 -162 -1,460
carrying amount 31 december 1,437 7,834 527 9,798

2008
Warranty  

provisions
restructuring 

provisions
other  

provisions total
carrying amount 1 January 592 100 1,887 2,579
exchange difference 0 - -2 -3
reclassification -1 -37 37 -1
increase in provisions 161 5,600 3,251 9,012
provisions used during the period -3 -164 -791 -958
provisions released during the period -24 - -34 -58
carrying amount 31 december 724 5,499 4,348 10,572

Warranty provisions
Glaston grants to its machine deliveries a guarantee period of 1 to 2 years. during the guarantee period Glaston repairs the defects, 
if any, of the machines and carries the costs of the repairing. The warranty provisions are expected to be realised within the next two 
years.

restructuring provisions
Glaston has recorded restructuring provisions for rationalisation measures by closing production units or reducing activities at the units. 
restructuring provisions only include expenses that are necessarily entailed by the restructuring, and which are not associated with 
the on-going activities. The restructuring provision includes, but is not limited to, estimated provisions for employee benefits related to 
personnel whose employment has been terminated. Glaston estimates, that a significant portion of the restructuring provisions will be 
realised in 2010. for some of the provisions it is not possible to estimate timing of the outflow of economic benefits, for example due to the 
timing of such outflows are dependent on the actions of an external party. 

other provisions
increase in 2008 was primarily related to expense provisions associated with previous year agreements. 

Note 24  
iNterest-free LiaBiLities
EUR thousand

2009 2008
Non-current interest-free liabilities
Other non-current interest-free liabilities 262 599

current interest-free liabilities
Trade payables 11,847 15,754
Advances received 16,851 15,444
Accrued expenses and deferred income 22,045 26,412
Other current interest-free liabilities 2,505 6,192
total current interest-free liabilities 53,249 63,802

Accruals mainly consist of cost accruals for machinery deliveries, accrued personnel expenses, accruals related to net sales and pur-
chases, accruals of interests, fair values of derivative instruments and other accruals.

Accrued expenses and deferred income related to derivative instruments are disclosed in more detail in Note 26. 
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Note 25  
fiNaNciaL assets aNd LiaBiLities 
EUR thousand

31 december, 2009 Note

assets 
available- 
for-sale (*

financial assets 
and liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit and loss (*

Loans and  
receivables

financial  
liabilities at 

amortised cost
total carrying 

amounts 
total fair  

value
cash 15,556 15,556 15,556
Trade receivables 19 40,939 40,939 40,939
Other interest-free receivables 19 6,884 6,884 6,884
interest-bearing non-current  
receivables 19 5,935 5,935 5,935
Available-for-sale shares 17 329 329 329
Other available-for-sale 
investments 17 6 6 6
Non-current interest-bearing  
liabilities 22 -4,726 -4,726 -4,726
convertible bond 22 -20,144 -20,144 -23,038
current interest-bearing liabilities 22 -54,409 -54,409 -54,409
Trade payables 24 -11,847 -11,847 -11,847
Advances received 24 -16,851 -16,851 -16,851
Other current interest-free 
liabilities 24 -2,767 -2,767 -2,767
derivatives (in liabilities) 26 -51 -51 -51

335 -51 69,313 -110,744 -41,146 -44,039

31 december, 2008 Note

assets  
available- 
for-sale (*

financial assets 
and liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit and loss (*

Loans and  
receivables

financial  
liabilities at 

amortised cost
total carrying 

amounts total fair value
cash 11,524 11,524 11,524
Trade receivables 19 69,131 69,131 69,131
Other interest-free receivables 19 7,185 7,185 7,185
Available-for-sale shares 17 314 314 314
Other available-for-sale 
investments 17 7 7 7
Non-current interest-bearing 
liabilities 22 -16,440 -16,440 -16,440
current interest-bearing liabilities 22 -52,995 -52,995 -52,995
Trade payables 24 -15,754 -15,754 -15,754
Advances received 24 -15,444 -15,444 -15,444
Other current interest-free 
liabilities 24 -6,791 -6,791 -6,791
derivatives (in liabilities) 26 -126 -126 -126

321 -126 87,840 -107,424 -19,389 -19,389

(* fair value measurement hierarchy: 2009 2008
   Available-for-sale shares
              Level 1 77 60
              Level 3 252 254

329 314
   Other available-for-sale investments
              Level 3 6 7
   derivatives (in liabilities)
              Level 2 -51 -126

fair value measurement hierarchy:    
  Level 1 = quoted prices in active markets    
  Level 2 = other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly
  Level 3 = not based on observable market data    
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Note 26  
deriVatiVe iNstruMeNts
EUR thousand

Most of the Group’s derivative transactions, while providing economic hedges, do not qualify for hedge accounting under iAS 39. As 
hedge accounting is not applied for currency derivatives, changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are immediately recogni-
sed in profit or loss. Group companies primarily hedge their sales in foreign currency as well as those orders received, for which there 
are firm commitments. The hedging instruments used are forward contracts mainly made with Group Treasury, or directly with banks.
These hedges are recognised in profit or loss as sales adjustments.

during the year 2008 the Group had recorded currency derivatives for which hedge accounting applied. changes in the fair value of 
these derivatives were recognised in other comprehensive income net of tax, and presented in hedging reserve in equity. The ineffective 
part of the hedge was recognised immediately in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss of the derivative recognised in other com-
prehensive income was reclassified from the equity in profit or loss as a reclassification item in the same period in which the hedged 
item affected profit or loss. At the end of 2008, the Group did not have derivatives which would qualify for hedge accounting.

Valuation methods of derivative instruments are presented in the Summary of Significant Accounting policies.

Nominal and fair values of derivative instruments

Nominal value fair value Nominal value fair value
currency derivatives
   forward contracts 2,571 -51 6,156 -126

change in fair values of derivatives included in equity
hedging reserve

equity 1 January, 2008 21
cash flow hedges, change in fair values, effective portion -
cash flow hedges, reclassified in profit or loss -28
deferred taxes 7
cash flow hedges included in equity, net -21
equity 31 december, 2008 -
cash flow hedges, change in fair values, effective portion -
cash flow hedges, reclassified in profit or loss -
deferred taxes -
cash flow hedges included in equity, net -
equity 31 december, 2009 -

derivative instruments in the income statement 2009 2008

items included in net sales -162 -138

derivative instruments in the statement of financial position, receivables and liabilities

Accrued expenses and deferred income
currency derivatives 51 126

20082009
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Note 27  
coNtiNGeNcies
EUR thousand

2009 2008
Loans secured with mortgages or pledges

Loans from financial institutions 41,865 -

Mortgages given 28,000 -
Liens on chattel 48,000 -
carrying amount of pledged securities 54,753 -

total loans secured with mortgages, liens on chattel and pledged securities 41,865 -
total mortgages, liens on chattel and pledged securities 130,753 -

contingent liabilities

Mortgages
On behalf of own commitments 28,000 168

Liens on chattel
On behalf of own commitments 48,000 -

Assets pledged 
On behalf of own commitments 54,753 -

Total 130,753 168

repurchase obligations 210 782

Guarantees
On behalf of own commitments 560 772
On behalf of others 86 133

Total 646 905

capital commitments in relation to interests in joint ventures 700 -

total contingent liabilities 132,309 1,855

operating leases
Glaston has some operating lease agreements in which the Group acts as a lessor. The minimum future payments to be received from 
non-cancellable operating lease agreements are presented in the table below.

Minimum future payments of operating leases
Maturity within one year 3,505 4,352
Maturity later than one year and not later than five years 8,427 13,458
Maturity later than five years 1,479 1,213

total minimum future payments of operating leases 13,411 19,023

operating leases as a lessor
Glaston has some operating lease agreements in which the Group acts as a lessor. The minimum future payments to be received from 
non-cancellable operating lease agreements are presented in the table below.

Minimum future payments of operating leases
Maturity within one year 384 13
Maturity later than one year and not later than five years 480 23
Maturity later than five years - -

total minimum future payments of operating leases 864 36

other contingent liabilities and litigations

Glaston Group has international operations and can be a defendant or plaintiff in a number of legal proceedings incidental to those 
operations. The Group does not expect the outcome of any unmentioned legal proceedings currently pending, either individually or in 
the aggregate, to have material adverse effect upon the Group’s consolidated financial position or result.

A customer of the US subsidiary Glaston USA, inc. had made a claim of approximately USd 22 million due to a sale of a machine in 
2004. The arbitration proceeding initiated by the customer against the US subsidiary Glaston USA, inc. was concluded in April 2009. 
Majority of the customer’s claim were denied. The matter had no material effect on Glaston’s 2009 result, because it was included in 
2008 result as a non-recurring item, but the compensation paid by Glaston has affected Glaston’s cash flow.

The Group recognised a tax refund of approximately eUr 2 million in 2006 after having received an affirmative decision according to 
which the expenses arising from the management incentive scheme of the Group are deductible in taxation. The tax authorities of the 
Tax Office for Major corporations appealed against the decision to the Administrative court of Helsinki. Administrative court of Helsinki 
decided the case on Glaston’s favour in January 2009. The decision is final, since no appeal was made.  
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Note 28   
shares aNd hoLdiNGs

Group companies Group holding % parent holding %

Glaston Oyj Abp Hämeenkyrö finland

Uniglass engineering Oy Tampere finland 100.0% 100.0%
Glaston Services Ltd. Oy Tampere finland 100.0% 100.0%
  Glaston estonia Oü Tallinn estonia 100.0%
  Glaston finland Oy Tampere finland 100.0%
  Tamglass Lasinjalostus Oy Tampere finland 100.0%
  Tamglass project development Oy Tampere finland 100.0%
  Tamglass eMA Sales Ltd. Oy Tampere finland 100.0%
  Glaston America, inc. pittsburgh, pA United States 100.0%
      Glaston USA, inc. cinnaminson, NJ United States 100.0%
      Glaston North America, inc. (* Greensboro, Nc United States 100.0%
  Glaston UK Ltd. Nottinghamshire United Kingdom 100.0%
       Bavelloni UK Ltd. (** rugby United Kingdom 100.0%
  Glaston france S.A.S.U. chassieu france 100.0%
       Glaston Spain S.L. Barcelona Spain 100.0%
  Glaston Germany GmbH Nürnberg Germany 100.0%
  Glaston Japan, inc. Osaka Japan 100.0%
  Glaston Singapore pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore 100.0%
  Glaston Brazil Ltda (*** São paulo Brazil 100.0%
  Glaston Tianjin co. Ltd. Tianjin china 100.0%
  Glaston Shanghai co. Ltd. Shanghai china 100.0%
  Glaston Management (Shanghai) co. Ltd. Shanghai china 100.0%
  Glaston china co. Ltd. Tianjin china 100.0%
  LLc Glaston Moscow russia 100.0%
  Glaston Australia pty. Ltd. queensland Australia 100.0%
  Glaston Mexico S.A. de c.V. Jalisco Mexico 100.0%
  Z. Bavelloni South America Ltda São paulo Brazil 100.0%
  Glasto Holding B.V. Sittard Netherlands 100.0%
  Glaston Netherlands B.V. Hoensbroek Netherlands 100.0%
  Glaston Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong china 100.0%
      Bavelloni Tools (Tianjin) co., Ltd. Tianjin china 70.0%
      Glaston Tools (Sanhe) co., Ltd. (**** Sanhe china 70.0%
  Glaston italy S.p.A. Bregnano italy 100.0%
Albat+Wirsam Software AG Linden Germany 100.0% 100.0%
   Glaston Belgium GmbH eupen Belgium 100.0%
   Albat+Wirsam polska Sp.z.o.o. Krakow poland 100.0%
   Albat+Wirsam North America inc. Ontario canada 100.0%

Joint ventures
   iNTerpANe Glass Oy Tampere finland 50.0%
associate
   Bitec GmbH Büro für informationstechnik chemnitz Germany 48.8%

(*  The company was merged with Glaston America Ltd.1 January, 2010.
(**  Merger process is ongoing. The company will be merged with Glaston UK Ltd.
(***  The company was merged with Z. Bavelloni South America Ltda 4 January, 2010. The merged company’s name will be Glaston South 

America Ltda.
(****  The company was consolidated as a joint venture using the equity method in 2008 as Glaston did not have control in the company. 

from the beginning of 2009, the company has been consolidated as a subsidiary.

changes in subsidiaries in 2009

- The chinese company, Glaston Management (Shanghai) co. Ltd., was established in April.
- The Mexican company Glaston Servicios S.A. de c.V. merged in June with Glaston Mexico S.A. de c.V.
- The Swiss company cattin Machines, S.A. was liquidated in June. 
- Albat+Wirsam Software (UK) Ltd. in the UK was merged wit Glaston UK Ltd. in July.
- The German company cantor Software GmbH merged with Albat+Wirsam Software AG in September.
- The italian company diapol S.r.l. merged in december with Glaston italy S.p.A. 
- The name of  Sanhe AAA Tools co., Ltd. was changed to Glaston Tools (Sanhe) co., Ltd.



78
GLASTON cOrpOrATiON
BOArd Of direcTOrS’ reVieW ANd fiNANciAL STATeMeNTS 2009

Note 29  
share-Based iNceNtiVe pLaNs 

share-based incentive plans

Glaston’s share-based incentive plan is directed to the Group’s key personnel as part of the Group’s incentive schemes. The plan aims 
to align the interests of the company’s shareholders and key personnel in the Group in order to raise the value of Glaston. The shares 
can be in Glaston corporation’s own treasury or they may be purchased in public trading. Therefore, the incentive plan has no dilution 
effect on the share value.

The share-based incentive plan of Glaston is a combination of shares and cash payments. Glaston has the option to settle the pos-
sible reward in cash in its entirety. The granted amount of the incentive plan settled in shares is measured at fair value at the grant 
date, and the cash-settled part of the plan is measured at fair value at the reporting or payment date. The expenses arising from the 
incentive plan have been recognised in profit or loss during the vesting periods. The cash-settled portion of the incentive plan is recor-
ded as a liability in the statement of financial position, if it has not been paid, and the portion settled in shares has been recorded in re-
tained earnings in equity net of tax. Glaston has recorded the personnel costs arising from the share-based incentive plan to the extent 
it is liable to pay them.

share-based incentive plans 2007 - 2009

Glaston’s Board of directors decided on 9 May, 2007, to adopt a new share-based incentive plan which was based on three performan-
ce periods: 2007, 2008 and 2009. The Board of directors determined on the target group and on the criteria used and set targets for 
the criteria at the beginning of each performance period. The maximum reward of the plan is 652,500 shares. in addition to shares, a 
cash payment up to an amount that is needed for taxes and tax-related costs arising from the reward will be paid. The earnings criteria 
for the performance periods of 2009 were the Group’s operating profit (eBiT) and working capital, both with 50 percent weight. The 
earnings criteria for the performance periods of 2008 and 2007 were the Group’s operating profit (60 percent weight) and growth in net 
sales (40 percent weight). 

in addition, the ceO has a separate share-based payment incentive plan. According to the plan, the ceO will receive 50,000 shares in 
Glaston corporation one year after the date when his employment in Glaston began.

The shares cannot be transferred further within two years from the reward payment date (restriction period). if a person’s employment 
or service ends during the restriction period, he/she must return the shares. 

The expenses, personnel costs included, were in 2009  eUr 0.3 (0.3) million. The unpaid portion, recognised as a liability, was eUr 
0.0 (0.0) million. in 2008, in total 103,707 shares from the 2007 performance period were surrendered to the 18 persons involved in the 
share-based incentive plan. At the date when the shares were surrendered, the fair value of the shares was eUr 0.4 million. 
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performance period 
2007

performance period 
2008

performance period 
2009

performance period 
2009

Grant date 9 May, 2007 26 March, 2008 11 June, 2009 11 August, 2009
Nature of the plan Shares and cash Shares and cash Shares and cash Shares and cash
Target group Key personnel Key personnel Key personnel ceO
Maximum number of shares, 
settled in shares 175,122 273,750 273,750 50,000

Maximum number of shares, 
settled in cash (calculated as a 
number of shares) (*

209,017 334,583 334,583 55,000

performance period begins 1 January, 2007 1 January, 2008 1 January, 2009 1 September, 2009
performance period ends 31 december, 2007 31 december, 2008 31 december, 2009 1 September, 2010
end of restriction period 25 April, 2010 30 April, 2011 30 April, 2011 1 September, 2012
Vesting conditions eBiT (weight 60%) and 

sales growth (weight 
40%)

eBiT (weight 60%) and 
sales growth (weight 

40%)

eBiT (weight 50%) and 
net working capital 

(weight 50%)

-

Service period Service period Service period Service period
Maximum contractual life, years 3.0 forfeited 3.1 3.1
remaining contractual life, years 0.3 - 2.5 2.7
Number of persons involved 31 
december, 2009 11 - 31 1

(*  The number of shares includes the cash-settled part (in shares).

share-based incentive plans 2007 - 2009 ceo’s planBasic information of the 
share-based plans

transactions in 2009 
in number of shares

performance 
period 2007

performance 
period 2008

performance 
period 2009 (** total

Gross number of shares (*  1 January, 2009
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 103,707 608,333 - 712,040
changes during the reporting period
Granted - - 713,333 713,333
forfeited -28,789 -608,333 -94,444 -637,122
Settled in cash - - - -
expired -23,853 - - -23,853
Gross number of shares (*  31 december, 2009
Outstanding at the end of the period 51,065 - 618,889 669,954
excercisable at the end of the period - - 618,889 618,889

(*  The number of shares includes the cash-settled part (in shares).
(** includes both plans.
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transactions in 2008
number of shares

performance 
period 2007

performance 
period 2008 total

Gross number of shares (* 1 January, 2008
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 384,139 - 384,139
changes during the reporting period
Granted - 608,333 608,333
forfeited -156,652 - -156,652
Settled in cash -123,780 - -123,780
expired - - -
Gross number of shares (* 31 december, 2008
Outstanding at the end of the period 103,707 608,333 712,040
excercisable at the end of the period - 608,333 608,333

in 2008, in total 103,707 shares from the 2007 performance period were surrendered.

performance 
period 2007

performance 
period 2008

performance 
period 2009

performance 
period 2009

fair value calculation of the share-based reward
Share price at the grant date, eUr 4.08 3.28 1.11 1.22
Annually expected dividends, eUr 0.09 0.10 0.00 0.00
fair value of share-settled part / share, eUr 3.99 3.18 1.11 1.22
Share price at 31 december 2009 or at the date of  
the surrender (cash-settled part), eUr 3.11 - 1.08 1.08
fair value of the reward at 31 december 2009, eUr 
thousand 684 - 210 120

effect on the profit of loss for the period and on 
financial position
effect on the result of the 2009 reporting period,  
eUr thousand 223 -21 43 13
recognised in equity during the reporting period.  
eUr thousand 59 -16 19 7
carrying amount of liability, 31 december, 2009 - - 24 7

Basic parameters used in calculation of fair value of the share-based incentinve plans in 2009

share-based incentive plans 2007 - 2009 ceo’s plan

The fair value of the share-based reward is defined on the date when the company and the target group have agreed on the plan (grant 
date). As the persons involved in the plan are not entitled to dividends during the performance period, the fair value of the equity-settled 
reward accounts for the share price at the grant date deducted by the dividends expected to be paid during the performance period.

synthetic option plan
 
Glaston Services Ltd. Oy had an incentive plan approved in 2002, which was aimed at the management and key persons of Glaston 
Group. during the 2008 reporting period, the remaining options, in total 1,500 options (A- and B-options), were paid. The value of the paid 
options was eUr 0.2 million.
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Note 30  
reLated parties

parties are considered to be related parties if a party is able to exercise control over the other, or substantially influence its decision-
making concerning its finances and business operations. Glaston Group’s related parties include the parent of the Group (Glaston cor-
poration), subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

related parties also include the members of the Board of directors, the Group’s executive Management Group, the ceO and their 
family members. 

Glaston follows the same commercial terms in transactions with associates, joint ventures and other related parties as with third 
parties. Associates and joint ventures are described in more detail in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Glaston has rented premises from companies owned by individuals belonging to the management. The rents paid correspond with 
the local level of rents. 

transactions with related parties 2009 2008
eUr thousand

rents paid 627 638

remuneration of the executive Management Group
eUr

ceo arto Metsänen (*

Salaries 105,580 -
Bonuses - -
Total 105,580 -
fringe benefits 6,420 -
total 112,000 -

compulsory pension payments (finnish TyeL or similar plan) 6,048 -

(* from 1 September, 2009

ceo Mika seitovirta (*

Salaries 272,024 442,014
compensation for termination of employment 525,000 -
Share-based incentive plans, settled in cash - 74,204
Share-based incentive plans, settled in shares, value of shares - 61,391
Bonuses 33,171 87,930
Total 830,195 665,539
fringe benefits 3,846 2,420
total 834,041 667,959

compulsory pension payments (finnish TyeL or similar plan) 13,289 16,439

(* until 5 August, 2009
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remuneration of the Board of directors
eUr 2009 2008

annual fee meeting fee annual fee meeting fee
Andreas Tallberg, chairman of the Board of directors 40,000 8,000 40,000 7,200
christer Sumelius, deputy chairman of the Board of directors 30,000 5,000 30,000 4,500
claus von Bonsdorff 20,000 5,000 20,000 4,500
Klaus cawén 20,000 5,000 20,000 4,500
carl-Johan rosenbröijer 20,000 5,000 20,000 4,500
Mikael Mäkinen (* 5,000 1,000 15,000 3,000
Jan Lång (** 20,000 4,500 15,000 3,000
Jan Hasselblatt (*** - - 5,000 1,500
yhteensä 155,000 33,500 165,000 32,700

(* Member of the Board of directors from 11 March, 2008 until 17 March, 2009
(** Member of the Board of directors from 11 March, 2008
(*** Member of the Board of directors until 11 March, 2008

The members of Glaston corporation’s Board of directors were paid a monthly remuneration and a meeting fee; other compensation 
was not paid. The chairman of Glaston corporation’s Board of directors was paid eUr 40,000 (40,000) annually, the deputy chairman 
eUr 30,000 (30,000) annually and each of the members eUr 20,000 (20,000) annually. in addition, a meeting fee of eUr 800 (800) per 
meeting was paid to the chairman of the meeting and eUr 500 (500) to the other participants of the meeting. The members of the Bo-
ard of directors did not receive any shares or share derivatives as remuneration during the year. 

The members of Glaston corporation’s Board of directors are covered by voluntary pension insurance accrued from board membership 
fees. This pension liability is covered. The value of the pension insurance corresponds to the finnish TyeL pension.

other members of the executive Management Group 2009 2008
Salaries 1,155,624 1,176,370
compensations for termination of employment 425,036 -
Share-based incentive plans, settled in cash - 137,395
Share-based incentive plans, settled in shares, value of shares - 102,319
Bonuses 124,322 298,237
Total 1,704,982 1,714,321
fringe benefits 74,573 70,804
total 1,779,555 1,785,125

compulsory pension payments (finnish TyeL or similar plan) 132,802 137,193

The ceO’s period of notice is 3 months. in the event the company would give notice to the ceO, he will receive an additional remunera-
tion equaling 12 months’ salary. if there is a change in control of the company where more than 50 percent of the company’s shares are 
transferred to a new owner, the ceO has the right to terminate his employment with 1 month’s period of notice, in which case he would 
receive eUr 200,000 as compensation for temination of employment. The ceO has also a separate share-based payment incentive plan. 
According to the plan, the ceO will receive 50,000 shares in Glaston corporation one year after the date when his employment in Glaston 
began. 

compensation of the ceO and other members of the executive Management Group consists of a fixed monthly salary, an annual 
bonus and a share-based incentive plan intended as a long-term incentive (described in more detail in Note 29). The criteria for bonus 
payments are consolidated result, result of the business area or business unit as well as personal targets. The maximum annual bonus 
of the ceO is 50 percent of the annual salary. The maximum annual bonus of the other members of the executive Management Group 
is 40 percent of the annual salary. 

The ceO of Glaston corporation is entitled to retire at the age of 63. The retirement age of other members of the executive Manage-
ment Group is according to the normal local legislation.   
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executive Management Group, share ownership

Glaston shares

31.12.2009 
total

31.12.2008 
total

of which received in 2008
 based of the share-based 

incentive plan (*

Arto Metsänen 0 - -
Mika Seitovirta, ceO - 19,740 19,740
Günter Befort 0 0 -
paolo ceni - 8,225 8,225
Ari Himma - 8,225 8,225
Kimmo Lautanen 9,690 9,690 8,225
Juha Liettyä 0 0 -
Timo Nieminen - 0 -
Henrik reims 0 0 -
Topi Saarenhovi 8,225 8,225 8,225
Manne Tiensuu 0 - -

Share ownership included also the ownership of Glaston corporation shares by the related parties of the person in question  
and entities controlled by the person in question. 

Board of directors, share ownership

31.12.2009 31.12.2008
Andreas Tallberg, chairman of the Board of directors 0 0
christer Sumelius, deputy chairman of the Board of directors 2,624,200 2,624,200
claus von Bonsdorff 122,600 122,600
Klaus cawén 6,000 6,000
carl-Johan rosenbröijer 12,600 12,600
Mikael Mäkinen (* - 0
Jan Lång (** 0 0

(*   Member of the Board of directors from 11 March, 2008 until 17 March, 2009
(**  Member of the Board of directors from 11 March, 2008 

Glaston shares

(* in accordance with the terms of the share-based incentive plan, the shares cannot be transferred for two years after receiving them.

ceO Arto Metsänen will receive 50,000 shares in Glaston when he has been employed by Glaston for one year. When he receives the 
shares, he will also receive cash to cover the income taxes and related payments arising from the shares. The shares cannot be trans-
ferred further within two years from the reward payment date (restriction period).
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pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

iNcoMe stateMeNt of the pareNt coMpaNy (fas)
eUr thousand

1 January - 31 december
Note 2009 2008

Net sales 2 4,200 632

Other operating income 3 664 441
personnel expenses 4 -4,227 -3,321
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 5 -2,424 -578
Other operating expenses 6 -3,704 -4,393

operating result -5,490 -7,219

Net financial items 7 -644 2,197

profit / loss  before extraordinary items -6,134 -5,022

extraordinary items 8 - 5,067

profit /loss before appropriations and taxes -6,134 45

Appropriations 9 125 -187
income taxes 10 1,431 295
profit / loss for the financial year -4,578 153
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BaLaNce sheet of the pareNt coMpaNy (fas)
eUr thousand

Note 2009 2008

assets

Non-current assets
intangible assets 11 4,681 4,815
Tangible assets 11 2,783 2,837
investments 12,13 81,803 81,806
total non-current assets 89,267 89,458

current assets
Non-current receivables 14 2,336 2,570
current receivables 14 83,106 58,918
cash and bank 1,946 2,283
total current assets 87,388 63,772
total assets 176,655 153,229

equity and liabilities

equity
Share capital 12,696 12,696
Share premium fund 25,270 25,270
reserve for invested unrestricted equity 209 177
Treasury shares -3,518 -3,487
retained earnings 55,520 59,279
profit / loss for the financial year -4,578 153
total equity 15 85,599 94,088

accumulated appropriations 16 189 315

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities 17 23,750 4,283
current liabilities 18 67,117 54,543
total liabilities 90,867 58,826
total equity and liabilities 176,655 153,229
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pareNt coMpaNy cash fLoW stateMeNt (fas)
eUr thousand

1 January - 31 december
2009 2008

cash flow from operating activities
profit / loss for the financial period -4,578 153
Adjustments:

depreciation, amortisation and impairment 2,424 578
financial income and expenses 644 -2,197
Other adjustments -1,548 5,208

cash flow from operating activities before change in net working capital -3,057 3,743

change in net working capital
change in current interest-free receivables -2,254 -311
change in current interest-free liabilities -608 124

cash flow from operating activities before financial items and taxes -5,919 3,556

interests paid and payments made for other financial items
interests paid and other financial expenses -2,218 -3,486
dividends received 2 1,003
interest received 5,795 3,328
income taxes paid 2,426 -1,928

cash flow from operating activities before extraordinary items 85 2,473
cash flow from extraordinary items 5,067 1,000
cash flow from operating activities 5,152 3,473

cash flow from investing activities
investments in tangible and intangible assets -2,245 -4,487
proceeds from disposal of tangible and intangible assets - 186
investments in subsidiaries -438 -438
received purchase price refund - 1,220
proceeds from sale of other investments 3 3

cash flow from investing activities -2,680 -3,516

cash flow from financing activities
drawn-down of non-current loans 23,750 6,425
repayments of non-current loans -6,425 0
change in current intra-group receivables -31,020 -15,626
change in current intra-group loans 3,463 -2,833
change in current loans 11,346 21,529
dividends paid -3,923 -7,836

cash flow from financing activities -2,809 1,658
change in cash and cash equivalents -337 1,615

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,283 668
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,946 2,283
change in cash and cash equivalents -337 1,615
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Glaston corporation is a public limited liability company organised 
under the laws of republic of finland and whose shares are 
publicly traded in NASdAq OMx Helsinki Oy in Mid cap. Glaston 
corporation is domiciled in Hämeenkyrö, finland and its regis-
tered office is Vehmaistenkatu 5, 33730 Tampere, finland. Glaston 
corporation is the parent of Glaston Group. 

The financial statements of Glaston corporation are prepared 
in accordance with finnish Accounting Standards (fAS). The 
consolidated financial statements of Glaston Group are prepared 
in accordance with international financial reporting Standards 
(ifrS), and Glaston corporation applies in its separate financial 
statements the same accounting principles as Glaston Group to 
the extent it is possible within the framework of finnish account-
ing practice. The accounting principles of Glaston Group are 
presented in the Notes to the consolidated financial Statements 
(Note 1).

The main differences in the accounting principles between 
Glaston corporations’s separate financial statements and Glaston 
Group’s consolidated financial statement are presented below.

peNsioN arraNGeMeNts
Glaston corporation has a pension arrangement, which is clas-
sified as a defined benefit plan in the ifrS financial statements. 
The obligation arising from this pension as well as the pension 
expense differ from the obligation and expense recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements.

fiNaNciaL assets aNd LiaBiLities aNd deriVatiVe iNstruMeNts 
financial assets and liabilities with the exception of derivative in-
struments are recorded at cost or at cost less impairment losses. 
fair value changes of derivatives are recognised in financial 

items. Valuation methods of derivatives are presented in the ac-
counting policies of Glaston Group.

fiNaNce LeasiNG
Lease payments are recognised as lease expenses. Leasing obli-
gations are presented as contingent liabilities.

extraordiNary iNcoMe aNd expeNses
The parent’s extraordinary income and expenses consist of group 
contributions received from and given to subsidiaries. 

uNtaxed reserVes
Untaxed reserves consist of a depreciation difference. This dif-
ference between scheduled depreciation and amortisation and 
the depreciation and amortisation deducted in arriving to taxable 
profit is presented as a separate item in the income statement 
and in the balance sheet. 

share-Based iNceNtiVe pLaN
The share-based incentive plan of Glaston corporation is a com-
bination of shares and a cash payment. Glaston has the option 
to settle the possible reward in cash in its entirety. The expenses 
arising from the incentive plan of 2007, which were related to the 
personnel of Glaston corporation, were recorded in full in profit or 
loss in the separate financial statements of Glaston corporation 
in 2008, when the shares were surrendered, though the earning 
period for the shares ends in early 2010.   

coNVertiBLe BoNd
in Glaston corporation’s separate financial statements the con-
vertible bond is accounted for entirely as a liablity.

Note 1
suMMary of siGNificaNt accouNtiNG poLicies

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand
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employees during financial year, average, management and administrative personnel 29 28

Note 5
depreciatioN, aMortisatioN aNd iMpairMeNt Losses

depreciation and amortisation according to plan
intangible assets

intangible rights 550 151
Other capitalised expenditure 208 54

Tangible assets
Buildings and structures 112 108
Machinery and equipment 355 266
Other tangible assets - 0

total depreciation and amortisation according to plan 1,224 578

impairment losses
impairment loss of intangible assets 1,200 -
total depreciation and amortisation according to plan and impairment losses 2,424 578

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand

Note 3
other operatiNG iNcoMe

charges from group companies 664 348
proceeds from sale of fixed assets - 92
other operating income, total 664 441

Note 4
persoNNeL expeNses

Salaries and fees 3,609 3,014
pension expenses 453 125
Other personnel expenses 165 182
total 4,227 3,321

Salaries and remuneration paid to members of the Board of directors and Managing director 1,124 863

The members of the Board of directors are covered by voluntary pension insurance accrued from  
board membership fees. This pension liability is covered. The value of the pension insurance corresponds  
to the finnish TyeL pension.

Note 2 2009 2008
Net saLes

Net sales by country by destination
finland 2,147 632
Other eMeA 1,967 0
Americas 64 0
Asia 22 0
total 4,200 632

eMeA = europe, the Middle east, Africa and india, pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka
Americas = North, central and South America
Asia = china and the rest of the Asia-pacific area
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Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand

Note 7
Net fiNaNciaL iteMs

dividend income
from group companies - 1,000
from external parties 2 3
dividend income, total 2 1,003

interest and other financial income
from group companies 4,265 4,333
from external parties 63 54
interest income and other financial income 4,328 4,387

interest and other financial income, total 4,329 5,390

interest expenses and other financial expenses
to group companies -2,487 -1,675
to external parties -2,486 -1,518
interest expenses and other financial expenses, total -4,973 -3,193

Net financial items, total -644 2,197

Other financial income and expenses include foreign exchange gains and losses (net) -272 344
 

Note 8
extraordiNary iNcoMe

extraordinary income
received group contributions - 5,067
extraordinary income, total - 5,067

Note 9
appropriatioNs

difference between depreciation and amortisation according to plan 
and depreciation and amortisation in taxation -125 187
total -125 187

Note 6
other operatiNG expeNses

2009 2008

Loss on sale of fixed assets 2 19
rents 427 301
information and communications technology expenses 882 509
Travel expenses 240 422
Other expenses 2,152 3,141
other operating expenses, total 3,704 4,393

fees paid to auditors
fees paid to principal auditors for audit 56 46
fees paid to principal auditors for other services 41 145
total 97 191
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Note 11
fixed assets

intangible assets
intangible

rights

other
capitalised

expenditure

advance payments 
and investments 

in progress total
Acquisition cost 1 January, 2009 1,890 746 2,876 5,513
Additions 186 352 1,494 2,031
disposals - - - -
reclassifications 1,748 - -1,956 -208
acquisition cost 31 december, 2009 3,824 1,098 2,414 7,336
Accumulated amortisations 1 January, 2009 -455 -243 - -698
Accumulated amortisations of disposals and transfers - - - -
Amortisation for the period -550 -208 - -758
impairment losses -360 - -840 -1,200
accumulated amortisations 31 december, 2009 -1,365 -450 -840 -2,655
carrying amount at 31 december, 2009 2,458 648 1,574 4,681
carrying amount at 31 december, 2008 1,435 504 2,876 4,815

tangible assets
Land and 

water areas Buildings
Machinery and 

equipment
other tangible 

assets total
Acquisition cost 1 January, 2009 1,033 1,598 1,465 26 4,122
Additions - - 214 - 214
disposals - - -17 - -17
reclassifications - 208 - - 208
acquisition cost 31 december, 2009 1,033 1,806 1,662 26 4,527
Accumulated depreciations 1 January, 2009 - -611 -648 -26 -1,285
Accumulated depreciations of disposals and transfers - - 8 - 8
depreciation for the period - -112 -355 - -467
accumulated depreciations 31 december, 2009 - -722 -995 -26 -1,744
carrying amount 31 december, 2009 1,033 1,084 667 - 2,783
carrying amount at 31 december, 2008 1,033 988 817 - 2,837

Note 12
iNVestMeNts

shares shares
Group companies others total

Acquisition cost 1 January, 2009 81,549 257 81,806
increase - - -
decrease - -3 -3
Acquisition cost 31 december, 2009 81,549 254 81,803
carrying amount at 31 december, 2009 81,549 254 81,803
carrying amount at 31 december, 2008 81,549 257 81,806

Note 10
iNcoMe taxes

2009 2008

income taxes for extraordinary items - 1,317
income taxes for operations -117 -1,967
change in deferred tax assets 1,548 355
total 1,431 -295

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand
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Note 13
shares aNd hoLdiNGs oWNed By the pareNt

subsidiary shares ownership % Number of shares Nominal value carrying amount
Uniglass engineering Oy, Tampere, finland 100.0% 20,000 400 6,351
Glaston Services Ltd. Oy, Tampere, finland 100.0% 1,800,000 3,600 54,753
Albat+Wirsam Software AG, Linden, Germany 100.0% 1,500,000 20,445
total 81,549

other
Kiinteistö Oy Torikyrö, finland 63.4% 804 68 240
Other shares and holdings 14
total 254

Note 14 2009 2008
receiVaBLes

Non-current receivables

receivables from external parties
deferred tax assets 2,336 761

receivables from group companies
Loan receivables - 2,570
Non-current receivables, total 2,336 3,331

current receivables

receivables from external parties
Trade receivables - 3
prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,470 3,339
Total 1,470 3,342

receivables from group companies
Trade receivables 1,805 1,298
Loan receivables 78,322 44,982
Other receivables 1,203 -

prepaid expenses and accrued income 307 8,536
Total 81,637 54,816
current receivables, total 83,106 58,157

prepaid expenses and accrued income
personnel expenses 67 155
interest income 273 3,300
income taxes - 2,570
indirect taxes 33 168
financial items 1,213 -
Group contribution - 5,067
prepaid insurances 65 -
Other 124 615
prepaid expenses and accrued income, total 1,777 11,875

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand
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Note 15
equity 2009 2008

Share capital 1 January 12,696 12,696
Share capital 31 december 12,696 12,696

Share premium fund 1 January 25,270 25,270
Share premium fund 31 december 25,270 25,270

reserve for invested unrestricted equity 1 January 177 269
Loss on disposal of treasury shares / gain on disposal of treasury shares and  
return of treasury share 32 -92
reserve for invested unrestricted equity 31 december 209 177

Treasury shares 1.1 -3,487 -3,933
return / disposal of treasury shares (** -32 447
Treasury shares 31.1 -3,518 -3,487

retained earnings 1 January 59,432 67,111
dividends -3,927 -7,844
dividends not drawn 15 11
retained earnings 31 december 55,520 59,279

profit / loss for the financial year -4,578 153

equity at 31 december 85,599 94,088

distributable funds at 31 december

reserve for invested unrestricted equity (* 209 177
Treasury shares -3,518 -3,487
retained earnings 55,520 59,279
profit / loss for the financial year -4,578 153
distributable funds 47,633 56,123

(**   Shares acquired for the share bonus scheme. Share acquisition and scheme management have been outsourced to an external service 
provider. The shares are the property of the external party until the shares are transferred to key individual within the framework of the bonus 
scheme. irrespective of the legal form of the procedure, it has been treated in the financial statement as if Glaston would have acquired its 
own shares.

(*     reserve for invested unrestricted equity can not be distributed as dividends.

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand
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Note 16 
accuMuLated appropriatioNs

2009 2008

Accumulated depreciation difference 1 January 315 128
increase (+) / decrease (-) -125 187
accumulated depreciation difference 31 december 189 315

Note 17
NoN-curreNt LiaBiLities

convertible bond 23,750 -
pension loans - 4,283
Non-current liabilities, total 23,750 4,283

Note 18 
curreNt LiaBiLities

Liabilities to external parties
Loans from financial institutions 45,365 34,000
pension loans - 2,142
Trade payables 235 409
Other liabilities 128 159
Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,735 1,623
Liabilities to external parties, total 47,463 38,333

Liabilities to group companies
Trade payables 86 37
Other liabilities 19,513 16,050
Accrued expenses and deferred income 56 122
Liabilities to group companies, total 19,654 16,210
current liabilities, total 67,117 54,543

accrued expenses and deferred income
Salary and other personnel expense accruals 564 403
interests 1,049 99
Other 177 1,243
accrued expenses and deferred income, total 1,790 1,746

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand
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Note 19 
coNtiNGeNt LiaBiLities

2009 2008

Leasing liabilities
Maturity within one year 116 104
Maturity later than one year 105 132
total 221 236

The leasing agreements have normal terms.

other rental liabilities
Maturity within one year 228 228
Maturity later than one year 380 608
total 608 836

pledges

On behalf of group companies 6,028 14,580

Loans secured with mortgages 
Loans from financial institutions 41,865 -
Mortgages given 4,000 -

Loans from financial institutions 41,865 -

carrying amount of pledged securities 54,753 -

Note 20
deriVatiVe iNstruMeNts

2009 2008
currency derivatives Nominal value fair value Nominal value fair value

forward contracts 1,584 -31 1,741 42

intra-group currency derivatives
forward contracts 1,584 31 1,741 -42

Notes to the pareNt coMpaNy fiNaNciaL stateMeNts (fas)
eUr thousand
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The distributable funds of Glaston corporation, the parent of Glaston Group, are eUr 47,632,812 of which eUr 4,577,977 represents the 
net loss for the financial year. The Board of directors proposes to the Annual General meeting that no dividend will be distributed from 
the net loss for the year and from retained earnings. eUr 47,632,812 will be left in distributable funds. 

Board of director’s ProPosal for the distriBution of Profits

Andreas Tallberg 
chairman of the Board

claus von Bonsdorff

carl-Johan rosenbröijer

Arto Metsänen
ceO

christer Sumelius
deputy chairman of the Board

Klaus cawén

Jan Lång

helsinki, 10 february, 2010
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to the aNNuaL GeNeraL MeetiNG of 
GLastoN corporatioN
We have audited the accounting records, 
the financial statements, the report of the 
Board of directors, and the administration 
of Glaston corporation for the year ended 
on 31 december, 2009. The financial state-
ments comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position, consolidated 
income statement, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity, consolidated statement 
of cash flows and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, as well as the parent 
company’s balance sheet, income state-
ment, cash flow statement and notes to 
the financial statements.

the respoNsiBiLity of the Board of direc-
tors aNd the MaNaGiNG director
The Board of directors and the Managing 
director are responsible for the prepara-
tion of the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of directors and for 
the fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with 
international financial reporting Stand-
ards (ifrS) as adopted by the eU, as well 
as for the fair presentation of the parent 
company’s financial statements and the 
report of the Board of directors in accord-
ance with laws and regulations governing 
the preparation of the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of directors in 
finland. The Board of directors is respon-
sible for the appropriate arrangement of 
the control of the company’s accounts and 
finances, and the Managing director shall 
see to it that the accounts of the company 
are in compliance with the law and that its 
financial affairs have been arranged in a 
reliable manner.

auditor’s respoNsiBiLity
Our responsibility is to perform an audit in 
accordance with good auditing practice in 
finland, and to express an opinion on the 
parent company’s financial statements, on 
the consolidated financial statements and 
on the report of the Board of directors based 
on our audit. Good auditing practice requires 
that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of di-
rectors are free from material misstatement 
and whether the members of the Board of 
directors of the parent company and the 
Managing director have complied with the 

Limited Liability companies Act.
An audit involves performing procedures 

to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of directors. 
The procedures selected depend on the au-
ditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements or of the report of the 
Board of directors, whether due to fraud or 
error. in making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control rele-
vant to the entity’s preparation and fair pres-
entation of the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of directors in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of directors.

The audit was performed in accordance 
with good auditing practice in finland. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opiNioN oN the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL 
stateMeNts
in our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position, financial performance, 
and cash flows of the group in accordance 
with international financial reporting 
Standards (ifrS) as adopted by the eU.

opiNioN oN the coMpaNy’s fiNaNciaL state-
MeNts aNd the report of the Board of 
directors
in our opinion, the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of directors 
give a true and fair view of both the con-
solidated and the parent company’s finan-
cial performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of 
directors in finland. The information in the 
report of the Board of directors is consist-
ent with the information in the financial 
statements.
 
Helsinki 10 february, 2010
KpMG Oy Ab
Sixten Nyman
Authorised public Accountant

auditor’s report






